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IMPORTANT INFORMATION REGARDING FORWARD-LOOKING STA TEMENTS

All statements other than statements of histofaets included in this Form 10-K of Greif Bros. @oration and subsidiaries (the
“Company”) or incorporated herein, including, withdimitation, statements regarding the Companytsre financial position, business
strategy, budgets, projected costs, goals and plath®bjectives of management for future operatiareforward-looking statements within
the meaning of the Private Securities LitigatiorfidrR@ Act of 1995. Forward-looking statements geligi@an be identified by the use of
forward-looking terminology such as “may,” “will;’expect,” “intend,” “estimate,” “anticipate,” “prejct,” “believe” or “continue” or the
negative thereof or variations thereon or simianinology. Forward-looking statements speak osljhe date the statements were made.
Although the Company believes that the expectatiefiscted in forward-looking statements have aoeable basis, it can give no assurance
that these expectations will prove to be correctward-looking statements are subject to riskswarzkrtainties that could cause actual events
or results to differ materially from those exprabsgeor implied by the statements. For a discussiathe most significant risks and
uncertainties that could cause the Company’s actsalts to differ materially from those projectsde Item 7—Forwarteoking Statement
Certain Factors Affecting Future Results. Excepghtlimited extent required by applicable law, @@mpany undertakes no obligation to
update or revise any forward-looking statementstihwr as a result of new information, future evenmtotherwise.

PART |

Iltem 1. Business

(@) General Development of Business

General

The Company is a leading global producer of indalsshipping containers with manufacturing faodgilocated in over 40
countries. The Company offers a comprehensivedfnedustrial shipping container products, suclsteel, fibre and plastic drums,
intermediate bulk containers, closure systemsidustrial shipping containers, and polycarbonatemaottles, which are
complemented with a variety of value-added servitee Company’s global presence and full rangerodipcts uniquely position it to
offer its customers a single source for their pgok@needs and to be responsive to global marlaigds. The Company also produces
containerboard and value-added corrugated prodlictsche markets in the United States and Canblda.Company owns timberland
in the southeastern United States and Canada \ttdats and sells to third parties, as well as ngasao maximize longerm value. Th
Company'’s customers range from Fortune 500 compdaimedium and small-sized companies in a crag®seof industries.
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Item 1. Businesgcontinued)

The Company'’s history goes back to 1877 when gsl@ressor manufactured wooden barrels, casks gsddéansport post-
Civil War U.S. goods nationally and internationalljne Company was incorporated as a Delaware catiparin 1926.

Recent Acquisitions and Joint Ventures

Van Leer Industrial Packaging In March 2001, the Company acquired Royal Bgiilg Industries Van Leer N.V., a Dutch
company, Huhtamaki Holdings do Brasil Ltda., a Braa company, Van Leer France Holding S.A.S., arfeh company, Van Leer
Containers, Inc., a U.S. company, and Americandgéata Manufacturing Co., Inc., a U.S. company, whéch collectively referred to as
“Van Leer Industrial Packaging.” The Company acedi¥an Leer Industrial Packaging for $555.0 millleas the amount of certain of
its debt and other obligations ($206.4 million)ttheere assumed by the Company as of the closiregy ¥ain Leer Industrial Packaging
was a worldwide provider of industrial packagingl @emponents, including steel, fibre and plastios, polycarbonate water bottles,
IBCs and closure systems for industrial shippingtamers.

In connection with the Van Leer Industrial Packagitquisition, the Company acquired a 25% intéreSbcer-Embalagens, Lda.
and a 40.06% interest in Balmer Lawrie-Van Leecesdéembalagens reconditions used drums at itstfagil Portugal and resells them
to customers. Balmer Lawrie-Van Leer manufactutesure systems for industrial shipping containgiigsawo facilities in India.

Great Lakes and Trend Pak In April 1999, the Company purchased Greatdsakorrugated Corp. (“Great Lakes”) and Trend
Pak, Inc. (“Trend Pak”) for $20.8 million. Greatkes manufactures corrugated containers in Toleti®.Qrend Pak adds foam and
other packaging materials to corrugated contaimensufactured by Great Lakes.

Intermediate Bulk Container Business In January 1999, the Company purchased tletsassnstituting the IBC business of
Sonoco Products Company (“Sonoco”) for $38.0 millidhis business included one location in Lavo@Giaorgia.

CorrChoice Joint Venture In November 1998, the Company entered intuirg yenture agreement to form CorrChoice, Inc.
(“CorrChoice”) with the then two shareholders of RBoldings Inc. (“RDJ"), which owned one-half oktbutstanding stock of Ohio
Packaging Corporation (“OPC”), and the then miryoshareholder (the “Minority Shareholder”) of a sidiary of OPC. CorrChoice
manufactures corrugated sheets at seven locatidBsadrgia, Kentucky, Michigan, North Carolina ankid® The Company sells
containerboard to CorrChoice, which it uses to poedcorrugated sheets, and the Company purchasegai@d sheets from
CorrChoice, with all transactions effected at piavg market prices. Under the terms of the joiahture agreement, the Company
contributed to CorrChoice all of its



Item 1. Businesgcontinued)

(b)

(©

stock of Michigan Packaging Company and OPC in argk for 63.24% of the outstanding stock of Cori€hdn addition, under the
terms of that joint venture agreement, the twoethalders of RDJ contributed all of their stock @JRand the Minority Shareholder
contributed his stock in the subsidiary of OPCxalenge for an aggregate 36.76% of the outstarstoak of CorrChoice. In
connection with the joint venture agreement, thenGany entered into a voting agreement under whicarn elect one-half of
CorrChoice’s board of directors, and therefore,Gloenpany does not control CorrChoice. CorrChoicelie®en, and is expected to
continue to be, self-supporting. Under certainuwinstances, the Company may purchase, or be redquimdchase, the other parties’
interest in CorrChoice, or the Company may be meguio sell its interest to the other parties, ptiee determined in the manner
described in the relevant agreement.

The joint venture agreement and related agreencentsin certain covenants and restrictions on itebiasiness activities. These
restrictions have not affected the Company’s bissireg operations in any material respect and hat/pnevented the Company from
pursuing any business opportunities that it degivgulrsue.

Industrial Containers Business. In March 1998, the Company acquired the indaistontainers business of Sonoco by
purchasing all of the outstanding shares of KMI @@mntal Fibre Drum, Inc., a Delaware corporatit®dMI”), Sonoco Plastic Drum,
Inc., an lllinois corporation (“SPD”), GBC Holdingo., a Delaware corporation (“GBC Holding”) and feifambor, S.A. de C.V., a
Mexican corporation (“Fibro Tambor"and the membership interest of Sonoco in Total &giclg Systems of Georgia, LLC, a Delaw
limited liability company (“TPS"), for $182.9 mitn. KMI, SPD, GBC Holding, Fibro Tambor, TPS anditlrespective subsidiaries
were in the business of manufacturing and selliagtic and fibre drums principally in the Unitecaf&s and Mexico and refurbishing
and reconditioning plastic drums principally in teited States and Mexico.

Financial Information about Segments

The Company operates in three business segmedtsstiial Packaging & Services (formerly Indust&dipping Containers);
Paper, Packaging & Services (formerly Containertb@aCorrugated Products); and Timber. Informatietated to each of these
segments is included in Note 14 to the Consolidktadncial Statements on pages 77-80 of this FdrK, which Note is part of the
consolidated financial statements contained in Bewf this Form 10-K, and which is incorporateddieiby reference.

Narrative Description of Business
Products and Services

In the Industrial Packaging & Services segmentQbmpany offers a comprehensive line of indussiabping container produc
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Item 1. Businesgcontinued)

such as steel, fibre and plastic drums, intermediatk containers (“IBCs”), closure systems foruattial shipping containers, and
polycarbonate water bottles. The Company sellsé@sstrial shipping container products to custonetisdustries such as chemicals,
paints and pigments, food and beverage, petroledustrial coatings, agricultural, pharmaceutigad anineral, among others.

In the Paper, Packaging & Services segment, thep@aynsells containerboard, corrugated sheets dnadt corrugated products
and multiwall bags to customers in North Americanidustries such as packaging, automotive, foodbarilding products. The
Company'’s corrugated container products are ussHiposuch diverse products as home applianced), sraehinery, grocery products,
building products, automotive components, booksfamiture, as well as numerous other applicatidime Company'’s full line of
industrial and consumer multiwall bag productsssdito ship a wide range of industrial and consymedtucts, such as fertilizers,
chemicals, concrete, flour, sugar, feed, seedfopels, popcorn, charcoal and salt, primarily far #gricultural, chemical, building
products and food industries.

The Company also provides its customers with eetyaof value-added packaging services to compleliteitdustrial containers
and corrugated products, such as total supply aghaimagement services (including warehousing, ontglmgistics, inventory
management, vendor management, on-site labor maneagend contract filling), as well as research denelopment, engineering and
design and testing services.

In the Timber segment, the Company is focused eratiive harvesting and regeneration of its tingveperties to achieve
sustainable long-term yields on its timberland. MWkimber sales are subject to fluctuations, then@any seeks to maintain a consistent
cutting schedule, within the limits of market andather conditions. As of October 31, 2002, the Caamyppwned approximately
276,000 acres of timberland in the southeastertedr8tates and approximately 40,000 acres of tilabein Canada.

Customers

Due to the variety of its products, the Companyrhasy customers buying different types of its pid@and, due to the scope of
the Company’s sales, no one customer is consigenedpal in the total operation of the Company.

Backlog

The business of the Company is not seasonal teignyficant extent. Because the Company suppl@®ess section of industries,
such as chemicals, food products, petroleum predptiarmaceuticals and metal products, and muse syadt deliveries on a day-to-
day basis as its products are required by its mumts, the Company does not operate on a backlagytsignificant extent and mainta
only



Item 1. Businesgcontinued)
limited levels of finished goods. Many customeracgl their orders weekly for delivery during the tee
Competition

The markets in which the Company sells its prodaotshighly competitive and comprised of many pgints. Although no
single company dominates, the Company faces sigmificompetitors in each of its businesses. Thepgaoyis competitors include
large vertically integrated companies as well an@tous smaller companies. The industries in whiehGompany competes are
particularly sensitive to price fluctuations causgdshifts in industry capacity and other cyclicadustry conditions. Other competitive
factors include design, quality and service, witining emphasis depending on product line.

In the industrial shipping containers industry, @@mpany competes by offering a comprehensivedir@oducts on a global
basis. In the paper, packaging and services indubie Company competes by concentrating on progigtalue-added, higher-margin
corrugated products to niche markets. In additimer the past several years the Company has clogkdr cost facilities and otherwise
restructured its operations, which it believes $igaificantly improved its cost competitiveness.

Environmental Matters; Governmental Regulations

The Company'’s operations are subject to extensigeril, state, local and foreign laws, regulationies and ordinances relating
to pollution, the protection of the environmeng tieneration, storage, handling, transportati@attnent, disposal and remediation of
hazardous substances and waste materials and rusvaher environmental laws and regulations. Irottsinary course of business,
Company is subject to periodic environmental inipes and monitoring by governmental enforcemethauities. In addition, the
Company’s production facilities require environnmednermits that are subject to revocation, modifaraand renewal.

Based on current information, the Company beli¢gkiasthe probable costs of the remediation of conggawvned property and
response costs under the Comprehensive Environhieesponse, Compensation and Liability Acts of 1886 similar state laws will
not have a material adverse effect on its finarmaldition or results of operations. The Compariieles that its liability for these
matters was adequately reserved as of OctobelOBP, 2

The Company does not believe that compliance weitiefal, state, local and foreign provisions whiakiehbeen enacted or adog.
regulating the discharge of materials into the emurent, or otherwise relating to the protectiothaf environment, has had or will he
a material effect upon the capital expendituresjiags, or competitive position of the Company. Td@mpany does not anticipate any
material capital expenditures for environmentaltoarfacilities for its 2002 fiscal year.
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Item 1. Businesgconcluded)

(d)

Raw Materials

Steel, resin and paper are the principal raw rmadtefor the Industrial Packaging & Services segmamd pulpwood, waste paper
for recycling, and paper are the principal raw miale for the Paper, Packaging & Services segniédrg.Company satisfies virtually all
of its needs for these raw materials through pwseba@n the open market or under short-term sugpgeanents. All of these raw
materials are purchased in highly competitive,gsensitive markets, which have historically exeithiprice and demand cyclicality.
From time to time, some of these raw materials Hmen in short supply, but to date these shortages not had a significant effect on
the Company’s operations.

Research and Development

While research and development projects are impbttethe Companyg continued growth, the amount expended in any igaaw
material in relation to the results of operatiohthe Company.

The Company’s business is not materially dependpon patents, trademarks, licenses or franchises.
Employees

As of October 31, 2002, the Company had approxipm&800 employees. A majority of the Company’s thokmerican
employees are represented by collective bargaumitg. The Company believes that its employeeiggiatare generally good.

Financial Information about Geographic Areas

The Companys operations are primarily located in North Ameri€arope and various other regions. Informatioatesl to each «
these areas is included in Note 14 to the CongelidBinancial Statements, on pages 78-80 of thisiA®-K, which Note is part of the
consolidated financial statements contained in Bewfi this Form 1K, and which Note is incorporated herein by refeeerQuantitativ
and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk,udeld in Item 7A of this Form 10-K, is incorporatestein by reference.
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ltem 2. Properties

The following are the Company’s principal locatiarsl the products manufactured at such facilittebh@® use of such facilities. The
Company considers its operating properties to Imaiisfactory condition and adequate to meet #sgmt needs. However, the Company
expects to make further additions, improvementscamsolidations of its properties as the Compahysiness continues to expand.

Location

INDUSTRIAL PACKAGING & SERVICES:
Argentina:

San Juat

San Fernando del Val

Tigre

Australia:
Altona North

Brisbane
Eagle Farm (1
Marayong
Penrith (2)
Perth

Seven Hills

Belgium:
Lier (22)

Brazil:
Aratu
Araucaria
Esteio
Manaus (3
Rio de Janeirt
Sao Paulc

Canada

Alberta:
Lloydminster

Ontario:
Belleville
Milton
Oakville
Stoney Creel
Stoney Creel
Stoney Creel

Quebec
La Salle
Maple Grove

Products Manufactured

Plastic drum:
Steel drum:
Steel drums, plastic drums and ot

Steel drums, plastic drums, intermediate
bulk containers and oth

Steel drums and oth

Life cycle service!

Plastic drums and oth

Closures

Steel drums, plastic drums and ot

Steel drums and oth

Steel drums, plastic drums and ot

Steel drums

Closures

Steel drum:

Plastic drum:

Steel drum:

Steel drums, plastic drums and ot

Fibre drums, steel drums and plastic drt

Plastic drum:
Fibre drums
Steel drum:
Fibre drum part:
Steel drums
Fibre drum part:

Fibre drums
Wooden pallet:



Item 2.  Properties(continued)

Location

Chile:
Santiagc

China:
Ningbo
Liu Jia Gang Towt

Columbia:
Bogota (4)
Cartagen:

Costa Rica
San José (£

Czech Republic
Usi nad Laben

Denmark:
Roskilde

Egypt: _
Sadat City

France:
Autheuil Authouilet (38
Gare de Corréz
Le Gran«-Quevilly Cedex (6
Le Grand-Quevilly Cedex (12)

Germany:
Attendorn
Haan (7)
Hambur-Freihafen (8
KoéIn-Lévenich
Monzingen

Greece
Mandre-Attikis

Guatemala
Amatitlan

Hungary:
Almasfisitd

Italy:
Melzo
Salzanc

Products Manufactured

Steel drum:

Steel drums
Steel drums

Steel drums, plastic drums and ot
Steel drums and plastic drut

Steel drum:
Steel drums
Fibre drums

Steel drum:

Fibre drums, plastic drums and distribution ce

Distribution Cente
Other

Steel drums, intermediate bulk containers,

closures and distribution cen

Steel drum:

Closures distribution cent

Steel drums

Fibre drums, steel drums and ot
Plastic drum:

Steel drum:

Steel drum:

Steel drums

Fibre drums, steel drums and plastic drt

Steel drum:



Item 2.  Properties(continued)

Location

Jamaica
Kingston

Kenya:
Mombasa (9

Malaysia:
Petaling Jay:

Mexico:
Cuernavaci
Naucalpan de Juar:

Morocco:
Casablanc

Mozambique
Maputo (38)

Netherlands
Amstelveer
Amsterdarr
Europoort (10
Vreeland

New Zealand
Auckland (38)

Nigeria:
Kaduna
Koko
Lagos (11,

Philippines:
Rizal (14)

Poland:
Rybnik

Portugal:
Pévoa de Santa Ir

Russia:
Beloyarsk (14
Moscow
Volgograd

Singapore
Singapore
Singapore (15

Products Manufactured

Distribution cente

Steel drums, plastic drums and ot

Steel drums, plastic drums and ot

Steel drums, fibre drun
Plastic drum:

Steel drums and plastic bottl

Steel drums, plastic bottles and ot

General office

Closures

Steel drums and research cel
Fibre drums, steel drums and ot

Intermediate bulk containe

Steel drum:
Steel drum:
Steel drums, plastic drums and ot

Steel drums, plastic drun

Steel drums and oth

Steel drum:

Steel drum:
Other
Steel drum:

Steel drum:
Distribution cente



Item 2.  Properties(continued)

Location Products Manufactured

South Africa:

Eppingdus Steel drum:
Ladysmith Plastic drum:
Mobeni Steel drums, closures and ot
Port Elizabeth (38 Distribution cente
Vanderbijlpark Steel drums and oth
Spain:
Reus (Tarragone Steel drums, distribution center and ot
Sweden
Perstorg Fibre drums and warehou
Vasterhaninge (1€ Steel drum:
Turkey:
Kocaeli Steel drums and oth

United Kingdom:

Burtor-on-Trent Steel drums and oth

Deeside (17 Closures and othe

Ellesmere Por Steel drum:

Ellesmere Por Fibre drums, plastic drums and otl

Hull Steel drum:

Kingstor-Upor-Hull (38) Plastic drum:
Uruguay:

Las Piedras (1€ Steel drums and plastic drut
Venezuela

Punto Fijo Steel drum:

Valencia Steel drums, plastic drums and ot
Zimbabwe:

Harare Steel drums, plastic drums and ot

United States

Alabama:
Creola (39 Fibre drums
Arkansas
Batesville (38 Fibre drums
California:
Fontana (39 Steel drum:
La Palma (39 Fibre drums
Merced (39 Steel drum:
Morgan Hill (39) Fibre drums
Ontario (13) Distribution cente
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Item 2.  Properties(continued)

Location

Colorado:
Denver (19

Connecticut
Windsor Locks (20

Georgia:
Lawrenceville (39
Lavonia (39)
Lithonia (39)

lllinois:
Alsip (39)
Bradley (21)
Bradley (38)
Carol Stream (3¢
Lockport (39)
Lombard (23]
Naperville (24)

Kansas
Kansas City (25
Winfield

Kentucky:
Florence (39
Mount Sterling (39

Massachusett:
Mansfield

Michigan:
Midland (26)
Taylor

Minnesota:
Minneapolis

Mississippi:
Canton (38

Missouri:
Wright City (27)

New Jersey
Englishtown (28
Spotswooc
Teterborc

12

Products Manufactured

Distribution cente

Fibre drums

Intermediate bulk containe
Intermediate bulk containe
Fibre drums and laminat

Steel drum:
Plastic drum:
Other

Closures
Plastic drum:
Research centt
Fibre drums

Fibre drums
Steel drums

Steel drums
Plastic drum:

Fibre drums and plastic drur

Distribution cente
Fibre drums

Fibre drums

Steel drum:

Fibre drums

Fibre drums
Fibre drums
Fibre drums



Item 2.  Properties(continued)

Location Products Manufactured
New York:
Tonawanda (39 Fibre drums

North Carolina

Bladenborc Steel drum:
Charlotte (29 Fibre drums
Ohio:
Greenville (39 Steel drum:
Van Wert (39) Fibre drums
Pennsylvania
Aston (39) Fibre drums
Stroudsburg Steel part:
Warminster (32 Steel drum:
West Hazleton (31 Plastic drum:
Tennessee
Kingsport Fibre drums
Texas:
Haltom City (39) Fibre drums
Houston (33)(39 Fibre drums
Houston (34)(39 Plastic drum:
La Porte (39 Steel drum:
La Porte (39 Steel drum:
West Virginia:
Culloden (35; Fibre drums
PAPER, PACKAGING & SERVICES
United States
California:
Stockton (39 Corrugated honeycon
Georgia:
Macon Corrugated honeycon
lllinois:
Centralia (39 Corrugated containers and she
Oreanc Corrugated containe
Poser Corrugated honeycon
Quincy (38) Distribution cente
Indiana:
Ferdinand (38 Corrugated containe
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Item 2.  Properties(continued)

Location

Kentucky:
Louisville (39)
Winchestel
Winchester (38

Michigan:
Canton
Roseville (39

Minnesota:
Rosemount (39

Nebraska
Omaha (39

Ohio:
Fostoria (39
Massillon (39)
Tiffin
Toledo (30)
Toledo (39)
Zanesville (39
Zanesville (39

Pennsylvania
Reno (37,
Hazelton
Washington (39
Washington (38

Texas:
Waco
Waco (38)

Virginia:
Riverville (39)

Washington
Woodland

West Virginia:
Huntington
Huntington (38

TIMBER:
United States
Alabama:
Evergreer

Products Manufactured

Corrugated containe
Corrugated containe
Distribution cente

Distribution cente
Corrugated containe

Multiwall bags

Multiwall bags

Corrugated containe
Containerboar:

Corrugated containe
Corrugated containe
Corrugated containe
Corrugated containers and she
Distribution cente

Corrugated containe
Corrugated honeycon
Corrugated containers and she
Distribution cente

Corrugated honeycon
Distribution cente

Containerboari

Corrugated honeycomb and distribution ce

Corrugated containers and she
Distribution cente

Distribution cente



Item 2.  Properties(continued)

Location Products Manufactured
Mississippi:
Flowood Other
Vicksburg Distribution cente
CORPORATE:!
United States
Ohio:
Delaware (39 Principal office
Delaware (36 North America office

Note: All properties are held in fee except ated below

Exceptions:
(1) Lease expires January 18, 2(
(2) Lease expires May 11, 20!
(3) Lease expires July 31, 20
(4) Lease expires December 31, 2(
(5) Lease expires January 9, 2(
(6) Lease expires November 1, 2C
(7) Lease expires February 28, 2(
(8) Lease expires December 31, 2(
(9) Lease expires December 31, 2(
(10) Lease expires September 30, 2!
(11) Lease expires February 21, 2(
(12) Lease expires October 14, 2C
(13) Lease expires August 31, 20
(14) Lease expires September 1, 2(
(15) Lease expires July 31, 20
(16) Lease expires December 31, 2(
(17) Lease expires March 31, 20
(18) Lease expires May 31, 20!
(19) Lease expires December 15, 2(
(20) Lease expires December 31, 2(
(21) Lease expires March 31, 20
(22) Lease expires October 31, 2C
(23) Lease expires July 31, 20
(24) Lease expires June 30, 2C
(25) Lease expires March 31, 20
(26) Lease expires June 30, 2C
(27) Lease expires August 31, 20
(28) Lease expires February 28, 2(
(29) Lease expires September 30, 2
(30) Lease expires August 31, 20
(31) Lease expires April 30, 20(
(32) Lease expires January 1, 2(
(33) Lease expires December 31, 2(
(34) Lease expires September 30, 2!
(35) Lease expires January 31, 2(
(36) Lease expires October 31, 2C
(37) Lease expires December 31, 2(
(38) Lease operates month to mo
(39) A firstlien on this property secures payment & @ompany’s obligations under its $550 million Arded and Restated Senior Secured
Credit Agreement (see Item— Borrowing Arrangements
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Item 2.  Properties(concluded)

The Company also owns in fee a substantial numb&rattered timber tracts comprising approxima®3g,000 acres in the states of
Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Louisiana and Missggsgmd approximately 40,000 acres in the provirafeé@ntario and Quebec in Canada.

Iltem 3. Legal Proceedings

The Company has no pending material legal procgedin

From time to time, various legal proceedings agistederal, state, local or foreign levels invotyenvironmental sites to which the
Company has shipped, directly or indirectly, snaatiounts of toxic waste, such as paint solvents,Téte Company, to date, has been
classified as a “de minimis” participant and, ashsinas not been subject, in any instance, to issnscof $100,000 or more.

In addition, from time to time, but less frequentlye Company has been cited for violations of emrmental regulations. None of these
violations involve or are expected to involve samt of $100,000 or more.

ltem 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of Security Hders

There were no matters submitted to a vote of sgchiolders during the fourth quarter of the fisgahr covered by this report.

Executive Officers of the Company

The following information relates to executive offrs of the Company (elected annually):

Year first became
Name Age Positions and offices executive officer

Michael J. Gasser 51 Chairman of the Board of Directors and Chief 1988
Executive Officer, Chairman of the Executive and
Stock Repurchase Committees and member of the
Nominating Committe:

William B. Sparks, Jr. 61 Director, President and Chief Operating Officer, 1995
member of the Executive Committ

Donald S. Hum 56 Chief Financial Office 2002
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Executive Officers of the Company (continued)

Name

Maureen A. Conle'
John S. Lilak

Michael L. Roane

Gary R. Martz
Michael J. Barille
John K. Dieke
Sharon R. Maxwel
Robert A. Younc

Robert S. Zimmerma

Senior Vice President, New Business Developr

Executive Vice President, Paper, Packaging & Sesyic
and President of Soterra LLC (subsidiary comp:

Senior Vice President, Human Resources &

Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr
Vice President, Business Information Servi

Vice President and Corporate Contro

Age Positions and offices
44
55
47

Communication:

44
52
39
53 Assistant Secretal
48 Vice President, Taxe
31 Assistant Treasure

Executive Officers and Certain Significant Employes of the Company

Except as indicated below, each person has semMeid br her present capacity for at least fivergea

Year first became
executive officer

2000
1999

1998

2002
2002
1996
1997
2002
2001

Mr. Donald S. Huml was elected Chief Financial ©¢fiin 2002. Prior to that time, and for more tfiga years, he served as Senior
Vice President, Finance, and Chief Financial OfficeSnap-On Incorporated, a global developer, rfenturer and marketer of tools and

equipment.

Ms. Maureen A. Conley was elected Senior Vice Emdi New Business Development, in 2000. Prioh&d time, she served as a
senior management consultant for IBM Global Servioe almost three years. During 1998, she wasdireof Corporate Development for
BioCrystal Limited. Prior to that time, and for neathan five years, she served as Director of Adstiative Services for the City of

Columbus, Ohio.
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Executive Officers and Certain Significant Employes of the Company (concluded)

Mr. John S. Lilak was elected President of Soteli@ (subsidiary company)in 2002 and Executive Vigesident, Paper, Packaging &
Services, during 1999. During 1997 to 1999, Mrakikerved as General Sales and Marketing Managaft, Raper and Board Division, for
Union Camp Corporation. Prior to that time, andrfmre than five years, he served as Group Genesabljer, Container Division, of Union
Camp.

Mr. Michael L. Roane was elected Senior Vice PmsidHuman Resources, in 1998. Prior to that teme, for more than five years, N
Roane served as Vice President, Human Resourecedwfens and Minor, Inc.

Mr. Gary R. Martz was elected Senior Vice Presidémneral Counsel and Secretary in 2002. Pridnabttme, and for more than five
years, he served as a partner in the law firm é&eB& Hostetler LLP

Mr. Michael J. Barilla was elected Vice Presiddusiness Information Services, during 1999. In 2002 Barilla was elected as an
executive officer of the Company. During 1997 t®39Mr. Barilla served as a Senior Consultant RiviICorporation. Prior to 1997, and for
more than five years, he served as Chief Fina@ffiter of Medex, Inc.

Mr. Robert A. Young was elected Vice President,é&auring 2002. During 1999 to 2001, Mr. Young edras the Director of Taxes.
Prior to that time, and for more than five yeaeswas the Tax Manager of Consolidated Papers, Inc.

Mr. Robert S. Zimmerman was elected Assistant Tnegigluring 2001. From 1999 until joining the Comypahe served as Treasury
Manager at Mettler-Toledo International, Inc. Fr@897 to 1998, he was a Risk Advisor at Bank Onier s 1997, and for more than five
years, Mr. Zimmerman served as a Portfolio Anadysthase Manhattan Mortgage Corporat
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PART Il

Iltem 5. Market for the Registrant' s Common Stock and Related Security Holder Matters

The Class A and Class B Common Stock are tradetieoNew York Stock Exchange under the symbols GiEFG@EF.B, respectively.

Financial information regarding the Company’s tvimsses of common stock, as well as the numberld&h®of each class and the
high, low and closing sales prices for each clasg&ch quarterly period for the two most recestdi years, is included in Note 15 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements on pages 81-8#Form 10-K, which Note is part of the consatiel financial statements contained in
Item 8 of this Form 10-K, and which Note is incored herein by reference.

The Company paid four dividends of varying amouhitsng its fiscal year computed on the basis dbsdrin Note 8 to the
Consolidated Financial Statements on page 68 sfrbim 10-K, which Note is part of the financiatsiments contained in Item 8 of this
Form 10-K, and which Note is incorporated hereindfgrence. The annual dividends paid for thetlaste fiscal years are as follows:

2002 fiscal year dividends per sh— Class A $0.5¢ Class B $0.8
2001 fiscal year dividends per sh— Class A $0.5¢ Class B $0.8
2000 fiscal year dividends per sh— Class A $0.5. Class B $0.7

The terms of both the Company’s $550 million Amehded Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreemerthanddenture for the
Company’s 8 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes lingtability of the Company to make “restricted paytmgrwhich include dividends and
purchases, redemptions and acquisitions of equiigyests of the Company. The payments of dividamdisother restricted payments are
subject to the condition that no default existsarrttie terms of those agreements and are limitadhiount by a formula based on the
consolidated net income of the Company. Under timeded and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreetherdividends and other
restricted payments may not exceed $25 millionrduany fiscal year.
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Data

The five-year selected financial data is as follg@sllars in thousands, except per share amounts):

Years Ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000 1999 1998
Net sales $1,632,76°  $1,456,000 $963,95¢ $853,43¢( $845,75:
Net income $ 3097¢ $ 88,77« $ 7579 $51,377 $ 37,44:
Total asset $1,758,79! $1,771,18: $939,33. $910,98¢ $878,42(
Long-term debt, including current portion of lc-term debt $ 632,98. $ 697,51: $235,000 $258,00( $235,00(
Dividends per shar¢

Class A Common Stoc $ 0.5¢ ¢ 054 $ 052 $ 050 $ 04¢
Class B Common Stoc $ 0.8 $ 08 $ 07i $ 074 $ 0.71
Basic earnings per shal

Class A Common Stoc $ 1.1¢ % 314 ¢ 268 $ 178 $ 1.3C
Class B Common Stoc $ 164 $ 47C $ 401 $ 267 $ 1.94
Diluted earnings per shar

Class A Common Stoc $ 1.1C % 314 ¢ 267 $ 178 $ 1.2¢
Class B Common Stoc $ 164 $ 47C $ 401 $ 267 $ 1.94

Van Leer Industrial Packaging was acquired on M&;,c2001. Accordingly, the Van Leer Industrial Paging operating results and
assets have been included since that date. Theaselin long-term debt in 2001 is a result of dloguisition.

The amounts include the results of operations (filoendate of acquisition) and assets of the indlstontainers business acquired from
Sonoco on March 30, 1998.

The results of operations include the effects $1@.3 million pretax debt extinguishment charg2®2 and pretax restructuring
charges of $2.8 million, $11.5 million and $27.9limn for 2002, 2001 and 1998, respectively.
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ltem 7. Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operations

The purpose of this section is to discuss and aeadyr consolidated financial condition, liquidétyd capital resources and results of
operations. This analysis should be read in cotijpmavith the consolidated financial statements aatks which appear elsewhere in this
Annual Report. The terms “Greif,” “our company,” & “us,” and “our” as used in this discussion refeGreif Bros. Corporation and
subsidiaries. Our fiscal year begins on Novemband ends on October 31 of the following year. Agfgrences in this Annual Report on
Form 10-K to the years 2002, 2001 or 2000, or tocararter of those years, relate to the fiscal yealing in that year.

General
Business Segments

We operate in three business segments: Indusa@ddging & Services (formerly Industrial Shippingrainers); Paper, Packaging &
Services (formerly Containerboard & Corrugated Botsl); and Timber.

We are a leading global provider of industrial giig container products such as steel, fibre aastiol drums, intermediate bulk
containers (“IBCs”), closure systems for industshipping containers, and polycarbonate waterdmtilVe seek to provide complete
packaging solutions to our customers by offerimp@aprehensive range of products and services ¢obalgasis. We sell our products to
customers in industries such as chemicals, pamtgaments, food and beverage, petroleum, indlstoatings, agricultural, pharmaceutical
and mineral, among others.

We sell our containerboard, corrugated sheets trat oorrugated products and multiwall bags toaustrs in North America in
industries such as packaging, automotive, foodaniding products. Our corrugated container proslace used to ship such diverse prod
as home appliances, small machinery, grocery ptedhailding products, automotive components, baoid furniture, as well as numerous
other applications. Our full line of industrial andnsumer multiwall bag products is used to shijgde range of industrial and consumer
products, such as fertilizers, chemicals, concfegar, sugar, feed, seed, pet foods, popcorn,attziand salt, primarily for the agricultural,
chemical, building products and food industries.
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Item 7. Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operationgcontinued)

We also provide our customers with a variety otieahdded packaging services to complement our iridusontainers and corrugated
products, such as total supply chain managemevitssr(including warehousing, outgoing logisties;éntory management, vendor
management, osite labor management and contract filling), ad aglresearch and development, engineering andrdasd testing service

As of October 31, 2002, we owned approximately @d6,acres of timberland in the southeastern UrStates and approximately
40,000 acres of timberland in Canada. Our timberagament is focused on the active harvesting ageheration of our timber properties to
achieve sustainable long-term yields on our tinghet] While timber sales are subject to fluctuatiovis seek to maintain a consistent cutting
schedule, within the limits of market and weathamditions.

Van Leer Industrial Packaging Acquisition

In March 2001, we acquired Royal Packaging Indest¥ian Leer N.V., a Dutch company, Huhtamaki Hajdido Brasil Ltda., a
Brazilian company, Van Leer France Holding S.AaS5rench company, Van Leer Containers, Inc., a tb&pany, and American Flange &
Manufacturing Co., Inc., a U.S. company, which@kectively referred to as “Van Leer IndustrialdRaging.” We acquired Van Leer
Industrial Packaging for $555.0 million less thecamt of certain of its debt and other obligatio®206.4 million) that were assumed by us as
of the closing date. Van Leer Industrial Packagi@g a worldwide provider of industrial packagingl @omponents, including steel, fibre ¢
plastic drums, polycarbonate water bottles, IBG$ @osure systems for industrial shipping contaner

In connection with the Van Leer Industrial Packggatquisition, we acquired a 25.00% interest ineb&tmbalagens, Lda. and a
40.06% interest in Balmer Lawrie-Van Leer. Socerkatagens reconditions used drums at its facilifpantugal and resells them to
customers. Balmer Lawrie-Van Leer manufacturesurlosystems for industrial shipping containerdsatwo facilities in India.

The results of the operations of Van Leer IndusB&ckaging are included in the consolidated fingratatements for eight months of
2001 and for the entire year in 2002, but are mcluded in the consolidated financial statememt2€@90 or for the first four months of 2001.

Critical Accounting Policies

The discussion and analysis of our financial caoditind results of operations are based upon awddiolated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with ace@uptinciples generally accepted in the United&taThe preparation of these
consolidated financial statements, in accordantle thiese principles, require us to make estimatdsaasumptions that affect the reported
amount of assets and liabilities, revenues andresgss and related disclosure of contingent asadttiabilities at the date of our consolidated
financial statements.
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Item 7. Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operationgcontinued)

A summary of our significant accounting policiesnisluded in the Notes to Consolidated Financiat&nents included in this Annual
Report. We believe that the consistent applicatittmese policies enables us to provide readetiseofonsolidated financial statements with
useful and reliable information about our operatiesults and financial condition. The following &ne accounting policies that we believe
are most important to the portrayal of our finahc@ndition and results and require our most dificsubjective or complex judgments.

» Allowance for Accounts Receivable e evaluate the collectibility of our accounts igable based on a combination of factors
circumstances where we are aware of a specifiomests inability to meet its financial obligatiots us, we record a specific
allowance for bad debts against amounts due taceethe net recognized receivable to the amouneagonably believe will be
collected. For all other customers, we recognilmances for bad debts based on the length of tdoeivables are past due with
allowance percentages, based on our historicalrexyes, applied on a graduated scale relativieeg@ge of the receivable amou
If circumstances change (i.e., higher than expeotelldebt experience or an unexpected materiatselebange in a major
customers ability to meet its financial obligations to usyr estimates of the recoverability of amounts @ues could be reduced
a material amoun

» Inventory Reserves — Reserves for slow moving dymblete inventories are provided based on histogiqaerience and product
demand. We continuously evaluate the adequacyesttheserves and make adjustments to these reasrxeguired

* Net Assets Held for Sa— Net assets held for sale represent land, buitdargl land improvements less accumulated depratiati
for locations that have been closed, primarily assalt of the consolidation plans in the Indu$tfackaging & Services segment.
We record net assets held for sale in accordantteStatement of Financial Accounting Standards ASH No. 121 at the lower of
carrying value or fair value less cost to sellrvaiue is based on the estimated proceeds frorealeeof the facility utilizing recent
buy offers, market comparables and/or data obtdimed our commercial real estate broker. Our ednas to fair value is regulai
reviewed and subject to changes in the commerealastate markets and our continuing evaluatido & facility’s acceptable
sale price

» Properties, Plants and Equipment — Depreciatioproperties, plants and equipment is provided orsttaght-line method over
the estimated useful lives of our assets. Deplaiiotimber properties is computed on the basioef and the estimated recoverable
timber acquired. We believe that the lives and m@sof determining depreciation and depletion assonable; however, using
other lives and methods could provide materialffedént results
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Iltem 7.

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operationgcontinued)

Restructuring Liabilities — Restructuring liabiéig are determined in accordance with appropriatewenting guidance, including
Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”) No. 94-3, EIN&. 953 and Staff Accounting Bulletin No. 100, dependippn the facts an
circumstances surrounding the situation. Restrirguiabilities recorded in connection with exigfiand acquired companies are
further discussed in the Notes to Consolidatedrigiz Statements included in this Annual Rep

Pension and Postretirement Benefits — Pension astigiirement benefit expenses are determined bgaiuaries using
assumptions about the discount rate, expectedretuplan assets, rate of compensation increasbeaith care cost trend rates.
Further discussion of our pension and postretirérbenefit plans and related assumptions is includédbtes 11 and 12 to the
consolidated financial statements included in firisual Report. The actual results would be différgsing other assumptior

Income Taxes — Our effective tax rate, taxes payaht the tax bases of our assets and liabil#isct current tax rates in our
domestic and foreign tax jurisdictions and our lessimate of the ultimate outcome of ongoing angmial future tax audits.
Valuation allowances are established where expdatatk taxable income does not support the re@dizaf the deferred tax asse

Environmental Cleanup Costs — We expense envirotaherpenditures related to existing conditionssealiby past or current
operations and from which no current or future liergediscernable. Our estimates of environmengatediation costs are based
upon an evaluation of currently available factshwispect to each individual site, including theults of environmental studies and
testing, and considering existing technology, pngeenacted laws and regulations, and prior exqmee in remediation of
contaminated sites. Expenditures that extend thefithe related property, or mitigate or previentire environmental
contamination are capitalized. We determine odrnilligt on a site-by-site basis and record a liabiét the time when it is probable
and can be reasonably estimated. Our estimatsititliab reduced to reflect the anticipated pagtion of other potentially
responsible parties in those instances wherepitobable that such parties are legally responsibtefinancially capable of paying
their respective shares of the relevant costs.potential future obligations for environmental dagencies related to facilities
acquired in the Van Leer Industrial Packaging asitjoh may, under certain circumstances, be redbgadsurance coverage and
seller cost sharing provisions. The insurance pplidich has a 10-year term, insures for envirortadezontingencies unidentified
at the acquisition date subject to a $50 milliogragate se-insured retention. Unidentified environmental cogéncies at th
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Iltem 7.

Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operationgcontinued)

acquisition date up to $50 million are shared 7@2thie seller and 30% by us if they are identifiegthim 10 years following the
acquisition date. Identified environmental continges at the acquisition date are first providedofpus up to an aggregate $10
million and shared on a 70/30% basis by us anddHer, respectively, thereafter.

Actual costs to be incurred in future periods atittentified sites may vary from the estimatesegithe inherent uncertainties in
evaluating environmental exposures. Future infoionaand developments will require us to continuadigssess the expected im|
of these environmental matters.

Contingencies — Various lawsuits, claims and peatings have been or may be instituted or assagaidst us, including those
pertaining to environmental, product liability, sbf and health matters. We are continually consgiliégal counsel and evaluating
requirements to reserve for contingencies in a@urd with SFAS No. 5. While the amounts claimed b@gubstantial, the
ultimate liability cannot currently be determinestchuse of the considerable uncertainties that. é@sted on the facts currently
available, we believe the disposition of matteet tire pending will not have a material effectloa ¢onsolidated financial
statements

Goodwill, Other Intangible Assets and Other Longdd Assets — Goodwill is amortized on a straitiie-basis over 15 or 25 yes
based on consideration regarding the age of th@irechcompanies, their customers and the risk ebtdscence of their products.
The costs of acquired intangible assets are amedrin a straight-line basis over their estimatethemic lives of 2 to 25 years. Our
policy is to periodically review goodwill, othertamgible assets and other long-lived assets bgssu the evaluation of such factors
as the occurrence of a significant adverse eveahange in the environment in which the businessaips, or if the expected future
net cash flows (undiscounted and without interest)ld become less than the carrying amount of setaAn impairment loss
would be recorded in the period such determinaianade based on the fair value of the relateds:

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢‘FASB”) issued SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill and ®thntangible Assets,”
which requires that goodwill no longer be amortizeat instead be periodically reviewed for impainad he provisions of SFAS
No. 142 will be effective for fiscal years begingiafter December 15, 2001. As such, we will addpAS No. 142 at the beginning
of our 2003 fiscal year.

We anticipate that the application of the non-amation provisions of SFAS No. 142 will increase oet income upon adoption.
Amortization expense related to our goodwill andeffinite-lived
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Item 7. Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operationgcontinued)

assets was $11.2 million and $9.2 million for tisedl years ended October 31, 2002 and 2001, rixaglgc
At this time, the effect of the impairment provistoprovided by SFAS No. 142 is not known.

Other items that could have a significant impacthenfinancial statements include the risks ancertamties listed in this Annual Rep
under the “Safe Harbor Statement Under the Pri8ataurities Litigation Reform Act of 1995” below. #al results could differ materially
using different estimates and assumptions, ornti@g@mns are significantly different in the future.

RESULTS OF OPERATIONS

Historically, revenues and earnings may or maybeotepresentative of future operating results duatious economic and other
factors. Our year-to-year comparisons have beanifisigntly affected by our acquisition of Van Ldedustrial Packaging in March 2001.

We define EBITDA as earnings from continuing opierad before interest, income taxes, depreciatieplation, amortization, minority
interest in income of consolidated subsidiariesitggn earnings of affiliates, debt extinguishmehtirge and foreign currency effects.
EBITDA is included in this section because it isasis on which we assess our financial performandedebt service capabilities. However,
EBITDA should not be considered in isolation orwesl as a substitute for cash flow from operatioesincome or other measures of
performance as defined by accounting principlesegaly accepted in the United States, or as a measwour company’s profitability or
liquidity. While EBITDA is frequently used by sedtigs analysts, lenders and others in their evadnaif companies, EBITDA as used herein
is not necessarily comparable to other similatlgdi captions of other companies due to potemi@bmsistencies in the method of calculation.

26



Item 7. Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operationgcontinued)

The following table sets forth the net sales andlTER\ for each of our business segments for 2009,124nd 2000 (Dollars in millions

For the years ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
Net sales
Industrial Packaging & Servict $1,268.( $1,038.¢ $490.¢
Paper, Packaging & Servic 324.( 379.C 428.2
Timber 40.¢ 37.¢ 447
Total net sale $1,632.¢ $1,456.( $964.(
EBITDA
Industrial Packaging & Servict $ 131.¢ $ 87.¢ $ 45.¢
Paper, Packaging & Servic 49.2 82.4 80.t
Timber 47.2 112.1 47.1
Total segmen 228.( 282.¢ 173.4
Restructuring charg (2.9 (11.5) —
Corporate and oth¢ (24.0) (16.0 (15.9
Total EBITDA 201.Z 254.¢ 157.k
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expe (97.5) (81.5) (45.2)
Debt extinguishment charg (10.9 — —
Interest expense, n (56.0 (45.2) (11.9
Foreign currency effec (1.5 (0.2 —
Income before income taxes, minority interest itoime of consolidated subsidiaries and equit
earnings of affiliate: $ 35.¢ $ 128.( $100.£

Fiscal Year 2002 Compared to Fiscal Year 2001

Overview

Net sales increased to $1,632.8 million, an inaeds2.1%, in 2002 from $1,456.0 million in 200his increase resulted from a
$190.3 million increase in net sales from outsiaeth America, partially offset by a $13.5 millioectease in net sales from the North
American operations. The decrease in the North Ararroperations was due to lower net sales in #peR Packaging & Services segment
($55.3 million decrease), which were partially effey the Industrial Packaging & Services segm&88.8 million increase) and the Timber
segment ($3.0 million increase). The higher nessal the North American operations of the IndatfPiackaging & Services segment, as

as the higher net sales outside North America, wenearily due to the inclusion of Van Leer InduastiPackaging sales volume for all of
2002 compared to eight months in 2001.
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Item 7. Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operationscontinued)

EBITDA was $204.0 million, before the $2.8 millidourth quarter restructuring charge, for 2002 aspared to $266.4 million, before
the $11.5 million second quarter restructuring geafor 2001. The $62.4 million decrease in EBITAs attributable to lower gains on the
sale of timberland ($67.5 million decrease) andRbper, Packaging & Services segment ($33.2 mitlecrease), which were partially offset
by the inclusion of the Van Leer Industrial Packagoperations and higher timber sales.

Segment Review
Industrial Packaging & Service

The Industrial Packaging & Services segment haid@ease in net sales of $229.1 million, or 22.1¥is increase was primarily due
an increase of $190.3 million in net sales outdideth America and an increase of $38.8 million @i sales in North America due to
additional sales volume from the inclusion of atireryear of the Van Leer Industrial Packaging agieg results in 2002 compared to eight
months in 2001. In addition, increased pricingtfos segmens products in response to higher raw material cesggecially for steel and re
during 2002, contributed to the increase in netsdlet sales outside of North America also beggfitom an improvement in currency
exchange rates in Europe, which were offset by tave¢ sales in South America, in particular Argeatand Venezuela, and Africa caused by
unstable economic conditions and currency devalnatiFinally, sales volumes in North America wenedr due to the weak economic
conditions that prevailed throughout 2002.

EBITDA for Industrial Packaging & Services incredge $131.6 million, before the $0.6 million fourdmarter restructuring charge, for
2002 as compared to $87.9 million, before the $iiilbon second quarter restructuring charge, f@d@2 The primary reasons for this
increase relate to improved sales volumes as & rfdhe Van Leer Industrial Packaging acquisitimwer raw material costs as a percentage
of net sales, positive contributions from the pgiear consolidation plan and other cost savingetiies.

Paper, Packaging & Service

The Paper, Packaging & Services segment had aateche net sales of $55.3 million, or 14.6%, in2@6 compared to 2001. This
decrease in net sales was primarily due to lowerame sales prices for linerboard and medium ofcqipately 15%, partially offset by an
improvement in sales volumes on most of the segmpriiducts. However, our multiwall bag operatitvasl reduced sales volumes resulting
primarily from weaknesses in the agricultural inyisparticularly in the midwestern United States.

EBITDA for the Paper, Packaging & Services segntlecteased to $49.2 million for 2002 as comparekBt4 million for 2001. The
decline was
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Item 7. Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operationscontinued)

caused by lower net sales and higher raw matesgscespecially for old corrugated containers (@D)Con a quarter-over-quarter
comparison.

Timber

The Timber segment had an increase in net sal®3.0fmillion, or 7.9%, for 2002 as compared to 208hile timber sales are subject
to fluctuations, we seek to maintain a consistettirg schedule, within the limits of market andatieer conditions.

The sales of timber are recorded as net salesgwitiiberland sales are included in gain on satexdferland. The gain on sale of
timberland was $12.1 million for 2002 as compace@19.7 million for 2001. See “Timberland Transawcs” below.

EBITDA for the Timber segment decreased to $47 Ianifor 2002 as compared to $112.1 million fol020 The decrease in EBITDA
was primarily the result of the significant gain gale of timberland in the prior period slightlyfs#t by higher timber sales.

Other Income Statement Changes
Gain on Sale of Timberland

Gain on sale of timberland decreased $67.6 millio2002 as compared to 2001 primarily due to thbé&rland sales described in the
“Timberland Transactions” section below.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net increased $1.5 million in 2002@wpared to 2001. The change in other income wasply due to an increase frc
gains on the sale of closed facilities and equigrirenomparison to 2001.

Cost of Products Sold

The cost of products sold, as a percentage ofates,sncreased to 79.4% in 2002 from 79.2% in 200is increase was primarily
caused by weakening in the Paper, Packaging & &degment, which was affected by increased raerialbcosts, especially OCC,
without a corresponding increase in sales prichs.ificrease was partially offset by an overall iowement in the Industrial Packaging &
Services segment, which resulted from lower raneni@tcosts, as a percentage of net sales, andimg@roperating efficiencies. Higher
timber segment sales, which have a very low casicated with them, also benefited our gross margin

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

Selling, general and administrative (“SG&A”) expeasncreased to $250.8 million (15.4% of net salegp02 as compared to $204.7
million (14.1% of net sales) in 2001. The $46.liorl increase was primarily due
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Item 7. Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operationscontinued)

to additional SG&A expenses related to Van Leeustdal Packaging, including $3.1 million of addital amortization expense related to
acquisition’s goodwill and other intangible ass&6&A expenses, as a percentage of net sales, nisinmcreased as a result of lower sales
volumes, on a comparable structure basis, for Indii®ackaging & Services and lower net saleh@Raper, Packaging & Services segn
In addition, the 2002 results were impacted by éiggmployee benefit costs and certain non-recuosgs related to our organizational
improvement initiatives and ongoing reorganizattivities.

Restructuring Charg

During the fourth quarter of 2002, we recorded 8$Rillion pretax restructuring charge due to therganization activities described in
the “Restructuring Plans” section below.

Debt Extinguishment Char¢

During 2002, we recorded a debt extinguishmentgghaf $10.3 million ($4.4 million in the third quar and $5.9 million in the fourth
quarter) related to the extinguishment of the ineehess outstanding under the $900 million Seresuf&d Credit Agreement.

Interest Expense, N

Interest expense, net increased to $56.0 milliamdw2002 as compared to $45.1 million in 2001. Twease was primarily due to
higher average debt outstanding of $683.5 milliarirdy 2002 as compared to $555.4 million during20lhe increase in average debt
outstanding was primarily the result of borrowimgade in connection with the Van Leer Industrialkaing acquisition. Because the
acquisition occurred on March 2, 2001, the acqoisitelated debt was outstanding for only eight therin 2001 as compared to all of 2002.

Income Taxe

The effective tax rate decreased to 36.0% for 2E0@ompared to 37.9% in 2001, primarily as a refudtchange in the mix of income
from outside North America.

Minority Interest in Income of Consolidated Subsiitis

As part of the Van Leer Industrial Packaging acdtjois, we acquired majority holdings in various quemies. The operating results of
these companies have been included in the consadidasults following the acquisition on March 202, and the minority interest of other
persons in the respective net income of these coiephas been reflected as an expense.
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Item 7. Managements Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition ahResults of Operationgcontinued)

Equity in Earnings of Affiliate

Equity in earnings of affiliates decreased to $8iBion for 2002 as compared to $9.9 million in 200 his income represents our equity
interest in the net income of CorrChoice, Inc. (f@hoice”) and, to a lesser extent, Abzac-Greif &kl our equity interest in Abzac-Greif
during the second quarter of 2002), Socer-Embakldata. and Balmer Lawrie-Van Leer.

Net Income

Based on the foregoing, net income decreased $5illi8n, or 65.1%, to $31.0 million for 2002 fron88.8 million in 2001.
Fiscal Year 2001 Compared to Fiscal Year 2000
Overview

Net sales increased to $1,456.0 million, an inared$1.0%, in 2001 from $964.0 million in 2000.iF mcrease resulted from a $446.2
million increase in net sales from outside Northekiva and a $45.8 million increase in net salesftloe North American operations. The
increase in net sales from the North American dmera was due to the Industrial Packaging & Ses/megment ($101.8 million increase),
which was partially offset by lower net sales ie faper, Packaging & Services segment ($49.1 mitlecrease) and the Timber segment
($6.9 million decrease). The higher net sales éNbrth American operations of the Industrial Pgikg & Services segment were primarily
due to the inclusion of additional sales volumenfrine operations of Van Leer Industrial Packagirtte weaker economic conditions in the
United States that prevailed throughout 2001 coegér 2000 caused lower sales volumes and increasepetitive pricing in both the
Industrial Packaging & Services and Paper, Packg§iServices segments.

EBITDA was $266.4 million, before the $11.5 millisecond quarter restructuring charge, for 200Joaspared to $157.5 million for
2000. The $108.9 million increase in EBITDA wasihtitable to higher gains on the sale of timberlé$itD.4 million increase) and the
inclusion of the operations of Van Leer IndustRalckaging. Factors that reduced EBITDA includedk&eaconomic conditions in the
United States for both the Industrial Packaginge8v&es and Paper, Packaging & Services segmengsldition, lower timber sales partially
offset the improvement in EBITDA.
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Segment Review
Industrial Packaging & Service

The Industrial Packaging & Services segment haid@ease in net sales of $548.0 million, or 111.6862001 as compared to 2000.
This increase was primarily due to the inclusio$446.2 million of net sales outside North Amerieaulting from the operations of Van L
Industrial Packaging. Net sales for the North Areami operations increased $101.8 million for 200taaspared to 2000 due to additional
sales volume from the operations of Van Leer IndalsPackaging during the eight months includethat year. A decrease in customer
demand caused by weaknesses in the United Stateerayg, particularly in the chemical industry, paltti offset this increase in net sales. In
addition, net sales to the agricultural sector weneer in the first quarter of 2001 compared to @08hich benefited from a late harvest of
certain crops during 1999 that extended into tret fjuarter of 2000.

EBITDA for the Industrial Packaging & Services segthincreased to $87.9 million, before the $11.Bionisecond quarter
restructuring charge, for 2001 as compared to $dtill®n for 2000. The primary reason for this iease relates to $48.8 million in EBITDA
from outside North America related to the inclusadrthe operations of Van Leer Industrial Packaging

Paper, Packaging & Service

The Paper, Packaging & Services segment had aatecihe net sales of $49.1 million, or 11.5%, fod2@s compared to 2000. This
reduction in net sales was caused by lower custoemand for corrugated containers and containedbdae to continued weaknesses in the
United States economy. Lower average sales prigdmérboard and medium also affected net saleisg2001 as compared to 2000.

EBITDA for the Paper, Packaging & Services segnmareased to $82.4 million for 2001 as compare$ig®.5 million in 2000. Lower
raw material prices, especially for OCC, a highamtainerboard integration percentage and improypedating efficiencies more than offset
the decline caused by lower net sales for this segm

Timber

The Timber segment had a decrease in net sale&gs®hdllion, or 15.4%, for 2001 as compared to 208ile timber sales are subject
to fluctuations, we seek to maintain a consisteitirtg schedule within the limits of market and e conditions.

The sales of timber are recorded as net salesgwiliiberland sales are included in gain on saterdferland. The gain on sale of
timberland was $79.7 million for 2001 as compa@893.2 million for 2000. See “Timberland Transaetibbelow.
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EBITDA for the Timber segment increased to $112illian for 2001 as compared to $47.1 million for®D The increase was primar
the result of significant gains on the sale of tamiénd which were partially offset by lower timtszales.

Other Income Statement Changes
Gain on Sale of Timberland

Gain on sale of timberland increased $70.5 millimB001 as compared to 2000 primarily due to thibér property sales described in
the “Timberland Transactions” section below.

Other Income, Net

Other income, net increased $1.4 million in 200t@spared to 2000. The increase in other incomepriagarily due to an increase
from gains on the sale of closed facilities in camgon to 2000.

Cost of Products Sold

The cost of products sold, as a percentage ofates,sncreased to 79.2% in 2001 from 76.5% in 200@ increase was primarily due
the inclusion of the operations of Van Leer IndiastPackaging, which contributed to a higher cdgiroducts sold as a percentage of net
sales because products from those operations baeg §ross margins than our other products. InteaidiTimber segment sales, which have
a much lower cost associated with them, were béhmse in 2000. This increase was partially offselolver raw material costs, which more
than offset the lower sales volume, in the Papack&ging & Services segment.

Selling, General and Administrative Expenses

SG&A expenses increased to $204.7 million (14.1%etfsales) for 2001 as compared to $128.3 mi{liéh3% of net sales) for 2000.
The $76.4 million increase was primarily due toitiddal SG&A expenses related to the operationgaf Leer Industrial Packaging. In
addition, there was $5.3 million of amortizatiorperse related to the goodwill and other intanggisigets acquired in the Van Leer Industrial
Packaging transaction included in the 2001 results.

Restructuring Charg

During the second quarter of 2001, we recordedldnSsmillion restructuring charge due to the reargation activities described in the
“Restructuring Plans” section below.
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Interest Expense, N

Interest expense, net increased to $45.2 millid20idl as compared to $11.8 million in 2000. Thzéase was primarily due to higher
average debt outstanding in 2001 as compared @ 20@ result of the Van Leer Industrial Packagioguisition.

Income Taxe
The effective tax rate remained at 37.9% in 2001 2000.
Minority Interest in Income of Consolidated Subsiidis

As part of the Van Leer Industrial Packaging adtjois, we acquired majority holdings in various quamnies. The operating results of
these companies have been included in the consadidasults following the acquisition on March 202, and the minority interest of other
persons in the respective net income of these coiephas been reflected as an expense.

Equity in Earnings of Affiliate

Equity in earnings of affiliates decreased to $8ilion for 2001 as compared to $13.3 million in0Z0 This income represents our
equity interest in the net income of CorrChoice,dndh lesser extent, Abzac-Greif, Socer-Embalagettes. and Balmer Lawrie-Van Leer.

Net Income
Based on the foregoing, net income increased $h8lion, or 17.1%, to $88.8 million in 2001 from $B million in 2000.
Timberland Transactions

In December 2000, we sold certain hardwood timberfar $44.4 million. As a result of this transactj we recognized a gain of $43.0
million during the first quarter of 2001. In a redd agreement, we sold other hardwood timberlan836.0 million in March 2001, and we
recognized a gain of $27.7 million during the setqoarter of 2001. A total of approximately 65,@@0es of timber properties situated in
Arkansas, Mississippi and Louisiana were sold gesalt of these transactions.

In a separate transaction in December 2000, wehpseal certain pine timberland for $42.8 millionalrelated agreement, we purche
other pine timberland for $43.1 million in March@®0 A total of approximately 63,000 acres of timpesperties situated in Louisiana were
purchased as a result of these transactions.

For tax purposes, these sale and purchase traosaeiere treated as like-kind exchanges pursugdedtion 1031 of the Internal
Revenue Code, which resulted in a deferral of éltegin on the sale transactions.
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Restructuring Plans

During the second quarter of 2001, we approve@a fu consolidate some of our locations in ordeslitminate duplicate facilities
caused by the Van Leer Industrial Packaging adiprisand improve operating efficiencies and capidsl. The plan was the result of an in-
depth study to determine whether certain locatieitber existing or newly acquired, should be albard the sales and manufacturing vol
associated with such plants relocated to a diftefaility. Six existing company-owned plastic dramnd steel drum plants were identified to
be closed. These plants are located in North Araehitaddition, certain redundant administrativections were identified to be eliminated.
As a result of this plan, during the second quast&2001, we recognized a pretax restructuring@harf $11.5 million, consisting of $8.0
million in employee separation costs and a $3.5ianiloss on disposal of equipment and facilitd& also recognized an additional $2.8
million pretax restructuring charge during the thuyuarter of 2002, primarily as a result of areasion of this plan. The fourth quarter 2002
charge consisted of $1.4 million in employee sepamaosts, mostly related to early retirement erges, and a $1.4 million loss on facilities
that are currently in the process of being sold.ilteend to sell the remainder of our facilitieschédr sale during 2003.

In addition, in connection with the March 2001 aisgion of Van Leer Industrial Packaging and th@salidation plan described in the
preceding paragraph, five facilities purchasedaat gf that acquisition have been or will be clageaur of these facilities are owned by our
subsidiaries and one was leased. The facilitiesogsted in North America, South America, Unitechgfdlom and Asia Pacific. In addition,
certain redundant administrative functions havenlieninated. Accordingly, we recognized a $19.Tiam restructuring liability in our
purchase price allocation related to these locatidhis liability was accounted for under EITF 1986-3, “Recognition of Liabilities in
Connection with a Purchase Business Combinatiohé’ lfability consisted of $16.5 million in employseparation costs and $3.2 million in
other exit costs. We intend to sell the four conypawned facilities during 2003, and the lease enrdmaining facility was terminated.

During 2002, our restructuring reserves were sigauiftly reduced as related costs were incurredchadyed to the reserves. Our
restructuring activities were substantially com@teat October 31, 2002, and positive contributtonsarnings have exceeded $27.5 million
on an annualized basis. Remaining reserves arexpately $2.3 million at October 31, 2002, withute cash outlays anticipated to occt
the first half of 2003 (see Note 5 to the consaéddinancial statements for additional disclosued description of restructuring activities).
We incurred additional costs of $5.5 million and%aillion in 2002 and 2001, respectively, relatedhe relocation of machinery, employt
and other reorganization activities, all of whicvh been charged to the results of operations.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources

Our primary sources of liquidity are operating céelwvs, the proceeds from our Senior Subordinatetesland borrowings under our
Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreedisoussed below. We have used these sourcaadoofr working capital needs,
capital expenditures, cash dividends, common stepltrchases and acquisitions. We anticipate cantjnio fund these items in a like
manner. We currently expect that operating cashs]dhe proceeds from our Senior Subordinated Nartdsborrowings under our Amended
and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreement eilufficient to fund our working capital, capitajpenditures, debt repayment and other
liquidity needs for the foreseeable future.

Capital Expenditures and Business Acquisitions

During 2002, we invested $45.7 million in capitapenditures, excluding the purchase of timberlamgerties ($11.8 million), and we
invested $42.7 million in capital expenditures,laging the purchase of timberland properties ($88ilon), during 2001. During the last
three years, we have invested $167.2 million intahpxpenditures, $101.3 million in timberland pases and $312.9 million for the Van
Leer Industrial Packaging acquisition, net of cashuired.

We have approved future capital expenditures of@pmately $79 million through October 31, 2003 €8k expenditures are primarily
to replace and improve equipment and to continyggementation of a new management information system

Balance Sheet Changes

The reduction in trade accounts receivable wasntlostly to lower net sales in the fourth quarte@d2 compared to the fourth quarter
of 2001.

Inventories were higher primarily due to the inse=sin our raw material costs.

The increase in accounts payable was due to higlaematerial costs and the timing of payments ntadwur suppliers.

Accrued payroll and employee benefits were higlseat eesult of the increase in these costs as wéitirding of our payments.

The restructuring reserves decreased as a resultirtf closings and other reorganization costs ‘(Restructuring Planssection above

The reduction in total debt was due to the repayraEamounts borrowed and the extinguishment of$200 million Senior Secured
Credit Agreement, partially offset by the issuant&250 million of Senior
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Subordinated Notes and the $550 million AmendedRestated Senior Secured Credit Agreement (segd®arg Arrangements” section
below).

The increase in other long-term liabilities waswarily due to a higher minimum pension liability.
Borrowing Arrangements
$550 Million Amended and Restated Senior SecurediCAgreement

On August 23, 2002, we, as U.S. borrower, and G@p#in Holdings, S.L., Greif Canada Inc., Van Lgé#&K) Ltd., Koninklijke
Emballage Industrie Van Leer B.V. (dba Royal Pagkgéndustries Van Leer B.V.), and Van Leer Ausadtty. Limited, as non-U.S.
borrowers, entered into a $550 million Amended Redtated Senior Secured Credit Agreement with disgte of lenders. A portion of the
proceeds from the Amended and Restated Senior & &redit Agreement was used to refinance amouwrssamding under our then existi
$900 million Senior Secured Credit Agreement. Tmeeftded and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agregarmrities for a $300 million ter
loan and a $250 million revolving multicurrency ditefacility. The revolving multicurrency creditddity is available for working capital and
general corporate purposes. As of October 31, 20@Pe was a total of $384.3 million outstandinglemthe Amended and Restated Senior
Secured Credit Agreement.

The Amended and Restated Senior Secured CredieAmget contains certain covenants, which includanfaial covenants that require
us to maintain a certain leverage ratio, a mininoaverage of interest expense and fixed charges amidimum net worth. At October 31,
2002, we were in compliance with these covenarits.répayment of this facility is secured by a fiisth on substantially all of the personal
property and certain of the real property of GBxifs. Corporation and its U.S. subsidiaries angbairt, by the capital stock of the non-U.S.
borrowers and any intercompany notes payable to.the

8 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes

On July 31, 2002, we issued Senior Subordinate@Niotthe aggregate principal amount of $250 nmijli@ceiving net proceeds of
approximately $248 million before expenses. Inteoasthe Senior Subordinated Notes is payable semitally at the annual rate of 8 7/8%.
The Senior Subordinated Notes do not have regpiriedipal payments prior to maturity on August 012. As of October 31, 2002, there
was a total of $248.0 million outstanding under $®mior Subordinated Notes. The trust indentursyant to which the Senior Subordinated
Notes were issued contain certain covenants. Abléact31, 2002, we were in compliance with theseenants

$900 Million Senior Secured Credit Agreement

On March 2, 2001, the Company and Greif Spain hhgsli S.L. had entered into a $900 million Seniauged Credit Agreement with
syndicate of lenders. A portion of the proceedmsftbe Senior Secured
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Credit Agreement was used to fund the Van Leerstrihl Packaging acquisition and to refinance anmontstanding under the Company’s
then existing revolving credit facility. The Sen®ecured Credit Agreement provided for three terams, a $150 million U.S. Dollar Term
Loan A, a $200 million Euro Term Loan A and a $40illion U.S. Dollar Term Loan B, and a $150 millioevolving multicurrency credit
facility. The revolving multicurrency credit fadiji was available for working capital and generalpeooate purposes.

During 2002, the Senior Secured Credit Agreemerst igfinanced using proceeds from the Amended asthRel Senior Secured
Credit Agreement and the Senior Subordinated Notes.

Contractual Obligations

As of October 31, 2002, we had the following cocttnal obligations (Dollars in millions):

Payments Due By Period

Less thar 1-3 3-5 After 5

Total 1 Year Years Years Years

Long-term debi $632 % 3 $6 $91 $53¢
Shor-term borrowings 20 20 — — —
Non-cancelable operating leas 75 15 24 16 20
Total contractual cash obligatio $726  $ 38 $30 $107 $55z

CorrChoice Joint Venture

We own 63.24% of the outstanding stock of CorrCapinc. (“CorrChoice”). In connection with the irstment in CorrChoice, we
entered into a joint venture agreement, a votirgement and other related agreements with the stbekholders of CorrChoice. Under the
voting agreement, we can elect one-half of Corr€disiboard of directors and the other stockholdarselect the other half of the board of
directors, with no mechanism to break a board ae&dBecause of this situation, we do not contrairChoice.

CorrChoice manufactures corrugated sheets at dewations in the United States. We sell paper toClwice, which it uses to produ
corrugated sheets, and we purchase corrugatedsdhamt CorrChoice, with all transactions effectegr@vailing market prices. Sales and
purchases with CorrChoice were $59.8 million andl.@nillion in 2002, $71.7 million and $23.1 milian 2001 and $81.4 million and $2¢
million in 2000, respectively.

The joint venture agreement and related agreencentsin certain covenants and restrictions on itebiasiness activities. These
restrictions have not affected our business oratjmrs in any material respect and have not predens from pursuing any business
opportunities that we desire to pursue. Under gediacumstances, we may purchase, or
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we may be required to purchase, the other paitiesr'est in CorrChoice, or we may be required tbag interest to the other parties, at a
price determined in a manner described in the agleagreement.

During 2002, we sold a building to a subsidianCairrChoice for $7.5 million. Concurrently with teale, we entered into a lease-back
arrangement for the building. The $0.2 million gamthe sale transaction has been deferred ovéertineof the lease. The resulting 10-year
lease is accounted for as an operating lease. Mamag believes that the sale price of the buildinthe subsidiary of CorrChoice was at fair
market value. Furthermore, management believeshbdease for this building is on terms at leasfaaorable as those that we could have
obtained from unaffiliated third parties.

Share Repurchase Program

In February 1999, our Board of Directors authoriaeshe million share stock repurchase program.rmgu2D02, we repurchased 80,000
shares, including 20,000 shares of Class A Comntock&nd 60,000 shares of Class B Common StocknB@001, we repurchased 34,500
shares, including 10,000 shares of Class A Comntock&nd 24,500 shares of Class B Common Stoclof &ctober 31, 2002, we had
repurchased 674,410 shares, including 435,476 slbd@lass A Common Stock and 238,934 shares als@aCommon Stock. The total ¢
of the shares repurchased during 1999 through @cfh 2002 was $19.5 million. Future share repaseh will be limited under our
Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agrdeandrthe indenture governing the Senior Subordihalotes.

Effects of Inflation

The effects of inflation did not have a materiapaat on our operations during 2002, 2001 or 2000.
Recent Accounting Standards
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141, “Bussiéombinations,” and SFAS No. 142, “Goodwill artti€d Intangible Assets.”
SFAS No. 141 requires use of the purchase methdolu&iness combinations initiated after June 30128FAS No. 142 requires that
goodwill no longer be amortized, but instead béqgatcally reviewed for impairment. The provisionsSFAS No. 142 are effective for fiscal
years beginning after December 15, 2001, or Noverhp2002 for us

The application of the non-amortization provisi@$SFAS No. 142 will decrease our amortization egeeby approximately $11
million and increase our net income by approxima$&l million upon adoption in 2003. At this timagteffect of the impairment provisions
provided by SFAS No. 142 is not known.
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Additionally, SFAS No. 141 requires that in a biesie combination in which the fair value of the amtets acquired exceeds cost, any
residual negative goodwill is recognized as anaaxttinary gain in the period in which the busingm®bination is initially recognized. The
transition provisions of SFAS No. 141 require thabn adoption of SFAS No. 142, any existing negagjgodwill be adjusted as a cumula
effect of a change in accounting principal in then€blidated Statements of Income. In the first tpraof 2003, we will record a cumulative
effect of a change in accounting principle for cemaining unamortized negative goodwill. Our reearthalance of negative goodwill at
October 31, 2002 was $4.8 million.

Impairment or Disposal of Lol-Lived Assets

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Anding for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-Livadsets.” SFAS No. 144
addresses the accounting and reporting for theirmpat or disposal of long-lived assets and suplEes&FAS No. 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-Livadsets to Be Disposed of” and Accounting Princifdesrd Opinion No. 30,Reportin¢
the Results of Operations—Reporting the Effect®isposal of a Segment of a Business, and ExtraargitJnusual and Infrequently
Occurring Events and Transactions.” SFAS No. 14dhtishes a single accounting model for long-ligsdets to be disposed of by sale and
resolves implementation issues related to SFASLRb.

SFAS No. 144 is effective for financial statemdstaied for fiscal years beginning after DecembeR081, or November 1, 2002 for
us. We do not expect the adoption of this Staterteehfive a material effect on our consolidatedrfaia statements.

Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Actiogrfor Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal iittes.” SFAS No. 146
addresses the accounting and reporting for costeided with exit or disposal activities and riigh EITF No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition
for Certain Employee Termination Benefits and Otiests to Exit an Activity (including Certain Cost€urred in a Restructuring).” SFAS
No. 146 requires entities to recognize a liabildya cost associated with an exit or disposakagtivhen the liability is incurred. Previousl
under EITF No. 94-3, a liability for an exit cosasvrecognized at the date of an entity’s commitrteean exit plan.

SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit or disposal aitieés that are initiated after December 31, 200igh earlier application encouraged.
We will adopt this Statement at the beginning af 2003 fiscal year (November 1, 2002). We do ngieex the adoption of this Statement to
have a material effect on our consolidated findrat@ements.
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Forward-Looking Statements; Certain Factors Affectng Future Results

Statements contained in this Form 10-K or any otbports or documents prepared by us may be “fahh@oking” within the meaning
of the Private Securities Litigation Reform Actk895. Such forward-looking statements are subgecettain risks and uncertainties that
could cause our operating results to differ maligrfeom those projected. The following factors, @ng others, in some cases have affected
and in the future could affect our actual finangiatformance.

Changes in General Economic or Business Condition®ur customers generally consist of other mactufers and suppliers who
purchase our industrial shipping containers andainerboard for their own containment and shipgingposes. Because we supply a cross
section of industries, such as chemicals, food yets] petroleum products, pharmaceuticals and metducts, demand for our industrial
shipping containers and containerboard and reladedigated products has historically correspondezhainges in general economic and
business conditions of the industries and counimi@ghich we operate. Accordingly, our financiaHfoemance is substantially dependent
upon the general economic conditions existing @s¢éhindustries and countries, and any prolongedlmstantial economic downturn could
have a material adverse affect on our businessitsesf operations and financial condition.

Currency Exchange and Political Risk.We have operations in over 40 countries. Assalt of our non-U.S. operations, we are subject
to certain risks which could disrupt our operationgorce us to incur unanticipated costs. Our apeg performance is affected by
devaluations and fluctuations in currency exchaagges by:

« translations into U.S. dollars for financial repogt purposes of the assets and liabilities of amn-d.S. operations conducted in lo
currencies; an

» gains or losses from non-U.S. operations conduotedrrencies other than their functional currency.

We are subject to various other risks associat#u eyierating in non-U.S. countries, such as thewehg:

» political, social and economic instability;

» war, civil disturbance or acts of terrorism;

» taking of property by nationalization or expropioat without fair compensation;
» changes in government policies and regulations;

» imposition of limitations on conversions of non-Ucarrencies into dollars or remittance of dividemehd other payments by non-
U.S. subsidiaries
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» imposition or increase of withholding and otherason remittances and other payments by non-UbSidiaries;

hyperinflation in certain non-U.S. countries; and

impositions or increase of investment and othdriat®ns or requirements by non-U.S. governments.

Competition. Our business of manufacturing and selling itrilalsshipping containers, containerboard and apated products is
highly competitive. The most important competitfaetors are price, quality and service. Many of competitors are substantially larger and
have significantly greater financial resources.

Changes in Industry Demands Industry demand for containerboard has dedlingecent years causing competitive pricing press
in the containerboard market which has negativalyacted our financial performance in recent yaats.compete in industries which are
capital intensive, which generally leads to corgithproduction as long as prices are sufficienbteec marginal costs. As a result, changes in
industry demands, including industry over-capacitgy cause substantial price competition and,rim, toegatively impact our financial
performance.

Continuing Consolidation of Customer Base for Corgeboard and Corrugated Products Over the last few years, many of our large
containerboard and corrugated products customeesdjuired companies with similar or complemenpaoduct lines. This consolidation
has increased the concentration of this segmemtiobusiness with our largest customers and resuitencreased pricing pressures from our
customers. The continuing consolidation of the mwelr base in this segment may negatively impacfioancial performance.

Raw Material and Energy Price Fluctuations and Sages. The principal raw materials used in the mactufiie of our products are
steel, resins, pulpwood, waste paper for recydind paper, which we purchase in highly competifirese sensitive markets. These raw
materials have historically exhibited price and dadhcyclicality. Some of these materials have baed,in the future may be, in short sup
However, we have not recently experienced any Bogmt difficulty in obtaining our principal raw rterials. We do not have long-term
supply contracts or hedging arrangements in placebtaining our principal raw materials.

The cost of producing our products is sensitiviheoprice of energy. Energy prices, in particuibaod natural gas, have increased
significantly over the past year, with a corresgongaeffect on our production costs.

Environmental and Health and Safety Matters; Prdduiability Claims. We must comply with extensive rules and regoitest
regarding federal, state, local and non-U.S. envitental matters, such as air and water qualityveaste disposal. We must also comply with
extensive rules and regulations regarding safetyhealth matters. The failure to materially
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comply with such rules and regulations could adsfgraffect our operations. Furthermore, litigatmnclaims against us with respect to such
matters could adversely affect our financial perfance. We may also become subject to productilialbinims which could adversely affect
us.

Work Stoppages We are subject to risk of work stoppages ahdrdabor relations matters because a signifinantber of our North
American employees are represented by collectivgdi@ing units. We have experienced work stoppagesstrikes in the past, and there
be work stoppages and strikes in the future. Amygmged work stoppage or strike at any one of ouncfpal manufacturing facilities could
have a negative impact on our business, finanoiadlition or results of operations.

Risks Associated with Acquisitions During the past several years we have invesied for the foreseeable future we anticipate
investing, a substantial amount of capital in asiioins. Acquisitions involve numerous risks, irdilg the failure to retain key employees
and contracts and the inability to integrate busses without material disruption. In addition, etbempanies in our industries have similar
acquisition strategies. There can be no assur&at@ny future acquisitions will be successfulliggrated into our operations, that
competition for acquisitions will not intensify trat we will be able to complete such acquisitionsacceptable terms and conditions. In
addition, the costs of unsuccessful acquisitionresfmay adversely affect our financial performance

Risks of Property Loss. We carry comprehensive liability, fire and exded coverage insurance on most of our facilitiés) policy
specifications and insured limits customarily aadirfor similar properties. However, there are ¢erigoes of losses, such as losses resulting
from wars, acts of terrorism, or natural disasté#rat generally are not insured because they #reraininsurable or not economically
insurable. Should an uninsured loss or a loss éesxof insured limits occur, we could lose capitedésted in that property, as well as the
anticipated future revenues derived from the masiufang activities conducted at that property, whi#gmaining obligated for any mortgage
indebtedness or other financial obligations relatethe property. Any such loss would adverselyagimur business, financial condition and
results of operations.

Timber and Timberland Sales. We have a significant inventory of standingkienand timberlands. The frequency and volume leksa
of timber and timberlands will have an effect om fimancial performance.

Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures abouMarket Risk

Interest Rate Risk

We are subject to interest rate risk related tofimancial instruments that include borrowings undler Amended and Restated Senior
Secured Credit Agreement and interest rate swaeaggnts with an aggregate notional amount of $38dli@n as of October 31, 2002. We
do
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Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures abouMarket Risk (continued)

not enter into financial instruments for tradingspeculative purposes. The interest rate swap agmes have been entered into to manag
exposure to variability in interest rates and clesnig the fair value of fixed rate debt.

The table below provides information about our give financial instruments and other financigtinments that are sensitive to
changes in interest rates. For the existing AmeraeldRestated Senior Secured Credit Agreementakte presents scheduled amortizations
of principal and the current weighted average @gerate by contractual maturity dates. For intawgs swaps, the table presents annual
amortizations of notional amounts and weighted ayelinterest rates by contractual maturity datesledthe swap agreements, we receive
interest quarterly from the counterparties andiptsrest quarterly to the counterparties. Thevalue of the existing Amended and Restated
Senior Secured Credit Agreement is based on curaged available to us for debt of the same remginiaturity. The fair value of the inter
rate swap agreements has been determined basedhepcurrent market settlement prices of comparedigracts.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
(Dollars in millions)

Expected Maturity Date

After Fair

2003 2004 2005 2006 2007 2007 Total Value

Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit
Agreement

Scheduled amortizatior $ 3 $ 3 $ 3 $ 88 $ 3 $284 $ 384 $384
Average interest rate (. 4.0&% 4.048% 4.048% 4.0&% 4.0&% 4.048% 4.04&%
Interest rate swap
Scheduled amortizatior $ 70 $ 15 $ 45 $10C $— $10C $33C $(22)
Average pay rate (< 5.72% 5.72% 5.8(% 5.9(% 5.9(% 5.65% 5.7%

Average receive rate (. 3.11% 3.25% 3.5&% 5.3¢% 5.34% 8.8&% 4.02%

(1) Variable rate specified is based on the LIBOR caitan alternative base rate plus a calculated martgDctober 31, 200

(2) The average pay rate is based upon the fixed watasere scheduled to pay at October 31, 2002, akétigone additional agreement
where we pay the LIBOR rate plus 3.8:

(3) The average receive rate is based upon the LIB@HR mee were scheduled to receive at October 312,200ng with one additional
agreement where we receive a fixed rate of 8.87H%.rates presented are not intended to projeatxpectations for the futur

Based on a sensitivity analysis performed by thenterparties at October 31, 2002, a 100 basis jpaintase in interest rates would
improve the fair value of the swap agreementsliabdlity of $17.6
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Item 7A.  Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures abouMarket Risk (concluded)

million. Conversely, a 100 basis point decreasaterest rates would result in a fair value liailbf $24.6 million.
Foreign Currency Risk

As a result of our acquisition of Van Leer IndusitiPackaging, our operating income is subjectuctfiations in foreign currency
exchange rates. The geographic presence of ouatoges mitigates this exposure to some degree.tidadily, our transaction exposure is
somewhat limited because we produce and sell arityagd our products within each country in whictewperate.

We have entered into foreign currency forward cts to hedge certain short-term intercompany kedances among our foreign
businesses. At October 31, 2002, we had contratssamding of $25.6 million. The fair value of thesontracts at October 31, 2002 resulted
in a loss of $0.1 million. Each of these contrdedges the exposure of the euro against the fltiotuaf various other currencies. A
sensitivity analysis to changes in the euro agaireste other currencies indicates that if the emiformly weakened by 10% against all of the
hedged currency exposures, the fair value of thresseuments would decrease by $2.5 million. Coreigrsf the euro uniformly strengthened
by 10% against all of the hedged currency expostiedair value of these instruments would incedag $2.3 million. Any resulting changes
in fair value would be offset by changes in theenhdng hedged balance sheet position. The seitgiimalysis assumes a parallel shift in
foreign currency exchange rates. The assumptidrettdnange rates change in parallel fashion maystate the impact of changing excha
rates on assets and liabilities denominated irgido currency.

Commodity Price Risk

Our operating income is potentially affected tagmgicant degree by fluctuations in the cost of caw materials and energy (see “Safe
Harbor Statement Under the Private Securities afitign Reform Act of 1995”). We do not have longrtesupply contracts or hedging
arrangements in place for obtaining our princijpa¥ materials. In general, we do not use derivatisguments to hedge against fluctuations
in commaodity prices.
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Iltem 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Data

Net sales
Gain on sale of timberlar
Other income, ne

Cost of products sol

Selling, general and administrative exper

Restructuring charg
Debt extinguishment charg
Interest expense, n

Income before income taxes, minority interest toime of consolidated subsidiaries and eqt

in earnings of affiliate
Income taxe:

Income before minority interest in income of coidaied subsidiaries and equity in earnings

affiliates

Minority interest in income of consolidated subaiiks
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of t

Net income

Basic earnings per shal
Class A Common Stoc
Class B Common Stoc

Diluted earnings per shar
Class A Common Stoc
Class B Common Stoc

GREIF BROS. CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF INCOME
(Dollars in thousands, except per share amounts)

For the years ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
$1,632,76  $1,456,000  $963,95
12,12: 79,66 9,25¢
7,83 6,35¢ 4,872
1,652,721  1542,02 978,08
1,296,95  1,152,61 737,48
250,75 204,71 128,30
2,82 11,53¢ ]
10,30 — —
55,96 45,14¢ 11,84:
1,616,79 141401 877,62
35,92 128,006 100,45
12,93¢ 48,51 38,02
22,99 79,49: 62,42;
(840) (594) —
8,82+ 9,87¢ 13,36
$ 3097¢ $ 8877¢ $ 7579
$ 11C $ 314 $ 268
$ 164 $ 47C $ 401
$ 11 $ 314 $ 267
$ 164 $ 47C $ 401

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidt®iEents.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

GREIF BROS. CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands)

As of October 31,
2002 2001
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSET¢
Cash and cash equivalel $ 25,39¢ $ 29,72
Trade accounts receivable-less allowance of
$9,857 in 2002 and $10,596 in 2( 274,22: 282,98:
Inventories 144,32( 123,36:
Deferred tax asst 3,652 9,697
Net assets held for se 13,94t 12,53(
Prepaid expenses and otl 48,28¢ 45,90
509,82: 504,19¢
LONG-TERM ASSETS
Goodwill—less accumulated amortizati 232,57 236,62:
Other intangible asse—less accumulated amortizati 28,99¢ 33,17¢
Investment in affiliate: 149,82( 144,07:
Other lon¢-term asset 45,06( 44,28:
456,45t 458,15!
PROPERTIES, PLANTS AND EQUIPMEN
Timber propertie—less depletiol 81,38( 74,85
Land 84,27: 81,04¢
Buildings 244,96° 235,98(
Machinery and equipme 748,18: 689,63°
Capital projects in progre: 26,04 43,20(
1,184,84. 1,124,711
Accumulated depreciatic (392,826 (315,879
792,01¢ 808,83

$1,758,29! $1,771,18:

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidt®ents.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

GREIF BROS. CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(Dollars in thousands)

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY

CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payabl
Accrued payroll and employee bene
Restructuring reserve
Shor-term borrowings
Current portion of lon-term debt
Other current liabilitie:

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Long-term deb
Deferred tax liability
Postretirement benefit liabilit
Other lon¢-term liabilities

MINORITY INTEREST

SHAREHOLDERS EQUITY

Common stock, without par vali

Treasury stock, at co

Retained earning

Accumulated other comprehensive Ic
—foreign currency translatic
—interest rate derivative
—minimum pension liability

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidt®ents.

As of October 31,

2002

2001

135,19:  $ 117,11
48,97: 27,60«
2,30( 15,10¢
20,00¢ 16,53:
3,00( 43,14(
72,10 74,01¢
281,57: 293,51¢
629,98: 654,37
135,57° 124,34¢
47,13: 50,02
93,55¢ 62,01
906,24¢ 890,76:
1,34¢ 56¢
11,97« 10,44¢
(61,13() (58,81
687,20 671,91
(33,726 (21,379
(15,60 (13,07)
(19,59 (2,756)
569,12¢ 586,34
$1,758,29'  $1,771,18



Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

GREIF BROS. CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(Dollars in thousands)

Cash flows from operating activitie

Net income

Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciation, depletion and amortizat
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of dividendzeived
Minority interest in income of consolidated subariis
Deferred income taxe
Gain on disposals of properties, plants and equipymet

Increase (decrease) in cash from changes in cersaits and liabilities, net of effects from

acquisitions

Trade accounts receivat
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and ot
Other lon¢-term asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued payroll and employee bene
Restructuring reserve
Other current liabilitie:
Postretirement benefit liabilit
Other lon¢-term liabilities

Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows from investing activitie
Acquisitions of companies, net of cash acqu
Disposals of investments in government secur
Purchases of properties, plants and equipt
Proceeds on disposals of properties, plants anipreguat

Net cash used in investing activit|

Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of I-term debr
Payments on lor-term debt
Proceeds from (payments on) s-term borrowings
Debt issuance cos
Acquisitions of treasury stoc
Exercise of stock optior
Dividends paic

Net cash (used in) provided by financing activi
Effects of exchange rates on ci

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

For the years ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
$ 30,97¢ $ 88,77« $ 75,79
97,47 81,50’ 45,22:
(6,527) (7,00) (10,979
84C 56C —
9,50¢ 29,12; 13,54¢
(13,38)) (84,667) (502)
8,76( (7,619 5,10¢
(20,957 23,52¢ 7,96¢
(7,382) 24,24: 1,95¢
7,92¢ 12,20: 6,57¢
18,07¢ (15,732 (1,626
21,37 (776) 1,067
(12,809) (4,247) (5,157
(1,915) (28,541 (15,709
(2,897) 3,31¢ (1,059
17,97( 447 (4,979
147,02 115,11¢ 117,22¢
— (312,89:) —
— — 5,31¢
(57,469  (132,21) (78,839
21,96( 92,40: 4,67:
(35,509 (352,70  (68,84)
663,25 760,00 —
(741,020  (464,54) (23,000
3,47: (7,062) —
(14,747 (16,25/) —
(2,45¢) (924) (4,965
1,66¢ 69 19C
(15,697) (15,159 (14,619
(105,52:) 256,12 (42,39
(10,329 (2,210) (1,532
(4,324) 16,33: 4,45:
29,72( 13,38¢ 8,93¢
$ 2539¢ $ 29,72( $ 13,38¢

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidt®ients.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

GREIF BROS. CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
(Dollars and shares in thousands, except per shasmounts)

As of November 1, 199
Net income

Capital Stock

Treasury Stock

Accumulated

Other comprehensive loss — foreign

currency translatio
Comprehensive incorr

Dividends paid (Note 8
Class A— $0.52
Class B— $0.77

Treasury shares acquir

Stock options exercise

As of October 31, 200
Net income
Other comprehensive los
-foreign currency translatic
-interest rate derivative

-minimum pension liability adjustme

Comprehensive incon

Dividends paid (Note 8
Class A— $0.54
Class B— $0.80

Treasury shares acquir

Stock options exercise

As of October 31, 200
Net income
Other comprehensive los
-foreign currency translatic
-interest rate derivative

-minimum pension liability adjustme

Comprehensive los

Dividends paid (Note 8
Class A— $0.56
Class B— $0.83

Treasury shares acquir

Stock options exercise

As of October 31, 200

Oth
Retained Comprer?(rensiw Shareholders’
Shares Amount Shares Amount Earnings Loss Equity
22,527  $10,207 15,89¢  $(52,940) $537,12t $ (6,411 $ 487,98:
75,79¢ 75,79¢
(1,865 (1,865
73,92¢
(5,499 (5,499
(9,127 (9,127
(162) 162 (4,969 (4,96
7 17€ (7 14 19C
22,37, $10,38: 16,05( $(57,89) $598,30: $ (8,276 $ 542,51«
88,77« 88,77«
(13,102 (13,109
(13,079 (13,079
(2,756 (2,756
59,84t
(5,682) (5,682)
(9,475 (9,475
(35) 35 (924 (924)
3 63 ©) 6 69
22,33¢ $10,44¢ 16,08: $(58,817) $671,91° $ (37,20) $ 586,34t
30,97¢ 30,97¢
(12,349 (12,349
(2,530) (2,530
(16,83¢) (16,83¢)
(735)
(5,910 (5,910
(9,789 (9,782
(80) 80 (2,45¢) (2,45¢)
66 1,52¢ (66) 14C 1,66¢
22,32 $11,97¢ 16,09¢  $(61,13() $687,20: $ (68,919 $ 569,12

See accompanying Notes to Consolidated Financidt®ients.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

GREIF BROS. CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

NOTE 1 — DESCRIPTION OF BUSINESS AND SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
The Business

Greif Bros. Corporation and subsidiaries (the “Camy) principally manufacture industrial shippingntainers and containerboard and
corrugated products that it sells to customersamyrindustries throughout the world. In March 20@i&, Company acquired Van Leer
Industrial Packaging (see Note 2), which signifibaimcreased the operations of the Company. Tha@my has 173 operating locations in
over 40 countries. In addition, the Company ownmbgr properties in the southeastern United Staté<anada, which are harvested and
regenerated.

Due to the variety of its products, the Companyrasy customers buying different types of its peidand, due to the scope of the
Company’s sales, no one customer is consideredipahin the total operations of the Company.

Because the Company supplies a cross section o$tinels, such as chemicals, food products, petmlewducts, pharmaceuticals and
metal products, and must make spot deliveries @ayato-day basis as its products are requiredsbgustomers, the Company does not
operate on a backlog to any significant extentraaghtains only limited levels of finished goods. tWecustomers place their orders weekly
for delivery during the week.

The Company’s raw materials are principally stesdjns, paper, waste paper for recycling and putyglvo
There are approximately 9,800 employees of the Gmyjat October 31, 2002.
Fiscal Year

The Company'’s fiscal year begins on November lams on October 31 of the following year. Any referes to the year 2002, 2001
or 2000, or to any quarter of those years relatésd fiscal year ending in that year.

Basis of Consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include te®ants of Greif Bros. Corporation and its subsidi& All intercompany transactions
and balances have been eliminated in consolidation.
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)
Use of Estimates

The preparation of consolidated financial statesi@ntonformity with accounting principles geneyakccepted in the United States
requires management to make certain estimatesssudngtions that affect the amounts reported ictimsolidated financial statements and
accompanying notes. The most significant estimateselated to the allowance for doubtful accountgntory reserves, expected useful
lives assigned to properties, plants and equipngemaiiwill and other intangible assets, restructureserves, environmental liabilities,
pension and postretirement benefits, income tamdsantingencies. Actual amounts could differ frihrose estimates.

Revenue Recognition

In December 1999, the Securities and Exchange Cssioni staff issued Staff Accounting Bulletin (“SABNo. 101, “Revenue
Recognition in Financial Statements.” SAB No. 10tttier defines the basic principles of revenue gaitin and was adopted by the
Company during 2001. The Company recognizes revetea title passes to customers or services hase tendered, with appropriate
provision for returns and allowances. The adoptib8AB No. 101 did not have a material effect om @ompany’s consolidated financial
statements.

Shipping and Handling Fees and Costs
The Company includes shipping and handling feescasts in cost of products sold.
Income Taxes

Income taxes are accounted for under Statemerinah€ial Accounting Standards (“SFAS”) No. 109, taeinting for Income Taxes.”
In accordance with this Statement, deferred tagtasmd liabilities are recognized for the futie tonsequences attributable to differences
between the financial statement carrying amountexisting assets and liabilities and their respediix bases, as measured by enacted tax
rates that are expected to be in effect in theoderivhen the deferred tax liabilities and asseteapected to be settled or realized.

Cash and Cash Equivalents

The Company considers highly liquid investmentdwit original maturity of three months or less éochsh and cash equivalents.
Included in these amounts are repurchase agreewfed@s4 million in 2002 ($1.9 million in 2001).

Concentration of Credit Risk

Financial instruments that potentially subject @mmpany to significant concentrations of credik gensist primarily of trade accounts
receivable. Such credit risk is considered by manent to be

52



Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

limited due to the Company’s many customers, ndrvehich are considered principal in the total opierss of the Company, doing business
in a variety of industries throughout the world.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost or mtarincipally on the first-in, first-out basispfa@roximately 57% of consolidated
inventories). The Company also utilizes the lasfiist-out basis (approximately 43% of consolidbiteventories) for most locations in the
United States. The inventories are comprised d@vislat October 31 (Dollars in thousands):

2002 2001
Finished good $ 38,93¢ $ 40,88:
Raw materials and wo-in-process 137,62: 117,49:

176,56 158,37
Reduction to state inventories on last-in,
first-out basis (32,249 (35,009

$144,32( $123,36:

Properties, Plants and Equipment
Properties, plants and equipment are stated at cost

Depreciation on properties, plants and equipmeptdsided on the straight-line method over theneated useful lives of the assets as
follows:

Years
Buildings 30-45
Machinery and equipme 3-19

Depreciation expense was $78.5 million in 2002,.868illion in 2001 and $37.3 million in 2000. Expkiures for repairs and maintenance
are charged to expense as incurred.

Depletion on timber properties is computed on thgidof cost and the estimated recoverable timizprised.

When properties are retired or otherwise disposgethe cost and accumulated depreciation are etitathfrom the asset and related
allowance accounts. Gains or losses are creditedarged to income as incurred.

Net Assets Held for Sale

Net assets held for sale represent land, buildamgisland improvements less accumulated deprecididncations that have been
closed, primarily as a result of the restructugitans in the Industrial Packaging & Services segr(gae Note 5). As of both October 31,
2002 and 2001, there were 14 locations held far. Sdie net sales and loss before
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

income tax benefit of these locations were $11llianiand $0.2 million, respectively, during 200he net sales and loss before income tax
benefit of these locations were $35.6 million afdB%nillion, respectively, during 2001. The effe€suspending depreciation on the facilit
held for sale is immaterial to the results of oierss. The net assets held for sale have beenl listesale and it is the Company’s intention to
complete the sales within the upcoming year.

Internal Use Software

Internal use software is accounted for under Stat¢mf Position 98-1, “Accounting for the CostsGdmputer Software Developed or
Obtained for Internal Use.” Internal use softwarsaftware that is acquired, internally developethodified solely to meet the entity’s needs
and for which, during the software’s developmentadification, a plan does not exist to marketsbfware externally. Costs incurred to
develop the software during the application develept stage and for upgrades and enhancementstivadgadditional functionality are
capitalized.

Gooduwill and Other Intangible Assets

Goodwill is amortized on a straight-line basis ot&ror 25 years. The cost of acquired intangibsetsis amortized on a straight-line
basis over their estimated economic lives of 23g@&ars. The weighted average period of goodwdliatangible assets amortization is 23
years. Amortization expense was $16.0 million i020513.1 million in 2001 and $7.0 million in 2008ccumulated amortization was $4°
million at October 31, 2002 ($31.2 million at Octot31, 2001).

The Company'’s policy is to periodically review gsodwill, other intangible assets and other Itingd assets based upon the evalue
of such factors as the occurrence of a signifiealverse event or change in the environment in wiietbusiness operates, or if the expected
future net cash flows (undiscounted and withowrest) would become less than the carrying amaduhiecasset. An impairment loss would
be recorded in the period such determination iseteded on the fair value of the related businesses

Derivative Financial Instruments

On November 1, 2000, the Company adopted SFAS 8R).“Accounting for Derivative Instruments and HedpActivities,” as
amended by SFAS No. 137, “Accounting for Derivatinstruments and Hedging Activities—Deferral of taective Date of FASB
Statement No. 133,” and SFAS No. 138, “AccountiogGertain Derivative Instruments and Certain HaddActivities.” These statements
require that all derivatives be recorded in thebe¢ sheet as either assets or liabilities andunedsat fair value. Dependent on the
designation of the derivative instrument, changesir value are recorded to earnings or sharehsiléguity through other comprehensive
income (loss).
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

The Company uses interest rate swap agreemerntstioicash flow hedging and fair value hedging psegso For derivative instruments
that hedge the exposure of variability in interasés, designated as cash flow hedges, the e#ggtistion of the net gain or loss on the
derivative instrument is reported as a componewotlér comprehensive income (loss) and reclassifiedearnings in the same period or
periods during which the hedged transaction affeatsings. For derivative instruments that hedgeettposure to changes in the fair value of
fixed rate debt, designated as fair value hed@pesnét gain or loss on the derivative instrumentyall as the offsetting gain or loss on the
fixed rate debt attributable to the hedged risk,racorded in current period earnings.

Interest rate swap agreements that hedge agamsbiity in interest rates effectively convert arfion of floating rate debt to a fixed
rate basis, thus reducing the impact of interd@stehanges on future interest expense. The Comyses/the “variable cash flow method” for
assessing the effectiveness of these swaps. Téetieéness of these swaps is reviewed at leasy euarter. Hedge ineffectiveness is not
material. The Company has outstanding one intea¢stswap agreement to convert a portion of fixed debt to a floating rate basis, thus
hedging for changes in the fair value of the fixatd debt being hedged. The Company has deterrthiaéthis interest rate swap agreement,
designated as a fair value hedge, qualifies fattnent under the short-cut method of measuring®fness. Under the provisions of SFAS
No. 133, this hedge is determined tc“perfectly effective”, and there is no requiremémperiodically evaluate effectiveness.

The Company enters into foreign currency forwandtiarts to hedge certain short-term intercompaag ksansactions with its foreign
businesses. Such contracts limit the Company’s @xgato both favorable and unfavorable currenostdiations. These contracts are adjusted
to reflect market value as of each balance sheet déth the resulting changes in fair value baiegognized in other income, net.

Any derivative contract that is either not desigasas a hedge, or is so designated but is ineféed adjusted to market value and
recognized in earnings immediately. If a fair vatwecash flow hedge ceases to qualify for hedgewting or is terminated, the contract
would continue to be carried on the balance shdairavalue until settled and future adjustmewtshie contract’s fair value would be
recognized in earnings immediately. If a forecastadsaction were no longer probable to occur, antspreviously deferred in accumulated
other comprehensive income (loss) would be receghimmediately in earnings.

Foreign Currency Translation

In accordance with SFAS No. 52, “Foreign CurrencgnBlation,” the assets and liabilities denominatefdreign currency are
translated into U.S. dollars at the current ratexathange existing at yeand, and revenues and expenses are translatezlatdfage month
exchange rates.
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The cumulative translation adjustments, which repnéthe effects of translating assets and ligdsliof the Company’s foreign
operations, are presented in the Consolidatedr8émits of Changes in Shareholders’ Equity in “Acclated Other Comprehensive Loss.”
The transaction gains and losses included in atleeme, net are immaterial.

The functional currency for foreign operations ighly inflationary economies is the U.S. dollardaany gains or losses are credited or
charged to income.

Earnings Per Share

The Company has two classes of common stock arslichs applies the “two-class method” of computiagnings per share as
prescribed in SFAS No. 128, “Earnings Per Shareddcordance with the Statement, earnings areaddiddirst to Class A and Class B
Common Stock to the extent that dividends are #lgtpaid and the remainder allocated assumingféate earnings for the period have been
distributed in the form of dividends.

The following is a reconciliation of the sharesdige calculate basic and diluted earnings per share

For the years ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
Class A Common Stocl

Basic earnings per she 10,555,21 10,523,47 10,557,93
Assumed conversion of stock optic 71,00: 26,60: 41,60(
Diluted earnings per sha 10,626,21 10,550,07 10,599,53

Class B Common Stoc
Basic and diluted earnings per sh 11,788,41 11,842,65 11,852,60

There are 645,400 options that are antidilutive2f@®?2 (1,172,248 for 2001 and 370,090 for 2000).
Environmental Cleanup Costs

The Company expenses environmental expendituratedeto existing conditions resulting from pastrent operations and from
which no current or future benefit is discernalilependitures that extend the life of the relatempprty or mitigate or prevent future
environmental contamination are capitalized. ThenBany determines its liability on a site-by-sitesisaand records a liability at the time
when it is probable and can be reasonably estimateal Company’s estimated liability is reducedefiact the anticipated participation of
other potentially responsible parties in thoseansées where it is probable that such parties gedlyeresponsible and financially capable of
paying their respective shares of the relevantscost

Reclassifications

Certain prior year amounts have been reclassifiedhform to the 2002 presentation.
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Recent Accounting Standards
Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets

In June 2001, the Financial Accounting Standardsr@¢‘FASB”) issued SFAS No. 141, “Business Combaorss,” and SFAS No. 142,
“Goodwill and Other Intangible Assets.” SFAS Noll#quires use of the purchase method for bustmabinations initiated after June 30,
2001. SFAS No. 142 requires that goodwill no longeamortized, but instead be periodically reviefeedmpairment. The provisions of
SFAS No. 142 are effective for fiscal years begigrafter December 15, 2001, or November 1, 2002hiCompany.

The application of the non-amortization provisi@fis$SFAS No. 142 will decrease amortization expdnsapproximately $11 million
and increase net income by approximately $9 millipon adoption in 2003. At this time, the effectla# impairment provisions provided by
SFAS No. 142 is not known.

Additionally, SFAS No. 141 requires that in a biesie combination in which the fair value of the amtets acquired exceeds cost, any
residual negative goodwill is recognized as anaaxttinary gain in the period in which the businem®bination is initially recognized. The
transition provisions of SFAS No. 141 require thabn adoption of SFAS No. 142, any existing negagigsodwill be adjusted as a cumula
effect of a change in accounting principal in then€blidated Statements of Income. In the first gpraosf 2003, the Company will record a
cumulative effect of a change in accounting prilecipr its remaining unamortized negative goodwithe Company’s recorded balance of
negative goodwill at October 31, 2002 was $4.8ianill

Impairment or Disposal of Lol-Lived Assets

In August 2001, the FASB issued SFAS No. 144, “Anting for the Impairment or Disposal of Long-LivAdsets.” SFAS No. 144
addresses the accounting and reporting for theirmpat or disposal of long-lived assets and suplas&FAS No. 121, “Accounting for the
Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-LivAdsets to Be Disposed of” and Accounting PrincifBeard Opinion (“APBQO”) No. 30,
“Reporting the Results of Operations—ReportingHiffects of Disposal of a Segment of a Business,Eatithordinary, Unusual and
Infrequently Occurring Events and Transactions. ASMNo. 144 establishes a single accounting moddbfay-lived assets to be disposed of
by sale and resolves implementation issues retat&#AS No. 121.

SFAS No. 144 is effective for financial statemenrssied for fiscal years beginning after Decembe2081, or November 1, 2002 for
the Company. The Company does not expect the aaoptithis Statement to have a material effect®ednsolidated financial statements.
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Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Activities

In June 2002, the FASB issued SFAS No. 146, “Actiogrfor Costs Associated with Exit or Disposal Kittes.” SFAS No. 146
addresses the accounting and reporting for costeided with exit or disposal activities and riigd Emerging Issues Task Force (“EITF”)
No. 94-3, “Liability Recognition for Certain Employee Teination Benefits and Other Costs to Exit an A¢yiyincluding Certain Costs
Incurred in a Restructuring).” SFAS No. 146 regsiieatities to recognize a liability for a cost asated with an exit or disposal activity when
the liability is incurred. Previously, under EITFON24-3, a liability for an exit cost was recogmizg the date of an entity’s commitment to an
exit plan.

SFAS No. 146 is effective for exit or disposal aitieés that are initiated after December 31, 200igh earlier application encouraged.
The Company will adopt this Statement at the bagmof its 2003 fiscal year (November 1, 2002). Twmpany does not expect the
adoption of this Statement to have a material effedts consolidated financial statements.

NOTE 2 — ACQUISITIONS AND OTHER INVESTMENTS
Van Leer Industrial Packaging Acquisition

On March 2, 2001, pursuant to the terms of a SRarehase Agreement dated October 27, 2000, as ahendlanuary 5 and February
28, 2001, between the Company and Huhtamaki Van Qgg a Finnish corporation (“Huhtamaki”), the Cpamny acquired all of the issued
share capital of Royal Packaging Industries Varr e¥., a Dutch limited liability company, HuhtanmdHoldings do Brasil Ltda., a Brazilit
limited liability company, Van Leer France Holdi§gA.S., a French limited liability company, Van ké&ontainers, Inc., a U.S. corporation,
and American Flange & Manufacturing Co., Inc., & torporation (collectively, “Van Leer IndustrRackaging”). Van Leer Industrial
Packaging was a worldwide provider of industriatigging and components, including steel, fibre pladtic drums, polycarbonate water
bottles, intermediate bulk containers and closystesns.

As consideration for the shares of Van Leer Indaisfackaging, the Company paid $555.0 million eesamount of Van Leer
Industrial Packaging’s debt and certain other atticns ($206.4 million) that were assumed by thenfany as of the closing date. In
addition, the Company paid $15.8 million in legatigprofessional fees related to the acquisitiore dtquisition was funded by long-term
debt borrowed against a $900 million Senior Sec@eatlit Agreement (see Note 6).

The acquisition of Van Leer Industrial Packagimgluded in operating results from the acquisitiated was accounted for using the
purchase method of accounting and, accordinglyptiiehase price was allocated to the assets pwdlzasl liabilities assumed based upon
their fair values at the date of acquisition. Taie ¥alues of the assets acquired and the liadslitissumed were $637.7 million and $425.5
million, respectively. Identifiable intangible atsewith a combined
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fair value of $34.1 million, including the Van Leademark, Tri-Sure Closures trademarks, paterdother proprietary information, and
certain noncompete agreements, have been recdrdeaxcess of the purchase price over the fairegadi the net tangible and intangible
assets acquired of $118.1 million was recordedasiwill.

Pro Forma Information

The following pro forma (unaudited) information as®es that the VVan Leer Industrial Packaging actioiishad occurred on November
1, 1999 (Dollars in thousands, except per shareuatsin

For the years ended

October 31,
2001 2000

Net sales $1,746,25!  $1,914,84i
Net income $ 72,798 $ 74,54¢
Basic earnings per shai

Class A Common Stoc $ 25¢ $ 2.6
Class B Common Stoc $ 3.8¢ $ 3.94
Diluted earnings per shar

Class A Common Stoc $ 2.57 $ 2.6%
Class B Common Stoc $ 38 $ 3.94

The amounts reflect adjustments for interest expealsited to the debt issued for the purchase,t@ation of goodwill and other
intangible assets and depreciation expense orettadued properties, plants and equipment.

The pro forma information, as presented abovepisiacessarily indicative of the results which wblidve been obtained had the
transaction occurred on November 1, 1999, norlaag hecessarily indicative of future results.

NOTE 3 — INVESTMENT IN AFFILIATES

The Company has investments in CorrChoice, IncoffChoice”) (63.24%), Socer-Embalagens, Lda. (2208nd Balmer Lawrie-Van
Leer (40.06%) that are accounted for on the equiyhod. In connection with the investment in Cowich, the Company entered into a joint
venture agreement, a voting agreement and otretecehgreements with the other stockholders of@wice. Under the voting agreement,
the Company can elect one-half of CorrChoice’s dadidirectors and the other stockholders can étecother half of the board of directors,
with no mechanism to break a board deadlock. Becatithis situation, the Company does not contairChoice. During the second quarter
of 2002, the Company’s investment in Abzac-Gre#.(0%) was sold for approximately $2 million, witgain of $0.1 million. The
Company'’s share of earnings of these affiliatesdkided in income as earned. The Company recalixedends from affiliates of $2.3
million in 2002, $2.9 million in 2001 and $2.4 nmih in 2000.
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The difference between the cost basis of the Cogipamvestment in the underlying equity of affikest of $4.4 million at October 31,
2002 ($4.8 million at October 31, 2001) is beingoatimed over 15 years. Upon adoption of SFAS N@ 44 November 1, 2002, this
difference will no longer be amortized.

CorrChoice manufactures corrugated sheets at dewations in the United States. The Company selfepto CorrChoice, which it
uses to produce corrugated sheets, and purchasagated sheets from CorrChoice, with all transadieffected at prevailing market prices.
Sales and purchases with CorrChoice were $59.8&m#ind $21.0 million in 2002, $71.7 million and3$2 million in 2001 and $81.4 million
and $26.0 million in 2000, respectively.

The summarized financial information below représehe financial position and results of operatioh€orrChoice (Dollars in
thousands):

As of and for the years ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
Current assel $ 140,12  $ 130,42
Long-term asset $ 107,10¢ $ 106,31:
Current liabilities $ 9472 $ 10,73¢
Long-term liabilities $ 8721 $ 8,96
Net sales $ 230,10° $ 284,53: $ 313,43!
Gross profit $ 34,94. $ 40,76 $ 46,21
Operating incom: $ 2364 $ 2567: $ 32,25(
Net income $ 15,78: $ 18,16 $ 22,69(

The summarized unaudited financial information betepresents the combined financial position asdlts of operations of the
Company’s 50% or less owned entities accountetyfdhe equity method (Dollars in thousands):

As of and for the years ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
Current assel $ 6,921 $ 11,91¢
Long-term asset $ 1518 $ 16,79:
Current liabilities $ 528 $ 9,53t
Long-term liabilities $ 961¢ $ 8,88
Net sales $ 12,76 $ 22,19+ $ 13,88
Gross profit $ 2528 $ 5681 $ 2.26(
Operating incom: $ 347 $ 2668 $ 2,34
Net income $ 46z % 445 % 274
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NOTE 4 — TIMBERLAND TRANSACTIONS

From time to time, the Company sells timber prapsrthat no longer fit into its business strateghave a higher and better use. In
addition, the Company periodically purchases tingyeperties that would enhance its long-term snatae yield strategy. Included in these
amounts are the following significant transactions.

Sale of Timber Properties

In December 2000, the Company sold certain hardvtioggerland for $44.4 million. As a result of thiansaction, the Company
recognized a gain of $43.0 million during the figstarter of 2001. In a related agreement, the Cosnpald other hardwood timberland for
$30.0 million in March 2001 and recognized an adddl gain of $27.7 million during the second geaxdf 2001.

A total of approximately 65,000 acres of timbergedies situated in Arkansas, Mississippi and Liania were sold as a result of these
transactions.

Purchase of Timber Properties

In December 2000, the Company purchased certaetpitberland for $42.8 million. In a related agreesrm) the Company purchased
other pine timberland for $43.1 million in March®0

A total of approximately 63,000 acres of timbergedies situated in Louisiana were purchased asultrof these transactions.
NOTE 5 — RESTRUCTURING RESERVES

During the second quarter of 2001, the Companyagar a plan to consolidate some of its locationsrdter to eliminate duplicate
facilities caused by the Van Leer Industrial Padkg@cquisition and improve operating efficiencésl capabilities. The plan was the result
of an indepth study to determine whether certain locatieitber existing or newly acquired, should be ofbard the sales and manufactu
volume associated with such plants relocated tiffereint facility. Six existing company-owned plastirum and steel drum plants were
identified to be closed. The plants are locatedanth America. In addition, certain redundant adstiative functions were identified to be
eliminated. As a result of this plan, during thes® quarter of 2001, the Company recognized ayprestructuring charge of $11.5 million,
consisting of $8.0 million in employee separatiosts (approximately 250 employees) and a $3.5anillbss on disposal of equipment and
facilities. Subsequent to the recognition of theestructuring charges, the Company recognized esqzerelated to additional costs to relocate
machinery and equipment and employees upon tharelaf these plants. The Company also recognizeadiditional $2.8 million pretax
restructuring charge during the fourth quarter@2, primarily as a result of an extension of giiem. The fourth quarter 2002 charge
consisted of $1.4 million in employee separatiosteomostly related to early retirement expensas aa$1.4 million loss
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on facilities that are currently in the procesdeing sold. It is the Company'’s intention to ské temainder of its facilities held for sale
during 2003.

The amounts added to and reduced from this restingtreserve during the years ended October 311 20d 2002 were as follows
(Dollars in thousands):

Balance a Balance a
10/31/00 Reductions 10/31/01
Cash charge:
Employee separation cos $ 8,00C $ (4,009 $ 3,991
Cash and nc-cash charge:
Other exit cost 3,53¢ (3,229 31z
$11,53¢ $ (7,23)) $ 4,30:
Balance a Balance a
10/31/01 Additions Reductions 10/31/02
Cash charge:
Employee separation cos $ 3991 $1441 $(543) $ —
Cash and nc-cash charge:
Other exit cost 312 1,38: (1,18¢) 50¢

$ 430 $282¢ $(661) $ 50¢

As of October 31, 2002, there were a total of 22@leyees that had been terminated and providedaese benefits under this
restructuring plan.

In addition, in connection with the March 2001 aisgiion of Van Leer Industrial Packaging from Hufmaki and the consolidation plan,
five facilities purchased as part of the acquisiti@ve been or will be closed. Four of these féediare owned by subsidiaries of the Com)
and one was leased. The facilities are locatedbinbiNAmerica, South America, United Kingdom andaB&cific. In addition, certain
redundant administrative functions have been elteid. Accordingly, the Company recognized a $19llfom restructuring liability in its
purchase price allocation related to these locatidhis liability was accounted for under EITF 196-3, “Recognition of Liabilities in
Connection with a Purchase Business Combinatione’ l@ability consisted of $16.5 million in employseparation costs (approximately 300
employees) and $3.2 million in other exit costse Tompany intends to sell the four company-owneditias during 2003, and the lease on
the remaining facility was terminated.
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The amounts reduced from this restructuring resdwing the years ended October 31, 2001 and 2@02 as follows (Dollars in

thousands):
Balance a Balance a
10/31/00 Reductions 10/31/01

Cash charge:

Employee separation cos $16,48C $ (6,962 $ 9,51¢

Cash and nc-cash charge:

Other exit cost 3,20: (1,919 1,28¢
$19,68: $ (8,877  $10,80¢
Balance a Balance a
10/31/01 Reductions 10/31/02

Cash charge:

Employee separation cos $ 9516 $ (7,721 % 1,791

Cash and nc-cash charge:

Other exit cost 1,28¢ (1,28¢) —
$10,80¢ $ (9,015 $ 1,791

As of October 31, 2002, there were a total of 284pleyees that had been terminated and providedaese benefits under this
restructuring plan. The Company anticipates thatr#imaining severance benefits will be paid dutirggfirst half of 2003.

NOTE 6 — LONG-TERM DEBT

Long-term debt is summarized as follows (Dollarghousands):

$550 million Amended and Restated Senior SecurediCAgreemen
8 7/8% Senior Subordinated No

$900 million Senior Secured Credit Agreem

Other deb

Less current portio

$550 million Amended and Restated Senior Secured €dit Agreement

On August 23, 2002, the Company, as U.S. borroared,Greif Spain Holdings, S.L., Greif Canada INMan Leer (UK) Ltd.,

October 31 October 31
2002 2001
$384,25( $ =
247,96: —
— 696,30¢
767 1,20¢
632,98 697,51
(3,000 (43,140
$629,98: $654,37-

Koninklijke Emballage Industrie Van Leer B.V. (dBayal Packaging Industries Van Leer B.V.), and Yaer Australia Pty. Limited, as non-
U.S. borrowers, entered into a $550 million Amendad Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreementansymdicate of lenders. A portion of

the proceeds from the Amended and
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Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreement was osedinance amounts outstanding under the Compdhgis existing $900 million Senior
Secured Credit Agreement. The Amended and Res&steibr Secured Credit Agreement provides for a $80ion term loan and a $250
million revolving multicurrency credit facility. Tédrevolving multicurrency credit facility is avdilke for working capital and general
corporate purposes. The term loan periodically ceduhrough its maturity date of August 23, 2008 tre revolving multicurrency credit
facility matures on February 28, 2006.

The Company is required to pay a commitment fed eaarter equal to 0.250% to 0.500% of the totaisaad revolver commitment
amount, based upon the Company’s leverage ratiexdst is based on either a LIBOR rate or an alter@ base rate that resets periodically
plus a calculated margin amount. At October 3122€e Company had $384.3 million outstanding urtderAmended and Restated Senior
Secured Credit Agreement with a weighted averaggdst rate of 4.04%. The amounts outstanding #sas/¢he base rates and margins, at
October 31, 2002, were as follows (Dollars in trengs):

Amount Base Rat Margin
Term Loan C $299,25( 1.7¢% 2.25%
Multicurrency revolver $ 80,00( 1.7¢% 2.25%
$ 5,00C 4.7%% 1.25%

The Amended and Restated Senior Secured CredieAmget contains certain covenants, which includanfaial covenants that require
the Company to maintain a certain leverage ratmjramum coverage of interest expense and fixedgdsand a minimum net worth. At
October 31, 2002, the Company was in complianchk thikse covenants. The repayment of this facBityeicured by a first lien on
substantially all of the personal property andaiarof the real property of Greif Bros. Corporatemd its U.S. subsidiaries and, in part, by the
capital stock of the non-U.S. borrowers and angredmpany notes payable to them. Standard & PaodsMoody’s Investors Service have
assigned a “BB” rating and a “Ba3” rating, respedliy, to the loan obligations of the Company untierAmended and Restated Senior
Secured Credit Agreement.

The $250 million revolving multicurrency credit fhity was also used to issue letters of creditQ%tober 31, 2002, the Company had
outstanding $20.0 million in letters of credit. Tdpearterly fronting fee related to these lettersrefit was 0.125% of the outstanding amount
plus a calculated margin (2.25% at October 31, p@f¥Zhe use of this facility.

8 7/8% Senior Subordinated Notes

On July 31, 2002, the Company issued Senior Subatelil Notes in the aggregate principal amount 60%gillion, receiving net
proceeds of approximately $248 million before exggm Interest on the Senior
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Subordinated Notes is payable semi-annually aatimeial rate of 8 7/8%. The Senior Subordinated $Ndtenot have required principal
payments prior to maturity on August 1, 2012. Hoerethe Senior Subordinated Notes are redeemabie afption of the Company
beginning August 1, 2007, at the redemption prasgorth below (expressed as percentages of pahamount), plus accrued interest, if
any, to the redemption date:

Year Redemption Price
2007 104.438%
2008 102.958%
2009 101.479%
2010 and thereaftt 100.000%

In addition, prior to August 1, 2007, the Compargymedeem the Senior Subordinated Notes by payspgeified “make-whole”
premium.

The net proceeds from the Senior Subordinated Nsgesnce were utilized to repay indebtedness uhdeCompany’s $900 million
Senior Secured Credit Agreement and fees paidrinextion with the offering. The fair value of therfior Subordinated Notes was
approximately $259 million at October 31, 2002,dzhen quoted market prices. The trust indentursyaumt to which the Senior Subordine
Notes were issued contains certain covenants. &gl@c 31, 2002, the Company was in compliance thiéise covenant

A description of the guarantees of the Senior Sdibated Notes by the Company’s U.S. subsidiariéscisided in Note 16.
$900 million Senior Secured Credit Agreement

On March 2, 2001, the Company and Greif Spain hhgjsli S.L. had entered into a $900 million Seniaused Credit Agreement with
syndicate of lenders. A portion of the proceedmftbe Senior Secured Credit Agreement was useaghtbthe Van Leer Industrial Packaging
acquisition and to refinance amounts outstandirdputhe Company’s then existing revolving credilfey. The Senior Secured Credit
Agreement provided for three term loans, a $150anilJ.S. Dollar Term Loan A, a $200 million Eur@im Loan A and a $400 million U.S.
Dollar Term Loan B, and a $150 million revolving licurrency credit facility. The revolving multictency credit facility was available for
working capital and general corporate purposes.

The Term Loan A (both U.S. dollar and euro) andhTépban B were to amortize quarterly through theurit dates of February 28,
2006 and February 29, 2008, respectively. The wwgimulticurrency credit facility was to mature Bebruary 28, 2006. However, during
2002, the $900 million Senior Secured Credit Agreethwas refinanced using proceeds from the AmendddRestated Senior Secured
Credit Agreement and the Senior Subordinated Notes.
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During 2002, the Company incurred a non-cash deiguishment charge of $10.3 million related te #xtinguishment of the
indebtedness outstanding under the Senior Secusstit@greement. The Company has early adopted S¥A3 45, “Rescission of FASB
Statements No. 4, 44, and 64, Amendment of FASB®@nt No. 13, and Technical CorrectiorSFAS No. 145 rescinds SFAS No. 4, wt
required all gains and losses from extinguishméndiebt to be aggregated and, if material, clagbifie an extraordinary item, net of the rel
income tax effect. As such, the debt extinguishncbarge has been presented as a component of inmefiore income taxes, minority
interest in income of consolidated subsidiaries equity in earnings of affiliates.

The Company was required to pay a commitment fek gqaarter equal to 0.375% to 0.500% of the tatalsed revolver commitment
amount, based upon the Company’s leverage ratiexrdst was based either on a LIBOR rate or anrdtise base rate that reset periodically
plus a calculated margin amount. At October 31,12€@e Company had $696.3 million outstanding urntderSenior Secured Credit
Agreement with a weighted average interest rate%(%. The amounts outstanding, as well as theda¢se and margins, at October 31,
2001, were as follows (U.S. dollars and euros qu#ands):

Amount Base Rat Margin
Term Loan A (U.S. dollar $131,52¢ 2.21% 2.5(%
Term Loan A (euro €187,66( 3.5% 2.5(%
Term Loan B $377,25¢ 2.271% 3.25%
Multicurrency revolve! $ 20,00( 2.3%% 2.5(%

The $150 million revolving multicurrency credit ity was also used to issue letters of creditO%tober 31, 2001, the Company had
outstanding $13.0 million in letters of credit. Tepgarterly fronting fee related to these lettersrefit was 0.125% of the outstanding amount
plus a calculated margin (2.50% at October 31, p@frithe use of this facility.

Other

In addition to the amounts borrowed against the Adee and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agreemdrtha Senior Subordinated
Notes, the Company had outstanding debt of $20l8micomprised of $0.8 million in lor-term debt and $20.0 million in short-term
borrowings at October 31, 2002. At October 31, 2604 Company had outstanding debt of $17.7 milleamprised of $1.2 million in long-
term debt and $16.5 million in short-term borrovann addition to the amounts borrowed againsStheior Secured Credit Agreement.

Annual maturities of the Company’s long-term delet $3.0 million in 2003, $3.0 million in 2004, $31llion in 2005, $88.0 million in
2006, $3.0 million in 2007 and $533.0 million thiter.
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At October 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had aefdinancing fees and debt issuance costs of $hdlibn and $14.5 million,
respectively, which are included in other long-terssets.

During 2002, the Company paid $41.1 million of net& ($44.8 million in 2001 and $16.6 million in(W) related to its long-term
obligations. Interest of $0.5 million in 2002, $2xllion in 2001 and $2.5 million in 2000 was cabited.

Non-Cancelable Operating Leases

The Company has entered into non-cancelable opgrigases fobuildings, trucks and computer equipment. Durin@2Q@he Compar
sold a building to a subsidiary of CorrChoice f@Smillion. Concurrently with the sale, the Compamtered into a lease-back arrangement
for the building. The $0.2 million gain on the satensaction has been deferred over the term déttee. The resulting 10-year lease is
accounted for as an operating lease and is inclidedure minimum lease payments. The future minimease payments for the non-
cancelable operating leases are $14.7 million 08213.1 million in 2004, $11.3 million in 2009.% million in 2006, $7.2 million in 2007
and $19.5 million thereafter. Rent expense was4s@illion in 2002, $20.5 million in 2001 and $14rfllion in 2000.

NOTE 7 — FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

The Company had interest rate swap agreementsawidtygregate notional amount of $330 million atoBet 31, 2002 with various
maturities through 2012. Under most of these agestsnthe Company receives interest quarterly fiencounterparties equal to the LIBOR
rate and pays interest at a weighted average f&®% over the life of the contracts. The Compengiso party to an agreement in which
the Company receives interest semi-annually fraenctbunterparty equal to a fixed rate of 8.875% @angs interest based on the LIBOR rate
plus 3.83%. At October 31, 2002, a net liability fioe loss on interest rate swap contracts, whephasented their fair values at that time, in
the amount of $21.1 million ($13.5 million, nettak) was recorded.

The Company had interest rate swap agreementsawittygregate notional amount of $320 million andREB5 million at October 31,
2001, with various maturities through 2008. Under agreements, the Company received interest glydram the counterparty equal to the
LIBOR rate and paid interest quarterly to the ceuypdrty at a weighted average rate of 5.56%. AbEt31, 2001, a net liability for the loss
on interest rate swap contracts, which represahtdfair values at that time, in the amount of $2million ($13.1 million, net of tax) was
recorded.

At October 31, 2002, the Company had outstandingida currency forward contracts in the notionabamt of $25.6 million ($33.4
million in 2001). The fair value of these contraatsOctober 31, 2002 resulted in a loss of $0.1ianigain of $0.3 million in 2001). The
purpose of these
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contracts is to hedge short-term intercompany ldances with its foreign businesses.

While the Company may be exposed to credit logsése event of nonperformance by the counterpaiiés derivative financial
instrument contracts, its counterparties are dstadd banks and financial institutions with highdit ratings. The Company has no reason to
believe that such counterparties will not be abléutly satisfy their obligations under these cants.

The fair values of all derivative financial instrants are estimated based on current settlemeispsfccomparable contracts obtained
from dealer quotes. The values represent the estthaanounts the Company would pay or receive titete the agreements at the repor
date.

The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivaltate receivables, accounts payable, currentiligsiland short-term borrowings at
October 31, 2002 and 2001 approximate their fdirevdecause of the short-term maturities of thiesaes.

The estimated fair value of the Company'’s ldagn debt was $643.8 million and $697.5 milliorcampared to the carrying amounts
$633.0 million and $697.5 million at October 3102Gand 2001, respectively. The fair value of thenfany’s long-term obligations is
estimated based on either the quoted market piocebe same or similar issues and the currentésteates offered for debt of the same
remaining maturities.

NOTE 8 — CAPITAL STOCK

Class A Common Stock is entitled to cumulative didrids of one cent a share per year after whicrs@aSommon Stock is entitled to
non-cumulative dividends up to a half cent a slp@reyear. Further distribution in any year mustrise in proportion of one cent a share for
Class A Common Stock to one and a half cents a&gbacClass B Common Stock. The Class A Commonk3tas no voting rights unless
four quarterly cumulative dividends upon the ClasSommon Stock are in arrears. The Class B ComntockShas full voting rights. There
is no cumulative voting for the election of direto

The following table summarizes the Company’s cagiiack, without par value (Class A and Class B emm shares), and treasury
shares at the specified dates:

Authorized Issued Outstanding Treasury
Shares Shares Shares Shares
October 31, 2002
Class A Common Stoc 32,000,00 21,140,96 10,562,36 10,578,59
Class B Common Stoc 17,280,00 17,280,00 11,762,85 5,517,14
October 31, 2001
Class A Common Stoc 32,000,00 21,140,96! 10,516,19 10,624,76
Class B Common Stoc 17,280,00 17,280,00 11,822,85 5,457,14.
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NOTE 9 — STOCK OPTIONS

In 2001, the Company adopted the 2001 ManagemarityHgcentive and Compensation Plan (the “200hBlarhe provisions of the
2001 Plan allow the awarding of incentive and natifjed stock options and restricted and perforngasitares of Class A Common Stock to
key employees. The maximum number of shares thattmassued each year is determined by a formalatétikes into consideration the total
number of shares outstanding and is also subjexrtain limits. In addition, the maximum numbeiirafentive stock options that will be
issued under the 2001 Plan during its term is 2(Eshares.

Prior to 2001, the Company had adopted a Nonstgt&twck Option Plan (the “2000 Plan”) that provddbe discretionary granting of
nonstatutory options to key employees, and an theeStock Option Plan (the “Option Plan”) that pies the discretionary granting of
incentive stock options to key employees and nouistey options for non-employees. The aggregatebarrof the Company’s Class A
Common Stock options that may be granted unde2@@ Plan and Option Plan may not exceed 200,08@stand 1,000,000 shares,
respectively.

Under the terms of the 2001 Plan, the 2000 Plarttan®ption Plan, stock options are granted atasseiprices equal to the market
value of the common stock on the date options eBtgd and become exercisable two years afterodigeant. Options expire 10 years after
date of grant.

The Directors’ Stock Option Plan (the “Directorda®’) provides the granting of stock options tcediors who are not employees of the
Company. The aggregate number of the Company’s@a3ommon Stock options that may be granted magxeeed 100,000 shares.
Under the terms of the DirectoBlan, options are granted at exercise prices équhké market value of the common stock on the dat®ns
are granted and become exercisable immediatelyo@péxpire 10 years after date of grant.

In 2002, 454,200 stock options were granted urttef001 Plan with option prices of $26.20 per shdreler the Directors’ Plan,
10,000 options were granted to outside directotl aption prices of $33.95 per share.

In 2001, 444,800 stock options were granted urtte2001 Plan with option prices ranging from $3G&%$33.98 per share. Under the
Directors’ Plan, 10,000 options were granted teiolgt directors with option prices of $27.38 perrsha

In 2000, 142,000 stock options and 163,730 stotiowep were granted under the Option Plan and 2089, Respectively, at option
prices ranging from $27.75 to $32.00 per share.ddtfie Directors’ Plan, 10,000 options were gramdedutside directors with option prices
of $29.88 per share.

The Company applies APBO No. 25, “Accounting foocktIssued to Employees,” and related interpratatia accounting for its stock
option plans. If compensation cost would have lotermined based on the fair values at the dageaoft under SFAS No. 123, “Accounting
for Stock-Based
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Compensation,” pro forma net income and earningsipare would have been as follows (Dollars in Hamuls, except per share amounts):

Net income

Basic earnings per shai
Class A Common Stoc
Class B Common Stoc
Diluted earnings per shar
Class A Common Stoc
Class B Common Stoc

For the years ended

October 31,

2002 2001 2000
$28,667 $86,56¢  $73,99(
$ 10z $ 3.06 $ 262
$ 1.5z $ 45¢ $ 3.91
$ 1.0z $ 3.0¢ $ 2.61
$ 1.5z $ 4.5¢ $ 3.91

The fair value for each option is estimated ondate of grant using the Blackeholes option pricing model, as allowed under SR&S

123, with the following assumptions:

Dividend yield
Volatility rate
Risk-free interest rat
Expected option life

2002 2001 2000
2.04% 1.7(% 1.7(%
32.0(% 27.2(% 27.5(%
3.88% 4.84% 6.05%

6 year: 6 year: 6 year:

The fair values of shares granted in 2002, 20012800 were $7.97, $9.12 and $9.49, respectivelgf gsant date.

Stock option activity for the years ended Octohen@s as follows (Shares in thousands):

2002

2001

2000

Weighted Average

Weighted Average

Weighted Average

Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price Shares Exercise Price
Beginning balanc 1,50¢€ $ 29.1: 1,152 % 28.4¢ 861 $ 28.2¢
Granted 464 $ 26.37 45E $ 30.7¢ 31€ $ 29.2:
Forfeited 14 $ 29.92 10C $ 28.5¢ 16 $ 29.7¢
Exercisec 66 $ 25.21 3 % 22.9¢ 7 % 27.12
Ending balanc: 1,89C $ 28.5¢ 1,50¢€ $ 29.1: 1,152  $ 28.4¢

As of October 31, 2002, the outstanding stock aystivad exercise prices ranging from $22.94 to $3&rkl a remaining weighted

average contractual life of eight years.

There are 995,000 options that were exercisabBxtiber 31, 2002 (789,000 options at October 3Q2120hd 628,000 options at

October 31, 2000).
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NOTE 10 — INCOME TAXES

The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg (Dollars in thousands):

For the years ended

October 31,
2002 2001 2000
Current:
Federal $(9,609)  $12,62¢  $21,42(
State and loce 104 55C 84¢
Foreign 10,91« 6,21: 2,211
1,41¢ 19,38" 24,47¢
Deferred 11,52( 29,12° 13,54¢

$12,93¢ $48,51«  $38,02%

Foreign income before income taxes amounted ta5®3@lion in 2002 ($13.6 million in 2001 and $5.8llion in 2000).

The following is a reconciliation of the provisifor income taxes based on the federal statutogyteathe Company’s effective income
tax rate:

For the years ended

October 31,
2002 2001 2000
U.S. federal tax rat 35.(% 35.(% 35.%
State and local taxes, net of federal tax
benefit 1.1% 1.6% 1.7%
Other non-deductible expenses and foreign tax
rates (0.2)% 1.3% 1.2%

36.(% 37.¢% 37.%
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Significant components of the Company’s deferredassets and liabilities at October 31 were ag¥ed| (Dollars in thousands):

Vacation accrue

Bad debt reserve
Restructuring reserve
Other

Current deferred tax ass

Foreign net operating loss carryforwa
Interest rate derivative

Minimum pension liability

Deferred compensatic

Environmental reserve

Other

Valuation allowance for long-term deferred tax
asset

Long-term deferred tax ass

Inventories
Other

Current deferred tax liabilit

Properties, plants and equipm:
Equity investment

Goodwill and other intangible assi
Timberland transactior

Pensior

Other

Long-term deferred tax liabilit

2002 2001
$ 2021  $ 1,3
2,66( 1,61(
182 5,43¢

— 1,32¢

$ 486: $ 9,69
$ 64,23t $ 34,01¢
8,77t 7,971
11,02 1,682
2,22¢ 1,84(
2,63¢ 2,55¢
— 87¢
88,89 48,95:
(42,079 (31,780
$ 46,81¢  $ 17,17:
$ 79 $ —
41€ —
$ 1211 $ @ —
$101,66° $ 77,93:
9,62¢ 8,84:
4,901 4,05:
39,809 35,53(
1,917 1,771
24,39; 13,38¢
$182,39!  $141,51¢

At October 31, 2002, the Company has foreign netatjng loss carryforwards of approximately $64liomil for foreign income tax
purposes expiring over various future periods. Atdber 31, 2002, valuation allowances of approxatyad42 million have been provided
against the foreign net operating loss carryforwa8lbstantially all of this valuation allowancersvided for foreign net operating loss
carryforwards acquired in the Van Leer Industriatkaging acquisition for which subsequently receggitax benefits will be allocated to

reduce goodwill.

At October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, the Companyhasded deferred income taxes on all of its umitiated foreign earnings.

During 2002, the Company paid $13.3 million in immtaxes ($20.2 million in 2001 and $28.9 millior2000).
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NOTE 11 — RETIREMENT PLANS

In 2001, the Company assumed certain non-contripwatefined benefit pension plans in the United &afustralia, Germany,
Netherlands, South Africa and United Kingdom assaiit of the Van Leer Industrial Packaging acqisi{see Note 2). In addition, tl
Company already had non-contributory defined bepefision plans in the United States. The salaui@as’ benefits are based primarily on
years of service and earnings. The hourly [ benefits are based primarily upon years of servibe. Company contributes an amount thi
not less than the minimum funding or more thanntizimum tax-deductible amount to these plans. Taespassets consist of large cap,
small cap and international equity securities,dikecome investments and the allowable number afeshof the Company’common stock &
follows:

2002 2001
Class A Common Stoc 123,75: 123,75
Class B Common Stoc 80,35¢ 80,35¢

The components of net periodic pension cost incthddollowing (Dollars in thousands):

For the years ended
October 31,

2002 2001 2000
Service cos $ 10,10¢ $ 7,432 $4,19¢
Interest cos 19,12¢ 13,98: 5,561
Expected return on plan ass (23,84) (17,88¢) (6,767)
Amortization of prior service co: 1,19¢ 1,00¢ 70C
Amortization of initial net asst (842) (842) (562)
Recognized net actuarial g¢ (1093 (270 (19¢)

$ 5,641 $ 3,42 $ 2,93¢

The weighted average assumptions used in the &dtuatluations are as follows:

2002 2001 2000
Discount rate 6.5(% 6.7% 7.5(%
Expected return on plan ass 8.0(% 8.0% 9.0(%
Rate of compensation incree 40% 4.25% 4.25%
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The following table sets forth the plans’ changbémefit obligation, change in plan assets and atsaecognized in the consolidated
financial statements (Dollars in thousands):

2002 2001
Change in benefit obligatiol

Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $289,37: $ 82,14(
Benefit obligation of acquired compani — 202,12:
Service cos 10,10¢ 7,432
Interest cos 19,12¢ 13,98:
Plan participant contributior 85¢ 62€
Amendment: (1,12¢) —
Actuarial loss (gain 10,82¢ (5,459
Foreign currency effec 14,08: (1,570
Benefits paic (18,199 (9,86))
Additions of plan 17,56¢ —
Plan curtailment gai — (45)
Benefit obligation at end of ye $342,61¢ $289,37.
Change in plan asse

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ $268,15° $ 84,80:
Fair value of plan assets of acquired compa — 204,04¢
Actual return on plan asse (20,197 (17,660
Plan participant contributior 85¢ 62€
Foreign currency effec 12,54: (2,169
Employer contribution: 12,00¢ 8,08
Additions of plan 14,74 —
Settlement: — (45)
Benefits paic (17,686 (9,529
Fair value of plan assets at end of y $270,43( $268,15°
Funded statu $(72,18¢)  $(21,21Y
Unrecognized net actuarial lo 83,80: 26,677
Unrecognized prior service cc 8,252 8,501
Unrecognized initial net ass (4,099 (4,935
Net amount recognize $ 15,77: $ 9,03
Amounts recognized in the Consolidated Balance tShamsist of

Prepaid benefit co: $ 27,90¢ $ 26,72:
Accrued benéefit liability (51,727 (30,605
Intangible asse 8,971 8,481
Accumulated other comprehensive | 30,61: 4,43
Net amount recognize $ 15,77: $ 9,03

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated bigoéligation and fair value of plan assets for pemsion plans with accumulated
benefit obligations in excess of plan assets w&Bd $ million, $174.1 million and $122.5 millioregpectively, as of October 31, 2002.

The projected benefit obligation, accumulated béwoéligation and fair value of plan assets for theeign pension plans were $179.2
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million, $164.1 million and $153.3 million, respaely, as of October 31, 2002.

The Company has several voluntary 401(k) savingsthat cover eligible employees. For certaingléme Company matches a
percentage of each employee’s contribution uprtmaimum percentage of base salary. Company cotigiimito the 401(k) plans were $1.1
million in 2002, $0.9 million in 2001 and $0.9 nidih in 2000.

NOTE 12 — POSTRETIREMENT HEALTH CARE AND LIFE INSUR ANCE BENEFITS

In 2001, the Company assumed certain postretireheaith and life insurance benefit plans in thetéthiStates and South Africa as a
result of the Van Leer Industrial Packaging acdioisi(see Note 2).

In conjunction with the acquisition of the induatrcontainers business from Sonoco Products Com{@&aynoco”) in 1998, the
Company assumed an obligation to reimburse Sorardtsfactual costs incurred in providing postestient health care benefits to certain
employees. Contributions by the Company are limitedn aggregate annual payment of $1.4 milliorefmible employees at the date of
purchase. Further, the Company is responsiblehicost of certain union hourly employees who werteeligible at the date of closing. The
Company intends to fund these benefits from itgatiens.

The components of net periodic cost for the pdsemaent benefits include the following (Dollarstiousands):

For the years ended
October 31,

2002 2001 2000
Service cos $ 202 $ 24 $ —
Interest cos 3,77(C 3,03¢ 1,45:
Amortization of prior service co: 75 — —
Recognized net actuarial lo 49 — —

$4,097 $3,27%  $1,45:
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The following table sets forth the plans’ changbémefit obligation, change in plan assets and atsaecognized in the consolidated
financial statements (Dollars in thousands):

2002 2001
Change in benefit obligatiol

Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $ 52,31¢ $19,57:
Benefit obligation of acquired compani — 31,64¢
Service cos 20z 24C
Interest cos 3,77(C 3,03¢
Plan participant contributior 73 40
Actuarial loss 2,937 754
Plan curtailment gai (2,462) —
Amendment: 997 —
Foreign currency effec (57€) (1,57¢
Benefits paic (4,209 (1,399
Benefit obligation at end of ye $ 53,04¢ $ 52,31¢
Change in plan asse

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ $ — $ —
Employer contribution 4,20¢ 1,39:
Benefits paic (4,20¢) (2,399
Fair value of plan assets at end of $ — $ —
Funded statu $(53,04¢9)  $(52,319
Unrecognized net actuarial lo 5,00( 2,291
Unrecognized prior service cc 917 —
Net amount recognize $(47,13)  $(50,02¢)

The accumulated postretirement health and liferarste benefit and fair value of plan assets forfdheign plans were $6.1 million and
zero, respectively, as of October 31, 2002.

The measurements assume a discount rate of 7.06é hnited States and 12.00% in South Africa. figaith care cost trend rates on
gross eligible charges are as follows:

Medical

Current trend rat 8.0(%
Ultimate trend rat 5.0%

A one-percentage point change in assumed heakhceat trend rates would have the following eff¢Bsllars in thousands):

1-Percentage- 1-Percentage-
Point Increase Point Decreas:
Effect on total of service and interest cost conguis $ 21z % (339
Effect on postretirement benefit obligati $ 3327 $ (2,84)

76



Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

NOTE 13 — CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

Various lawsuits, claims and proceedings have leemay be instituted or asserted against the Compaciuding those pertaining to
environmental, product liability, safety and heatthtters. While the amounts claimed may be suliatatite ultimate liability cannot now be
determined because of considerable uncertaintegsttist. Therefore, it is possible that resultspérations or liquidity in a particular period
could be materially affected by certain contingesci

At October 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had decbliabilities of $8.0 million and $7.1 milliorespectively, for estimated
environmental remediation costs based upon an a&tiatuof currently available facts with respeceth individual site, including the results
of environmental studies and testing, and considezkisting technology, presently enacted lawsragdlations, and prior experience in
remediation of contaminated sites. The recordddlii@s are included in other long-term liabilisieThe estimated liabilities are reduced to
reflect the anticipated participation of other puially responsible parties in those instances wlitds probable that such parties are legally
responsible and financially capable of paying thespective shares of relevant costs. The Compagogéntial future obligations for
environmental contingencies related to facilitieguared in the Van Leer Industrial Packaging adtjois may, under certain circumstances,
be reduced by insurance coverage and seller cashgtprovisions. The insurance policy, which hd®gear term, insures for environmer
contingencies unidentified at the acquisition datbject to a $50 million aggregate self-insuredmgbn. Unidentified environmental
contingencies at the acquisition date up to $50anibre shared 70% by the seller and 30% by theg2my if they are identified within 10
years following the acquisition date. Identified/eanmental contingencies at the acquisition dag¢efiast provided for by the Company up
an aggregate $10 million and shared on a 70/30% bggthe Company and seller, respectively, theeeaf

Actual costs to be incurred in future periods aniified sites may vary from the estimates, givenihherent uncertainties in evaluating
environmental exposures. Future information ancetigpments will require the Company to continuaéigssess the expected impact of these
environmental matters.

Based upon the facts currently available, managebwieves that the disposition of matters thatpameding or asserted will not have a
material adverse effect on the consolidated fir@mmsition of the Company.

NOTE 14 — BUSINESS SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Company operates in three business segmedtsstiial Packaging & Services (formerly Industfddipping Containers); Paper,
Packaging & Services (formerly Containerboard &1@gated Products); and Timber.
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Operations in the Industrial Packaging & Servigagnsent involve the production and sale of shipgioigtainers. These products are
manufactured and sold in over 40 countries througtite world.

Operations in the Paper, Packaging & Services sagimeolve the production and sale of containerdphpth virgin and recycled, and
related corrugated sheets, corrugated containérsnaitiwall bags. The products are manufacturedsad in North America.

Operations in the Timber segment involve the mamege and sale of timber on approximately 276,008sa0f timberland in the states
of Alabama, Arkansas, Florida, Louisiana and M&gigi, and approximately 40,000 acres of timberlanithe provinces of Ontario and
Quebec in Canada.

The Company’s reportable segments are strategindsssunits that offer different products. The Campevaluates performance and
allocates resources based on earnings beforeshtereome taxes, depreciation, depletion, amditimaminority interest in income of
consolidated subsidiaries, equity in earnings fifi@ks, debt extinguishment charge and foreigmency effects (‘EBITDA"). The
accounting policies of the reportable segmentsreasame as those described in the “Descriptiddusiness and Summary of Significant
Accounting Policies” note (see Note 1), except thatCompany accounts for inventory on a firstfinst-out basis at the segment level
compared to a last-in, first-out basis at the cbdated level for most locations in the United $tat

Corporate and other includes the costs associatbhdive Company’s corporate headquarters, the Cagipdongterm debt (see Note
and other non-segment items. Restructuring cos$ & million ($0.6 million relating to Industri®lackaging & Services and $2.2 million
relating to corporate and other) in 2002 and $idilBon relating to Industrial Packaging & Servid@s2001 include employee separation
costs and a loss on disposal of equipment andtfesi(see Note 5). The segment EBITDA amounts lean adjusted from the amounts
previously disclosed in the Company’s 2001 Annugp&t to reflect the allocation of corporate castssistent with a new allocation basis
adopted by the Company in 2002.

The following segment information is presentedtfar three years ended October 31, 2002, exceptasset information that is as of
October 31, 2002 and 2001 (Dollars in thousands):

2002 2001 2000

Net sales

Industrial Packaging & Servict $1,268,01:  $1,038,94i  $490,90¢

Paper, Packaging & Servic 324,00¢ 379,30: 428,36

Timber 40,74 37,75( 44,67¢
Total $1,632,76°  $1,456,000  $963,95¢
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EBITDA:

Industrial Packaging & Servict
Paper, Packaging & Servic
Timber

Total segmen
Restructuring charg
Corporate and othe

Total EBITDA
Depreciation, depletion and amortization expe
Debt extinguishment charg
Interest expense, n
Foreign currency effec

Income before income taxes, minority interest coime of consolidated subsidiaries and ec
in earnings of affiliate

Total assets

Industrial Packaging & Servict
Paper, Packaging & Servic
Timber

Total segmen
Corporate and othe

Total

Depreciation, depletion and amortization expe
Industrial Packaging & Servict

Paper, Packaging & Servic

Timber

Total segmen
Corporate and oth¢

Total

Additions to lon¢-lived assets
Industrial Packaging & Servict
Paper, Packaging & Servic
Timber

Total segmen
Corporate and oth¢

Total
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2002 2001 2000
$ 131,59¢ $ 87,90: $ 45,85
49,17¢ 82,37( 80,49¢
47,24 112,10¢ 47,11
228,01 282,37. 173,46«
(2,822) (11,539 —
(24,022 (15,949 (15,946
201,17( 254,89 157,51
(97,477 (81,507 (45,227
(10,300) — —
(55,96%) (45,149 (11,849
(1,499) (22¢) _
$ 3592¢ $ 128,000  $100,45¢
$1,088,81  $1,146,94
323,70 345,15
116,18: 104,10}
1,528,69 1,596,20;
229,50 174,98
$1,758,29'  $1,771,18
$ 64,015 $ 4884¢ $ 20,39
21,94: 21,76¢ 20,45’
3,32t 4,897 771
89,28( 75,51 41,62:
8,197 5,99t 3,60(
$ 97477 $ 81507 $ 45,22
$ 2808 $ 17,627 $ 21,44:
5,91z 14,15: 33,46¢
15,47¢ 91,22¢ 10,22:
49,46¢ 123,00: 65,12¢
7,99¢ 9,21¢ 13,70t
$ 57,46: $ 13221  $ 78,83
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The following table presents net sales to exteznatomers by geographic region (Dollars in thous@nd

For the years ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
North America $ 996,26( $1,009,78  $963,95¢
Europe 420,95( 289,52 —
Other 215,55 156,68 —

$1,632,76°  $1,456,000  $963,95¢

The following table presents total assets by gqugcaregion (Dollars in thousands):

As of October 31,

2002 2001
North America $1,260,04 $1,263,26I
Europe 338,09( 322,70:
Other 160,16: 185,22¢

$1,758,29!  $1,771,18
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NOTE 15 — QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (UNAUDITED)

The quarterly results of operations for 2002 an@12&re shown below (Dollars in thousands, excepspare amounts):

Quarter ended

Jan. 31, Apr. 30, July 31, Oct. 31,
2002 2002 2002 2002

Net sales $ 36519 $ 396,91 $ 43514¢ $ 435,51¢
Gross profit $ 6808 $ 81,31¢ $ 90,38 $ 96,02¢
Net income $ 3,806 $ 6,91¢ $ 7951 % 12,30¢
Earnings per sharn

Basic:

Class A Common Stoc $ 014 % 022 % 0268 % 0.44

Class B Common Stoc¢ $ 0.2C $ 037 % 04z $ 0.6t

Diluted:

Class A Common Stoc $ 014 $ 022 % 0.2¢8 % 0.44

Class B Common Stoc $ 0.2C % 037 % 04z % 0.6t
Earnings per share were calculated using the fatigwumber of share

Basic:

Class A Common Stoc 10,520,02 10,550,05 10,577,95 10,572,822

Class B Common Stoc 11,815,97. 11,795,83 11,778,14 11,763,71

Diluted:

Class A Common Stoc 10,564,05 10,683,66 10,642,23 10,577,91

Class B Common Stoc 11,815,97. 11,795,83 11,778,14 11,763,71
Market price (Class A Common Stoc

High $ 3581 $ 38.2( $ 37.4¢ $ 28.3¢

Low $ 2481 $ 29.7¢  $ 2406 % 23.0C

Close $ 33.08 % 355 % 25.0: $ 25.3¢
Market price (Class B Common Stoc

High $ 351C $ 355( $ 35.00 $ 27.0C

Low $ 2500 $ 3201 $ 24.1: % 23.5(

Close $ 3428 $ 3400 $ 25.0C $ 25.6¢
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Quarter ended

Jan. 31, Apr. 30, July 31, Oct. 31,
2001 2001 2001 2001

Net sales $ 218,850 $ 356,62¢ $ 43576 $ 444,75
Gross profit $ 5037 $ 6697 $ 91,247 $ 94,80(
Net income $ 3857 $ 2295¢ $ 12,91 $ 14,32¢
Earnings per sharn

Basic:

Class A Common Stoc $ 137 % 081 % 04 % 0.51

Class B Common Stoc $ 204 % 1.2z  $ 0.6 $ 0.7¢

Diluted:

Class A Common Stoc $ 1.3¢  $ 081 % 0.4¢ % 0.51

Class B Common Stoc $ 204 % 122  $ 06 % 0.7¢
Earnings per share were calculated using the fatigwumber of share

Basic:

Class A Common Stoc 10,523,19 10,523,19 10,523,78 10,523,72

Class B Common Stoc 11,846,77. 11,842,85 11,842,85 11,838,12

Diluted:

Class A Common Stoc 10,552,72 10,547,23 10,563,08 10,545,84

Class B Common Stoc 11,846,77. 11,842,85 11,842,85 11,838,122
Market price (Class A Common Stoc

High $ 3231 % 31.7F $ 34.4¢ $ 33.0(

Low $ 23.0C $ 255¢ $ 2738 % 21.8(

Close $ 256¢ $ 289: $ 325 $ 24.8(
Market price (Class B Common Stoc

High $ 30.0C $ 29.7F % 30.7¢  $ 32.01

Low $ 23.6: $ 2500 $ 26.5( % 24.0(

Close $ 255 $ 26.7¢ $ 30.7¢ $ 25.0(

The Companys Class A Common Stock and Class B Common Stockkaded on the New York Stock Exchange where thebsys are
GEF and GEF.B, respectively.

As of December 10, 2002, there were 538 sharetolfaecord of the Class A Common Stock and 145e$tdders of record of the
Class B Common Stock.

NOTE 16 — SUPPLEMENTAL CONDENSED CONSOLIDATING FINA NCIAL STATEMENTS

On July 31, 2002, the Company issued $250 millib8enior Subordinated Notes which mature in Au@@st? (see Note 6). The Ser
Subordinated Notes are unconditionally guarantgéatly and severally, by each of the Company’ssérg U.S. subsidiaries and future
restricted U.S. subsidiaries (“Guarantor Subsid&l)i The Company’s non-U.S. subsidiaries and atyré unrestricted U.S. subsidiaries do
not and will not guarantee the Senior Subordinatetés (“Non-Guarantor Subsidiaries”).

Presented below are summarized condensed consajjdimiancial statements of Greif Bros. Corporat{tifarent”),
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the Guarantor Subsidiaries and the Non-GuarantbsiSiaries as of October 31, 2002 and 2001, anddoh of the three years in the period
ended October 31, 2002.

These summarized condensed consolidating finastEgments are prepared on the equity method. &efdarancial statements for the
Guarantor Subsidiaries are not presented basecaoagement’s determination that they do not proadlt#itional information that is material
to investors. Therefore, the Guarantor Subsidiatescombined in the presentation below.

Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
October 31, 2002

N -
Guarantor Guaro;ntor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSET¢
Cash and cash equivalel $ 132 $ 221¢ $ 21,850 % — $ 25,39¢
Trade accounts receivak 87,65 47 ,50¢ 139,06t — 274,22:
Inventories 28,18¢ 27,16¢ 88,96¢ — 144,32(
Other current asse 28,80: 6,88: 30,19¢ — 65,88:
145,96: 83,77 280,08 — 509,82:
LONG-TERM ASSETS
Goodwill and other intangible ass: 113,11¢ 21,31¢ 127,14. — 261,57¢
Investment in affiliate: 851,81! 514,38t — (1,216,38) 149,82(
Other lon¢-term asset 42,92¢ — 2,131 — 45,06(
1,007,86. 535,70: 129,27: (1,216,38) 456,45¢
PROPERTIES, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT, NE 261,00¢ 271,10( 259,90¢ — 792,01¢

$1,414,83" $890,57¢ $669,26' $(1,216,38) $1,758,29!

LIABILITIES & SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES

Accounts payabl $ 27,868 $ 29,360 $ 77,96¢ % — $ 135,19:
Shor-term borrowings — — 20,00¢ — 20,00¢
Current portion of lon-term debt 3,00( — — — 3,00(
Other current liabilitie 5,24% 44,41¢ 73,71¢ — 123,37!
36,107 73,77¢ 171,68 — 281,57.

LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Long-term debt 629,26¢ — 71€ — 629,98:.
Other lon¢-term liabilities 180,33: 49,74¢ 46,18¢ — 276,26’
809,59¢ 49,74t 46,90: — 906,24
MINORITY INTEREST — — 1,34¢ — 1,34t
SHAREHOLDER¢ EQUITY 569,12¢ 767,05: 449,32t (1,216,38) 569,12¢

$1,414,83" $890,57¢ $669,26! $(1,216,38)  $1,758,29!
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)
Condensed Consolidating Balance Sheet
October 31, 2001
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
ASSETS
CURRENT ASSET¢
Cash and cash equivalel $ 1632 $ (6,51¢) $ 34,60 $ — $ 29,72
Trade accounts receivat 22,59: 119,66( 140,73: — 282,98
Inventories 21,01 20,23( 82,11¢ — 123,36:
Other current asse 26,40: 12,34% 29,38 — 68,13!
71,63¢ 145,72: 286,83t — 504,19¢
LONG-TERM ASSETS
Goodwill and other intangible ass: 116,99¢ 23,77¢ 129,02¢ — 269,80:
Investment in affiliate: 958,55: 511,89: 1,54t (1,327,919 144,07:
Other lon¢-term asset 41,69: — 20,48¢ (17,899 44,28:
1,117,24. 535,66¢ 151,06 (1,345,81) 458,15!
PROPERTIES, PLANTS AND EQUIPMENT, NE 270,75¢ 268,86! 269,21 — 808,83’
$1,459,64.  $950,25: $707,11( $(1,345,81) $1,771,18
LIABILITIES & SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY
CURRENT LIABILITIES
Accounts payabl $ 21,82« $ 23,66 $ 71,62¢ $ — $ 117,11
Shor-term borrowings — — 16,53: — 16,53
Current portion of lon-term debt 43,14( — — — 43,14(
Other current liabilitie 10,94: 34,15« 71,63 — 116,72¢
75,90° 57,82: 159,79: — 293,51¢
LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
Long-term debr 653,16¢ — 1,20¢ — 654,37
Other lon¢-term liabilities 144,22. 49,06: 61,00: (17,899 236,38¢
797,38t 49,06: 62,21: (17,899 890,76!
MINORITY INTEREST — — 56C — 56C
SHAREHOLDERY EQUITY 586,34t 843,37: 484,54¢ (1,327,91) 586,34t
$1,459,64. $950,25: $707,11( $(1,345,81) $1,771,18
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
For the year ended October 31, 2002

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Net sales $747,52! $333,41! $776,45! $(224,63) $1,632,76
Gain on sale of timberlar — 12,12 — — 12,12
Other income (expense), net (44,39) 51,97¢ 24¢ — 7,831
703,13t 397,51¢ 776,70: (224,63)) 1,652,72
Cost of products sol 619,94: 264,17 637,46 (224,63)) 1,296,95:
Selling, general and administrative exper 105,76. 48,81¢ 96,17¢ — 250,75¢
Restructuring charg 1,621 — 1,20 — 2,82¢
Debt extinguishment charg 10,30¢( — — — 10,30¢(
Interest expense, n 49,39; 2,86 3,71( — 55,96¢
787,01t 315,85! 738,55¢ (224,63)) 1,616,79
Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interesncome of
consolidated subsidiaries and equity in earningaffiifates (83,880) 81,66: 38,14¢ — 35,92¢
Income taxe: (30,19¢) 29,39¢ 13,73: — 12,93¢
Income (loss) before minority interest in incomecohsolidated
subsidiaries and equity in earnings of affilia (53,689 52,26¢ 24,414 — 22,99¢
Minority interest in income of consolidated subaiiks — — (840 — (840
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of t 84,66 — 3 (75,847 8,82¢
Net income (loss $ 30,97¢ $ 52,268 $ 23,57 $ (75,84 $ 30,97¢

(1) Parent column other expense amount and a relatedrdraf other income in the Guarantor Subsidiac@amn primarily relate to an
intercompany royalty arrangeme

85



Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)
Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations
For the year ended October 31, 2001
Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidated
Net sales $760,37¢ $285,22: $553,87( $(143,46°)  $1,456,00i
Gain on sale of timberlar — 79,01¢ 644 — 79,66
Other income (expense), net (44,739 52,26¢ (2,179 — 6,35¢
715,64. 416,50! 553,34: (143,46 1,542,02.
Cost of products sol 612,39! 221,92° 461,76: (143,46 1,152,611
Selling, general and administrative exper 106,48 37,31¢ 60,91¢ — 204,71¢
Restructuring charg 11,53¢ — — — 11,53¢
Interest expense (income), | 23,79: (280) 21,63¢ — 45,14¢
754,20« 258,96: 544,31! (143,46)) 1,414,01!

Income (loss) before income taxes, minority interesncome of
consolidated subsidiaries and equity in earningfifates (38,567) 157,54. 9,02¢ — 128,00¢
Income taxe: (14,61Y 59,70¢ 3,421 — 48,51

Income (loss) before minority interest in incomecohsolidated
subsidiaries and equity in earnings of affilia (23,94 97,83 5,60¢ — 79,49:
Minority interest in income of consolidated subaiiks — — (5949) — (5949)
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of t 112,72: — 131 (102,976 9,87¢
Net income (loss $ 88,77« $ 97,83¢ $ 514:  $(102,97¢ $ 88,77«

(1) Parent column other expense amount and a relatedrdrof other income in the Guarantor Subsidiac@amn primarily relate to an

intercompany royalty arrangeme
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Operations

For the year ended October 31, 2000

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec
Net sales $840,54¢ $160,43¢t $ 49,07: $ (86,099 $ 963,95t
Gain on sale of timberlar — 8,77: 482 — 9,25t
Other income (expense), net (48,549 53,46( (39 — 4,87
791,99 222,67 49,51« (86,099 978,08
Cost of products sol 669,14¢ 114,59. 39,84% (86,099 737,48¢
Selling, general and administrative exper 104,66 18,66" 4,974 — 128,30:
Interest expense (income), 1 (1,1679) 14,11°¢ (2,20€) — 11,84:
772,64 147,37 43,71t (86,099 877,62
Income before income taxes, minority interest toime of
consolidated subsidiaries and equity in earningffifates 19,35¢ 75,29¢ 5,79¢ — 100,45«
Income taxe: 7,331 28,50: 2,19¢ — 38,021
Income before minority interest in income of comdated subsidiarie
and equity in earnings of affiliats 12,02t 46,79¢ 3,60¢ — 62,42
Equity in earnings of affiliates, net of t 63,76¢ — 11¢ (50,527 13,36
Net income (loss $ 75,79« $ 46,79¢ $ 3,728 $ (50,52) $ 75,79«

(1) Parent column other expense amount and a relatedrarof other income in the Guarantor Subsidiac@amn primarily relate to an

intercompany royalty arrangeme
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

Condensed Consolidating Statements of Cash Flows
For the year ended October 31, 2002

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net cash provided by operating activit $ 99,26( $ 23,30¢ $ 24,45¢ $ — $ 147,02!

Cash flows from investing activitie
Purchases of properties, plants and equipt (12,649 (27,009 (17,819 — (57,469
Proceeds on disposals of properties, plants anipreguat 8,34( 12,43: 1,18i — 21,96(
Net cash used in investing activiti (4,302) (24,57 (16,627 — (35,509

Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of l--term debr 663,25( — — — 663,25(
Payments on lor-term debt (727,29() — (13,730 — (741,02()
Proceeds from sh«term borrowings — — 3,47: — 3,47
Debt issuance cos (14,747 — — — (14,747
Dividends paic (15,69 — — — (15,697
Other, ne (790) — — — (790
Net cash used in financing activiti (95,269) — (20,25¢) — (105,52
Effect of exchange rates on ce — — (20,329 — (20,329
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (30¢) 8,73¢ (12,757) — (4,329
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 1,63 (6,51€) 34,60: — 29,72(
Cash and cash equivalents at end of $ 1,32¢ $ 2,21¢ $ 2185 $ — $ 25,39¢
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended October 31, 2001

Non-
Guarantor Guarantor

Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net cash provided by (used in) operating activi $ 83,34! $ (581 $ 32,35% $ — $ 115,11¢

Cash flows from investing activitie
Acquisitions of companies, net of cash acqu (571,829 257,67¢ 1,25¢ — (312,89)
Purchases of properties, plants and equipi (15,899 (115,159 (1,165 — (132,21
Proceeds on disposals of properties, plants anipreguat 9,52¢ 82,87% — — 92,40:
Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi (578,19¢) 225,39¢ 94 — (352,706

Cash flows from financing activitie
Proceeds from issuance of l-term debi 760,00( — — — 760,00(
Payments on lor-term debt (234,209 (235,000 4,66z — (464,54
Payments on she«-term borrowings — — (7,062) — (7,062)
Debt issuance cos (16,259 — — — (16,259
Dividends paic (15,159 — — — (15,159
Other, ne (85%) — — — (85%)
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activi 493,52¢ (235,000 (2,400 — 256,12¢
Effect of exchange rates on ce — — (2,210 — (2,210
Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis (1,329 (20,185 27,84 — 16,33:
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of 2,95¢ 3,66¢ 6,76: — 13,38¢
Cash and cash equivalents at end of ' $ 1,632 $ (6,51€) $ 34,60 $ — $ 29,72(
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

Condensed Consolidating Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended October 31, 2000

Cash flows from operating activitie
Net cash provided by operating activit

Cash flows from investing activitie
Disposals of investments in government secur
Purchases of properties, plants and equipi
Proceeds on disposals of properties, plants anipreguat
Net cash used in investing activit|
Cash flows from financing activitie
Payments on lor-term debt
Dividends paic
Other, ne
Net cash used in financing activiti
Effect of exchange rates on c

Net increase in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

Non-

Guarantor Guarantor
Parent Subsidiaries Subsidiaries Eliminations Consolidatec
$ 38,46: $ 73,04: $ 5,72 $ — $ 117,22¢
— — 5,31¢ — 5,31¢
(22,539 (47,270 (9,025) - (78,839
4,63 35 5 — 4,672
(17,906 (47,239 (3,706 - (68,847
— (23,000 — — (23,000
(14,619 — — — (14,619
(4,779 — — — (4,779
(19,39)) (23,000 — — (42,39)
— — (1,537) — (1,537)
1,162 2,80¢ 48t — 4,457
1,79¢ 863 6,27¢ — 8,93t
$ 2,95¢ $ 3,66¢ $ 6,762 $ — $ 13,38¢
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

REPORT OF MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITIES

To the Shareholders of
Greif Bros. Corporation

The Company’s management is responsible for thanfiral and operating information included in thisrdual Report, including the
consolidated financial statements of Greif Brostgdoation and subsidiaries. These statements wepaped in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States as such, include certain estimates and judignneade by management. Future events
could affect these judgments and estimates.

The system of internal controls, which is desigteedrovide reasonable assurance as to the intemrdyreliability of financial reporting
is established and maintained by the Company’s gemant. To assure the continuing effectiveneskegystem of internal controls and to
maintain a climate in which such controls can eative, management selects, trains and developiifigd personnel; maintains an
organizational structure that provides defineddinéresponsibility, appropriate delegation of auity and segregation of duties; and
maintains a continuous program of internal audith appropriate management follow-up. In additittre Company’s code of conduct
requires employees to maintain a high level ofoathstandards in the conduct of the Company’s lessin

The Audit Committee of the Board of Directors ismqmosed of three independent directors who meetthé@hndependent auditors,
internal auditors and management to ensure thatisaneeting its responsibilities regarding theeabyity and integrity of the Company’s
financial statements. Both the independent audéondsthe internal auditors have full and free agteshe Audit Committee.

/sl Michael J. Gasser /s/ Donald S. Huml
Michael J. Gasse Donald S. Hum
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic Chief Financial Officel
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Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplementary Datécontinued)

REPORT OF INDEPENDENT ACCOUNTANTS

To the Shareholders and the
Board of Directors of
Greif Bros. Corporation

We have audited the consolidated balance she&seiff Bros. Corporation and subsidiaries as of ©et®1, 2002 and 2001, and the
related consolidated statements of income, shatetslequity, and cash flows for each of the thyrears in the period ended October 31,
2002. Our audits also included the financial staetnschedule listed in the Index at Item 15(a){Bese financial statements are the
responsibility of the Company’s management. Oupaesibility is to express an opinion on these foiahstatements and schedule based on
our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with audigtagdards generally accepted in the United Statesse standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonablerasse about whether the financial statementsraeedf material misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgdhe amounts and disclosures in the finarsteements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well asairgj the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesaonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements refer@alove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢onsolidated financial position of
Greif Bros. Corporation and subsidiaries at Octd@ier2002 and 2001, and the consolidated resuttsedf operations and their cash flows for
each of the three years in the period ended Oc®ihe2002 in conformity with accounting principlgsnerally accepted in the United States.
Also, in our opinion, the related financial statetngchedule, when considered in relation to thécfasancial statements taken as a whole,
presents fairly in all material respects the infation set forth therein.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Columbus, Ohio
December 10, 2002
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Iltem 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountantg Accounting and Financial Disclosure

There has not been a change in the Company’s pahicidependent accountants and there were nonmafteisagreement on
accounting and financial disclosure.

PART 1lI

Iltem 10. Directors and Executive Officers of the Regisant

Information with respect to Directors of the Compamd disclosures pursuant to Item 405 of Regulgfiel is incorporated by
reference to the RegistragtProxy Statement, which Proxy Statement will bedfivithin 120 days of October 31, 2002. Informatiegarding
the executive officers and certain significant eogplks of the Registrant may be found under thearaffExecutive Officers and Certain
Significant Employees of the Company” in Part Idasalso incorporated by reference into this Iin

Item 11. Executive Compensation

Information with respect to Executive Compensat®imcorporated herein by reference to the Regisgdroxy Statement, which
Proxy Statement will be filed within 120 days oftGlwer 31, 2002.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Ownes and Management

Information with respect to Security Ownership @rtain Beneficial Owners and Management is incateat herein by reference to the
Registrant’s Proxy Statement, which Proxy Stateméihbe filed within 120 days of October 31, 2002.

Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions

Information with respect to Certain Relationships &elated Transactions is incorporated hereirefsrence to the Registrant’s Proxy
Statement, which Proxy Statement will be filed with20 days of October 31, 2002.

Item 14. Controls and Procedures

Under the supervision of the Chief Executive Offiaad Chief Financial Officer, the Company’s mamagat conducted an evaluation
of the effectiveness of the design and operatiadh@Company’s disclosure controls and procedurdgn\90 days of the filing date of this
Annual Report on Form 10-K. Based on that evaluatibe Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financficer concluded that the design and
operation of its disclosure controls and procedtease been effective in timely alerting them to eniatl information relating to the Company
required to be included in the Company’s periodinds with the Securities and Exchange Commissidrere have been no significant
changes in internal controls or in other factoet ttould significantly affect internal controls selguent to the date of such evaluation.
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Rerts on Form 8K

(@) The following documents are filed as part of thepBrt:

Page
(1) Consolidated Financial Statements of Gred<$B Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Income for each oftiteetyears in the period ended October 31, : 46
Consolidated Balance Sheets at October 31, 2002@0it 47-48
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for eacheoftiree years in the period ended October 31, 49
Consolidated Statements of Changes in ShareholBgtsty for each of the three years in the periodesl
October 31, 200 50
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem 51-90
Report of Manageme’s Responsibilitie 91
Report of Independent Accountai 92

The individual financial statements of the Registi@ave been omitted since the Registrant is piiynan operating company and all
subsidiaries included in the consolidated finansiatements, in the aggregate, do not have minegityty interests and/or indebtedness to
person other than the Registrant or its consoliatdsidiaries in amounts which exceed 5% of tmakolidated assets at October 31, 2002.

Page

(2) Financial Statement Schedt

Consolidated Valuation and Qualifying Accounts &ebserves (Schedule 121

All other schedules are omitted because they arapmicable or the required information is showrhe financial statements or notes
thereto.
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If Incorporated by Reference,
Document with which Exhibit was

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1997, File No-566 (see Exhibit 3(a) thereir

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1997, File No-566 (see Exhibit 3(b) thereir

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1998, File No-566 (see Exhibit 3(c) thereir

Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 333121
(see Exhibit 4(a) therein).

Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 3331p1
(see Exhibit 4(b) therein

Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333776
(see Exhibit 4(b) therein

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1997, File No-566 (see Exhibit 10(b) thereil

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1998, File No-566 (see Exhibit 10(c) thereir

Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Rerts on Form 8K (continued)
(3) Exhibits:
Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibit Previously Filed with SEC
3(a) Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatio@reif Bros.
Corporation,
3(b) Amended and Restated By-Laws of Greif Bros. Corfimna
3(c) Amendment to Amended and Restated By-Laws of (@wis.
Corporation.
4(a) Indenture dated as of July 31, 2002, among Grei&Br
Corporation, as Issuer, the Subsidiary Guarantansea therein,
and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National AssociatsnTrustet
4(b) Form of Exchange Note.
10(a)* Greif Bros. Corporation 1996 Directors Stock Optitian.
10(b)* Greif Bros. Corporation Incentive Stock Option Rlas Amended
and Restatec
10(c)* Greif Bros. Corporation Directors Deferred CompéiosaPlan.
10(d)* Employment Agreement between Michael J. GasseGaail

Bros. Corporation
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Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1998, File No-566 (see Exhibit 10(d) thereil



If Incorporated by Reference,
Document with which Exhibit was
Previously Filed with SEC

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1998, File No. 1-566 (see Exhibit 10(e)
therein).

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1999, File No-566 (see Exhibit 10(i) thereil

Current report on Form 8-K dated March 15, 200l Fi
No. 1-566 (see Exhibit 2 therein).

Definitive Proxy Statement on Form 14A dated Jayn @&,
2002, File No. -566 (see Exhibit A therein

Definitive Proxy Statement on Form 14A dated Jayn @4y,
2002, File No. -566 (see Exhibit B therein

Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A dated
January 26, 2001, File No. 001-00566 (see Exhibit A
therein).

Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 33351
(see Exhibit 4(c) therein

Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Rerts on Form 8K (continued)
Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibit

10(e)* Employment Agreement between William B. Sparksadd
Greif Bros. Corporation.

10(f)* Supplemental Retirement Benefit Agreement.

10(g) Share Purchase Agreement, dated October 27, 28@dnended
on January 5, 2001 and February 28, 2001 betweéatahhaki
Van Leer Oyj, as the seller and Greif Bros. Corpioreas the
buyer.

10(h)* Greif Bros. Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan.

10(i)* Greif Bros. Corporation Performance-Based Incentive
Compensation Plai

10(j)* Greif Bros. Corporation 2001 Management Equity trice and
Compensation Plan.

10(k)* Greif Bros. Corporation 2000 Nonstatutory Stocki@ptPlan.

10(1) Audit Committee Charte
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Item 15.

Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Rerts on Form 8K (continued)

Exhibit
No.

Description of Exhibit

10(m)

21

23(a)
23(b)
24(a)

Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agrdedeted
as of August 23, 2002, among Greif Bros. Corporatas U.S.
Borrower, and Greif Spain Holdings, S.L., Greif Br&€anada
Inc., Van Leer (UK) Ltd., Koninklijke Emballage lodtrie Van
Leer B.V. (dba Royal Packaging Industries Van LBaf.), and
Van Leer Australia Pty. Limited, as non-U.S. boresg; a
syndicate of financial institutions, as lenderdp8en Smith
Barney Inc., as joint lead arranger and sole bawiqer, CitiCorf
North America, Inc., as administrative agent, Delu¢sBank
Trust Company Americas and KeyBank National Bank
Association, as co-syndication agents, Sun TruakBas
documentation agent, and Deutsche Bank Secuntesb joint
lead arrangel

Subsidiaries of the Registra
Consent of Ernst & Young LL-Columbus, Ohio
Consent of Ernst & Young LL-Akron, Ohio.

Powers of Attorney for Michael J. Gasser, Charle€Randler,
Michael H. Dempsey, Naomi C. Dempsey, Daniel J. $atin
Robert C. Macauley, David J. Olderman and WillianSparks,
Jr.
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If Incorporated by Reference,
Document with which Exhibit was
Previously Filed with SEC

Current report on Form 8-K dated August 28, 2002, F
No. 1-566 (see Exhibit 99.1 therein).

Contained hereir
Contained hereir
Contained hereir

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1997, File No. 1-566 (see Exhibit 24(a)
therein).



Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Rerts on Form 8K (continued)

If Incorporated by Reference,

Exhibit Document with which Exhibit was
No. Description of Exhibit Previously Filed with SEC
24(b) Power of Attorney for John C. Kane. Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1999, File No. 1-566 (see Exhibit 24(b)
therein).
99.1 Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant8 U.S.C. Contained herein.

Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 9@eof
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

99.2 Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursido 18 U.S.C.  Contained herein.
Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Section 9@eof
Sarbane-Oxley Act of 2002

* Executive compensation plans and arrangementsregbia be filed pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Ragan $-K.
(b) Reports on Form-K:

On August 28, 2002, the Company filed a Currentd®epn Form 8-K under Item 5 that described the Adeal and Restated Senior
Secured Credit Agreement.

On September 6, 2002, the Company filed a CurrepbR on Form 8-K under Items 7 and 9 that providiedlosure of each of the
Principal Executive Officer and Principal Finand@fficer of Greif Bros. Corporation sworn statengeptrsuant to Securities and
Exchange Commission Order No. 4-460.

On October 9, 2002, the Company filed a CurrentdRegn Form 8-K under Item 5 that described the gany’s change to the New
York Stock Exchange from the Nasdaq Stock Market.
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Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Rerts on Form 8K (continued)

(d) Financial Statements of Subsidiaries Not Consagidt

Report of Independent Auditors

Board of Directors
CorrChoice, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of CorrChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries @twber 31, 2002 and 2001, and the
related consolidated statements of income, shatetsllequity and cash flows for each of the threary in the period ended October 31,
2002. These financial statements are the respditsitfi the Company’s management. Our responsibiitto express an opinion on these
financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with audi&bagdards generally accepted in the United Statesse standards require that we plan
and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assarabout whether the financial statements are fregaterial misstatement. An audit
includes examining, on a test basis, evidence stipgdhe amounts and disclosures in the finarsteements. An audit also includes
assessing the accounting principles used and &ignifestimates made by management, as well agatirgg the overall financial statement
presentation. We believe that our audits providesgonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referedlbove present fairly, in all material respedts, ¢consolidated financial position of
CorrChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries at October 30224hd 2001 and the results of their operationstlagid cash flows for each of the three
years in the period ended October 31, 2002 in carifp with accounting principles generally acceptedhe United State!

/sl Ernst & Young LLP
Akron, Ohio
November 25, 200
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Item 15.  Exhibits, Financial Statement Schedules and Rerts on Form 8K (continued)

Assets
Current asset:

Cash and cash equivalel

Marketable securitie

Accounts receivable, less allowances of $557,0@0%£40,000 in 2002 and 2001, respectiy
Accounts and notes receiva-related part

Notes receivable, current porti

Inventories

Deferred income taxe

Prepaid expenses and other as

Total current asse

Property, plant and equipme
Land and improvemen
Buildings and improvemen
Machinery and equipme
Office fixtures and computer equipme
Construction in proces

Less accumulated depreciati

Other lon¢-term assets
Goodwill, net of accumulated amortization of $325Bnd $278,736 in 2002 and 2001, respecti
Prepaid pension expen
Notes receivable, lol-term portion
Property held for sal

Total asset

See accompanying notes.

CorrChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

100

As of October 31,

2002

2001

$ 50,519,70  $ 48,505,91
42,726,80 29,065,24
19,181,25 20,760,20

1,885,501 1,092,25.
343,59 316,35¢
24,950,66 29,375,18
429,10( 1,192,10!
87,84 117,91
140,124,47 130,425,18
8,255,33! 7,249,20!
56,653,95 49,851,12
105,439,59 107,955,62
2,861,43 3,043,92
1,271,55 629,77
174,481,87 168,729,65
71,237,30 65,092,93
103,244,56 103,636,71
1,043,69 1,138,15!
722,24 423,36«
276,22: 334,04!
1,820,62! 780,38t
3,862,79. 2,675,95:
$247,231,83  $236,737,84
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CorrChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Balance Sheets

Liabilities and shareholde’ equity
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl
Accounts payab-related part
Accrued compensatic
Accrued taxes, other than income ta
Income taxes payab
Other accrued expens
Current portion of notes payat

Total current liabilities
Deferred income taxe

Shareholder equity:
Common stock, no par value, 10,000 shares authibard issue:
Additional paic-in-capital
Accumulated other comprehensive I
Retained earning
Total shareholde’ equity

Total liabilities and sharehold¢ equity

See accompanying notes.
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As of October 31,

2002 2001
$ 226863 $ 3,076,52
2,334,241 2,002,56:
2,119,28, 2,907,74
827,29¢ 1,267,14
1,578,38! 953,96:
345,72! 434,20:
— 92,33
9,473,56 10,734,48
8,726,60! 8,961,90!
165,619,16 165,619,16
(174,949 (14,299
63,587,44 51,436,60
229,031,66 217,041,46
$247,231,83  $236,737,84
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Net sales
Cost of goods sol

Gross profit

Selling, general and administrative exper
Fixed asset impairment char

Operating incom:

Other income (expense
Investment and other incor
Other expense

Income before income tax

Income tax expens

Net income

See accompanying notes.

CorrChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Income

For the years ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000
$230,106,97  $284,534,22  $313,434,85
195,166,07 243,770,83 267,222,37
34,940,90 40,763,39 46,212,48
9,676,01: 14,083,68 13,962,20
1,621,331 1,006,501 _
23,643,55 25,673,20 32,250,27
2,375,14 3,988,73 4,385,31.
(188,06¢) (270,92 (237,75)
2,187,07 3,717,80: 4,147,561
25,830,62 29,391,01 36,397,83
10,047,50 11,229,60 13,708,00
$ 15,783,12  $ 18,161,41  $ 22,689,83
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Consolidated Statements of Shareholders’ Equity

Accumulated

Additional Other
Common Paid-In Comprehensive Retained
Total Stock Capital (Loss) Income Earnings
Balance at November 1, 19 $184,466,94 $ — $165,619,16 $ (56,377  $18,904,15
Net income 22,689,83 — — — 22,689,83
Unrealized gain on marketable securities, net x#gaf
$85,409 128,11 — — 128,11: —
Total comprehensive incon 22,817,95
Dividends (3,780,83) — — — (3,780,83)
Balance at October 31, 20 203,504,06 — 165,619,16 71,74( 37,813,16
Net income 18,161,41 — — 18,161,41
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, netxobanefit
of $57,35€ (86,037) — — (86,037) —
Total comprehensive incon 18,075,37
Dividends (4,537,961 — — — (4,537,96)
Balance at October 31, 20 217,041,46 — 165,619,16 (14,299 51,436,60
Net income 15,783,12 — — — 15,783,12
Unrealized loss on marketable securities, net>obenefit
of $116,63( (160,65, — — (160,65 —
Total comprehensive incon 15,622,47
Dividends (3,632,28) — — — (3,632,28)
Balance at October 31, 20 $229,031,66 $ — $165,619,16 $ (174,94) $63,587,44

See accompanying notes.
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Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities
Net income
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net caskigeal by operating activitie:
Depreciatior
Amortization
Bad debt expens
Fixed asset impairment char
Gain on sale of fixed asse
Deferred income taxe
Changes in operating assets and liabilit
Accounts receivabl
Accounts and notes receiva—related party
Notes receivable, ni
Inventories
Prepaid expenses and other as
Prepaid pension expen
Accounts payabl
Accounts payab—related part)
Accrued liabilities
Income taxes payab

Net cash provided by operating activit

Investing activities
Purchases of sh-term investments, n
Purchases of property, plant and equipn
Proceeds from sale of fixed ass

Net cash used in investing activiti

Financing activities
Dividends
Principal payments on notes paya

Net cash used in financing activiti

Net increase in cash and cash equival
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow informati
Cash paid during the period for income ta

See accompanying notes.
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Years ended October 31,

2002 2001 2000

$15,783,12  $18,161,41  $22,689,83
11,814,29 11,363,34 10,440,98
94,45¢ 93,60( 90,67
781,04 297,67. 517,67t

1,621,33 1,006,501 —
(234,709 (239,010 (494,89:)
634,80 259,70 651,00
797,91 3,515,35 605,28
(793,259 (309,04 1,091,98.

30,58: (650,40:) —
4,424 51 (720,629 1,069,61
30,07¢ (33,80 (35,11)
(298,88 (46,37) 36,79
(807,89) (45,699 (2,828,58)
331,68: (585,11() (423,88
(1,316,79) 611,76: 903,77:
624,42 292,60 (1,482,101
33,516,72 32,971,86 32,833,05
(13,929,31) (4,637,07) (2,262,70)
(15,656,87)  (23,214,40)  (19,292,08)
1,807,86! 5,900,99. 3,017,99;
(27,778,32)  (21,950,49)  (18,536,79)
(3,632,28) (4,537,96) (3,780,83)
(92,33) (131,42 (162,81}
(3,724,61) (4,669,38) (3,943,64)
2,013,78 6,351,98 10,352,61
48,505,91 42,153,92 31,801,31
$50,519,70  $4850591  $42,153,92
$ 8,831,390, $11,342,20  $14,574,11
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CorrChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

1. Description of Business and Basis of Presetitm

CorrChoice, Inc. and Subsidiaries (CorrChoice er@ompany) operate in one business segment whiobhfagures corrugated
cardboard sheets for sale to producers of corrddaiges.

CorrChoice was formed effective November 1, 1998nuthe signing of a joint venture agreement betw@egif Bros. Corporation
(Greif) and the former owners of Ohio Packagingpoation and subsidiaries. Under the agreementf Gretributed its stock holdings of
both Michigan Packaging Corporation and Ohio PaitigaGorporation in exchange for a 63.24% intenesEorrChoice, and the former
owners of Ohio Packaging Corporation and subsiegai©hio Packaging) received a 36.76% interesoim@hoice for their interest in Ohio
Packaging. The ownership percentages were detedrbynan appraisal performed by an independent garty. Based on the terms of the
shareholder voting agreement, Greif and the formmarers of Ohio Packaging are equally representeati@iCorrChoice Board of Directors.

2. Significant Accounting Policies
Principles of Consolidation

The accompanying consolidated financial statemientade the accounts of CorrChoice, Inc. and Suases. All significant
intercompany accounts and transactions have baaimated in consolidation.

Fiscal Year End

The Companys fiscal year ends on October 31. References indtes to the financial statements to the year2 28001 and 2000 refi
to the fiscal years ended October 31, 2002, 206d 2800, respectively.

Cash Equivalents
The Company considers all highly liquid investmensith maturities of three months or less when paséu to be cash equivalents.
Revenue Recognition

The Company recognizes revenue from product sgles shipment to customers and transfer of titlevelRae associated with shipping
and handling charges are included in net saleshantklated costs are included in cost of goods isathe consolidated statements of income.
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Marketable Securities and Investment Income

Marketable securities have been classified asahlailfor-sale in accordance with the provision§ioancial Accounting Standards
Board (FASB) Statement of Financial Accounting Semds No. 115Accounting for Certain Investments in Debt and Bg8ecuritieSFAS
No. 115). Availabl-for-sale securities are carried at fair valuehwite unrealized gains and losses, net of taxegpas accumulated other
comprehensive (loss) income in shareholders’ egAityDctober 31, 2002 and 2001, accumulated otbeprehensive (loss) income consists
entirely of unrealized gains or losses on availdbtesale securities.

The fair values of marketable equity securitieddichon a national securities exchange are valut dast reported sales price on the
last business day of the fiscal year. U.S. Treasacyrities are valued based on quoted marketspuisiag yields currently available on
comparable securities with similar credit ratiniggerest and dividends are included in investmeotine.

Concentrations of Credit Risk

Financial instruments which potentially subject @@mpany to concentrations of credit risk consisigypally of cash equivalents, trade
receivables and notes receivable. The Companyls@asivalents are held by major financial instdaos.

The Company’s customers are primarily located erttidwest and southeast regions of the United Statess Cimpany grants credit
customers based on an evaluation of their finardadition and collateral is generally not requiredsses from credit sales are provided for
in the financial statements and have historicadlgrbwithin management’s expectations.

Inventories

Inventories, which are principally composed of naaterials, are stated at the lower of cost or ntafkest is determined using the last-
in, first-out (LIFO) method. If inventories had Imeealued at current costs, inventories would haaent$4,976,000, $6,254,000 and
$13,045,000 higher at October 31, 2002, 2001 a0 2@spectively.

Change in Accounting

In 2000, the Company adopted the LIFO method dfimgpsnventory at its Heritage Packaging Corporasaobsidiary. Previously, the
first-in, first-out (FIFO) method of costing invemy was used. Management believes that the LIF®odethas the effect of minimizing the
impact of price level
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changes on inventory valuations and generally nestclurrent costs against current revenues in tieria statement. The effect of the cha
was to reduce 2000 net income by approximately #08Bfrom the amount which would otherwise haventegorted. There is no
cumulative effect on prior years since the endmgntory as previously reported (1999) is the beigigp inventory for LIFO purposes.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Property, plant and equipment is valued at costdesumulated depreciation. Expenditures for refid maintenance are charged to
operations as incurred, while expenditures for olth and improvements are capitalized. Deprecidaia@omputed principally by the
straight-line method over the estimated usefuldigéthe assets. The useful lives are approxim&@lyears for buildings, 3 to 7 years for
office furniture and computer equipment and 5 toy&8rs for operating machinery and equipment.

Goodwill and Long-Lived Assets

Goodwill represents costs in excess of net as$etsquired businesses which are amortized usingtth&ghtline method over 15 yea
The carrying value of goodwill is reviewed on aipdic basis for recoverability based on the undisited cash flows of the businesses
acquired over the remaining amortization periocbuth the review indicate that goodwill is not reecable, the Company’s carrying value of
the goodwill would be reduced by the estimated tfalbof the cash flows.

In addition, the Company assesses long-lived agseisipairment under FASB Statement of Financiatdunting Standards No. 121
(FAS 121),Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived AssetBe Disposed QfUnder those rules, the Company records impairment
charges on long-lived assets when events and céteunoes indicate that the assets may be impairbdnwe undiscounted net cash flows
related to those assets are less than their cgrmgilue, the assets are adjusted to their fairegalGoodwill associated with assets acquirec
purchase business combination is included in imnpamt evaluations when events or circumstances @ndsindicate the carrying amount of
those assets may not be recoverable. No redudtigoaalwill was necessary in 2002, 2001 or 2000.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in confeymiith accounting principles generally acceptethia United States requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfizitthe amounts reported in the financial stateisiand accompanying notes. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.
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Reclassifications
Certain amounts in the 2001 and 2000 financiaéstants were reclassified to conform to the curyeat presentation.
3. Recently Issued Accounting Pronouncements

In June 2001, the FASB issued Statements of FinbAcicounting Standards No. 1Ausiness CombinationgFAS 141) and No. 142,
Goodwill and Other Intangible AsseSAS 142). The adoption of FAS 141 as of July QPfad no effect on the Company’s financial
position, results of operations or cash flows. BAS eliminates the pooling-of-interests methodawfoainting for business combinations
except for qualifying business combinations thateninitiated prior to July 1, 2001. FAS 141 furtluarifies the criteria to recognize
intangible assets separately from goodwill. Theinesments of FAS 141 are effective for any busiresabination accounted for by the
purchase method that was completed after June08Q,. )nder FAS 142, goodwill and indefinite livedangible assets will no longer be
amortized but will be reviewed for impairment anihar if certain impairment indicators arise. Segdale intangible assets that are not
deemed to have an indefinite life will continueb®amortized over their useful lives (but with naximum life). The amortization provisions
of FAS 142 apply to goodwill and intangible assetquired after June 30, 2001. With respect to gdbdnd intangible assets acquired prior
to July 1, 2001, the Company was required to aB#&& 142 on November 1, 2002 and goodwill amortoratieased at that date. At October
31, 2002, the Company had approximately $1,044¢gd@mamortized goodwill which will be subject teettransition provisions of FAS 142.
Amortization expense related to goodwill existingtbe balance sheet for acquisitions occurringrgddune 30, 2001 amounted to
approximately $94,500, $93,600 and $90,700 foy#es ended October 31, 2002, 2001 and 2000, rigggcand will be zero in fiscal ye
2003.

The Company is currently finalizing the evaluatafrthe potential financial statement impact of faption of FAS 142 and does not
believe that it will have a material effect on thempany’s financial position, results of operationgash flows, including any transitional
impairment losses which would be required to begeized as the effect of a change in accountinucppie upon adoption of the new
standard.

In October 2001, the FASB issued Statement of Kiaaccounting Standards No. 144¢counting for the Impairment or Disposal of
Long-Lived Assets (FAS 144) which establishes a single accountingehto be used for disposal of long-lived assEt& new rules
supersede FAS 121. Although retaining many of tireldmental recognition and measurement provisibR#\8 121, the new rules
significantly change the criteria that would hawdée met to classify an asset as held for sales diktinction is important because assets to be
disposed of are stated at the lower of their falugs or carrying amounts and depreciation is ngdorecognized. The new rules also will
supersede the provisions of Accounting Principlearl Opinion No. 30Reporting Results of Operations—Reporting the EffetDisposal
of a Segment of Businggs”B
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30), with regard to reporting the effects of a disg of a segment of a business and will requieeettpected future operating losses from
discontinued operations to be displayed in disowmtil operations in the periods in which the lossesncurred rather than as of the
measurement date as presently required by APBh3ddition, more dispositions will qualify for dmatinued operations treatment in the
income statement. The new accounting standardastefe for the Company as of November 1, 2002 rmatiagement does not expect that
adoption of FAS 144 will have a significant impactthe Company’s financial position, results of @piens or cash flows.

4. Financing Arrangements

At October 31, 2002, the Company had $20,000,08@ahle under an unsecured line-of-credit from akbahich expires March 31,
2003. No amounts were outstanding under this lfrer@dit at October 31, 2002.

In connection with the 1998 acquisition of the &s®&é a corrugated sheet feeding facility in AtenBeorgia, the Company delayed
remittance of $500,000 of the purchase price irotd compel the selling company to comply with imiam purchase provisions included in
the purchase agreement. The Company signed aniBt&ést bearing promissory note for the remairginmgpunt due. The note was paid in
full as of October 31, 2002.

5. Financial Instruments

The carrying values of cash, cash equivalents,uatsaeceivable and accounts payable are a redsagstbnate of their fair value due
to the short-term nature of these instruments.folh@wing is a summary of the Company’s availabbe-$ale securities:

Available-for-Sale Securities

Unrealized
Fair Market Historical Gains
Value Cost (Losses)
October 31, 200z
U. S. Treasury securitie $32,865,43  $32,795,43 $ 69,99:
Greif Bros. Corporation common sto 1,606,80! 1,968,36! (361,56¢)
Other 8,254,57! 8,254,57! —
$42,726,80  $43,018,37  $(291,57)
October 31, 2001
U. S. Treasury securitie $24,919,44  $24,620,70  $ 298,74«
Greif Bros. Corporation common sto 1,645,80! 1,968,36! (322,56¢)
Other 2,500,001 2,500,001 —
$29,065,24  $29,089,06 $ (23,82
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The contractual maturities of the U. S. Treasupusgées are all less than one year.
6. Assets Held For Sale

The Company previously acquired land in North Gaeoht a cost of approximately $731,000 in contextiguh of the construction of a
new corrugated sheet manufacturing facility. Sigparation and certain start up expenses werergatiefore the decision was made by
management to terminate the facility constructiorjgrt on May 1, 1998. At October 31, 2002, thepgnty continues to be held for sale and
is recorded at its estimated fair value less ansetl of $298,000.

During 2001, several component parts of a corrangatiachine located at one of the Company’s sulbrgithaations were replaced.
Many of the replaced items were sold during the yieawever, certain items with a net book valuambroximately $1,500,000 remain held
for sale at October 31, 2002. The estimated fdireyanet of estimated brokerage commissions argbdigon costs, is approximately
$481,000. During 2001, the Company recorded aninmmeet charge of $1,006,506 to reduce the equiprieits estimated fair value.

During 2002, the Company made a decision to takehmary and equipment with a carrying value of agpnately $2,662,000 out of
service. The machinery and equipment has beerif@gsas held for sale at October 31, 2002. Thereged fair value, net of estimated
brokerage commissions and disposition costs, isoappately $1,382,000. During 2002, the Companyréed an impairment charge of
$1,621,330 to reduce the machinery and equipmeitd &stimated fair value.

7. Common Stock

Greif and the former owners of Ohio Packaging resvered into buy-sell agreements, whereby sal€ooifChoice common stock are
restricted to the shareholder group and are vatiedormula price specified in the agreement.

Dividends are computed in accordance with a formspkified in the joint-venture agreement. Divideade paid after completion of
the year-end audit and upon approval by the BoRirectors. The dividend expected to be paid iD208ased on the 2002 formula
calculation is approximately $6,313,252. The divide paid in 2002, 2001 and 2000 totaled $3,632 $8537,968, and $3,780,831,
respectively.
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8. Retirement Benefit Plan

The Company sponsors a defined benefit pensionvpiidch covers substantially all of its employeelBeTorrChoice plan is a
continuation of the former Ohio Packaging pensitam pAccordingly, the pension benefits for Ohio Raging employees are based upon 1
total years of service with Ohio Packaging. Thesp@mbenefits for Michigan Packaging employeesism€orrChoice plan commenced on
January 1, 1999, with vesting credit received airttotal years of service with Michigan PackagiRgor service for Michigan Packaging
employees will be paid upon retirement from a Gpéai.

The Company'’s policy is to at least fund amountaormactuarial basis to accumulate assets suffitdemieet the benefits to be paid in
accordance with the requirements of the Employa&dReent Income Security Act of 1974 (ERISA). Then@pany made contributions of
$360,655 and $52,248 in 2002 and 2001, respectigycontributions were made or required in 2000.

The following tables set forth the change in berailigation, change in plan assets, funded sttdsamounts recognized in the
consolidated balance sheets relating to the defieeefit pension plan:

111

October 31
2002 2001

Change in benefit obligatiol

Benefit obligation at beginning of ye $1,575,96! $1,308,34.

Service cos 166,40« 152,06(

Interest cos 126,07" 104,66’

Actuarial losse: 659,28: 26,92:

Benefits paic (112,69 (16,03)

Benefit obligation at end of ye $2,415,02! $1,575,96!
Change in plan assets(.

Fair value of plan assets at beginning of \ $2,284,91. $2,190,66!

Employer contribution 360,65! 52,24¢

Actual return on plan asse 24,42: 58,03:

Benefits paic (112,699 (16,03)

Fair value of plan assets at end of y $2,557,29 $2,284,91.
Funded status

Plan assets in excess of projected benefit obliga $ 142,26¢ $ 708,95

Unrecognized net actuarial lo 1,048,13. 230,58:

Unrecognized net transition as (468,155 (516,177

Prepaid pension expen $ 722,24 $ 423,36«
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(1) Plan assets are primarily invested in listed stobkads and cash equivalents listed on nationairgiess exchange:

The following table summarizes the assumptions bgeithe consulting actuary and the related bere#t information:

October 31
2002 2001 2000

Assumptions

Discount rate 6.5% 8.C% 8.C%

Expected lon-term return on plan asse 8.0% 8.C% 8.C%
Components of net periodic benefit cc

Service cos $ 166,40« $ 152,06( $ 157,88

Interest cos 126,17 104,66’ 88,46¢

Expected return on plan ass (182,79) (202,84() (161,54

Amortization of transition ass (48,01¢) (48,01¢) (48,016
Net periodic benefit expen: $ 61,77 $ 5,871 $ 36,791

In addition to the defined benefit pension plare, @ompany also sponsors a defined contributioritmiéring plan covering
substantially all employees with at least six menttedited service to the Company. The Companyigritmtions under the plan are at the
discretion of the Board of Directors. At October 3002 and 2001, the plan had net assets of appately $22,121,000 and $22,116,000,
respectively. Company contributions under the [itairthe 2002, 2001 and 2000 plan years, includignpents made directly to employees
and amounts credited to the individual participaimigestment accounts, were approximately $3,298,84,367,000, and $4,071,000,
respectively.
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9. Income Taxes

The provision for income taxes consists of theofwlhg:

2002 2001 2000
Current:
Federal $ 8,029,600 $ 9,502,601 $11,238,50
State and loce 1,383,10! 1,467,30! 1,818,50!
9,412,701 10,969,90 13,057,00
Deferred 634,80( 259,70( 651,00(
$10,047,50 $11,229,60 $13,708,00
The effective income tax rate differs from the Ur8deral statutory tax rate as follows:
2002 2001 2000
Statutory federal corporate tax ri 35.(% 35.(% 35.(%
State and local taxes, net of federal income tavefik 3.7 3.1 3.2
Non-deductible expense 0.1 0.1 0.2
NOL carryforward — — (0.7)
Effective tax rate 38.&% 38.2% 37.%
Significant components of the Company’s deferremine taxes are as follows:
October 31
2002 2001
Deferred tax asset
Trade accounts receivat 625,000 $ 369,20(
Franchise taxe 650,20( 692,90(
Impairment reserv 172,80( 575,20(
Net operating loss carryforwa 185,80( 215,20(
Other 501,20( 539,10(
2,135,001 2,391,601
Deferred tax liabilities
Property, plant and equipme 10,116,70 9,970,601
Other 315,80( 190,80(
10,432,50 10,161,40
Net deferred tax liabilit $ 8,297,500 $ 7,769,80
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At October 31, 2002, one of the Company’s subsisanad net operating loss carryforwards of appnaxely $530,900 available for
federal income tax reporting purposes which exipir2018. Due to prior changes in ownership, utilzza of these net operating losses is
limited to the taxable income of the subsidiary.

10. Related Party Transactions

At October 31, 2002 and 2001, the Company had adsaeceivable and notes receivable from Greiflg885,506 and $1,092,251,
respectively. At those dates, accounts payabler¢if ®taled $2,334,246 and $2,002,563, respectiveiese amounts have been identified as
related party accounts in the balance sheets. p@®2, 2001 and 2000, the Company sold $20,968%£5109,671 and $25,980,970,
respectively, of corrugated sheets and scrap maidad Greif. Also during 2002, 2001, and 2000, @wenpany purchased $59,816,355,
$71,692,131 and $81,398,300, respectively, of ratenal from Greif. These transactions are incluidedet sales and cost of goods sold in
the consolidated statements of income.

In October 2002, the Company entered into an ojpgrétase agreement with Greif whereby Greif hasedto rent a building and land
from one of the Company'’s subsidiaries. At Octder2002, the carrying amount of the land and Ingjdinder the lease was $7,500,000.
The lease agreement specifies a lease term oftns with a three year renewal at the option ofdhgsee. Monthly rental payments to be
received by the Company under the lease total $358r month through 2012. Future minimum leasengays to be received by the
Company over the next five years are as followd0$800 (2003); $910,500 (2004); $910,500 (2005),08800 (2006); $910,500 (2007); and
$4,552,500 thereafter.

11. Contingencies

Various legal proceedings arising from the nornmaiduct of business are pending but, in the opinfamanagement, the ultimate
disposition of these matters will not have a matexdverse effect on the financial condition, ofiers or cash flows of the Company.
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Chairman of the Board of Directors
and Chief Executive Officer
(principal executive officer

/s/ John K. Dieker

John K. Dieker

Vice President and
Corporate Controller
(principal accounting officet

Michael H. Dempsey *

Michael H. Dempsey
Member of the Board of Directo

Daniel J. Gunsett *

Daniel J. Gunsett
Member of the Board of Directo

Robert C. Macauley *

Robert C. Macauley
Member of the Board of Directo

/s/ Donald S. Huml

Donald S. Huml
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer)

William B. Sparks, Jr. *

William B. Sparks, Jr.
Member of the Board of Directors

Naomi C. Dempsey

Naomi C. Dempse
Member of the Board of Directo

John C. Kane *

John C. Kane
Member of the Board of Directo

David J. Olderman *

David J. Olderman
Member of the Board of Directo

[Signatures continued on the next page]

115



SIGNATURES (concluded)

*

The undersigned, Michael J. Gasser, by sighisgname hereto, does hereby execute this AnnefabiRon Form 10-K on behalf of each
of the above-named persons pursuant to powersashay duly executed by such persons and filechasxhibit to this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

By: /s/ Michael J. Gasser

Michael J. Gasse
Chairman of the Board of Directors
and Chief Executive Office

Each of the above signatures is affixed as of Jgrizi 2003.
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CERTIFICATIONS

I, Michael J. Gasser, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on ForrKldf Greif Bros. Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual repors ¢ contain any untrue statement of a materctldaomit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statésjemmd other financial information included insthinnual report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this an
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officersddnare responsible for establishing and maintgmiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-1#{He registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduressare that material information relating to tegistrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period inieh this annual report is being
prepared

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sloésire controls and procedures as of a date w@tidays prior to the filing date of this
annual report (th*Evaluation Dat”); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusionsiathe effectiveness of the disclosure controls @ededures based on our evaluation
as of the Evaluation Dat

5. The registrant’s other certifying officersddrhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@hydo the registrang’ auditors and tt
audit committee of registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or opiena of internal controls which could adverselyesff the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data and tantified for the registrant’s auditors any eratl weaknesses in internal control;
and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvemnagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant’s internal
controls; anc
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6.

CERTIFICATIONS (continued)

The registrant’s other certifying officersddrhave indicated in this annual report whetherghwere significant changes in internal

controls or in other factors that could signifidgreffect internal controls subsequent to the dditeur most recent evaluation, including any

corrective actions with regard to significant diefitcies and material weaknesses.

Date:

January 24, 2003
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By:

/sl Michael J. Gasser

Michael J. Gasse
Chairman and Chief Executive Offic
(principal executive officer



CERTIFICATIONS (continued)
[, Donald S. Huml, certify that:
1. | have reviewed this annual report on ForrKldf Greif Bros. Corporation;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual repors ¢ contain any untrue statement of a materctldaomit to state a material fact
necessary to make the statements made, in ligheafircumstances under which such statementsmwade, not misleading with respect to
the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statésjemmd other financial information included insthinnual report, fairly present in all
material respects the financial condition, resofteperations and cash flows of the registrantfaara for, the periods presented in this an
report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officersddnare responsible for establishing and maintgmiisclosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-14 and 15d-1#{He registrant and have:

a) designed such disclosure controls and proceduressare that material information relating to tegistrant, including its consolidated
subsidiaries, is made known to us by others with@se entities, particularly during the period inieh this annual report is being
prepared

b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’sloésire controls and procedures as of a date w@tidays prior to the filing date of this
annual report (th*Evaluation Dat”); and

c) presented in this annual report our conclusionsiathe effectiveness of the disclosure controls @ededures based on our evaluation
as of the Evaluation Dat

5. The registrant’s other certifying officersddrhave disclosed, based on our most recent el@hydo the registrang’ auditors and tt
audit committee of registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent functions):

a) all significant deficiencies in the design or opiena of internal controls which could adverselyesff the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial data and tantified for the registrant’s auditors any eratl weaknesses in internal control;
and

b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involvemnagement or other employees who have a significéain the registrant’s internal
controls; anc
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CERTIFICATIONS (concluded)

6. The registrant’s other certifying officersdarhave indicated in this annual report whetheré¢hwere significant changes in internal

controls or in other factors that could signifidgreffect internal controls subsequent to the dditeur most recent evaluation, including any
corrective actions with regard to significant diefitcies and material weaknesses.

Date: January 24, 2003 By: /s/ Donald S. Huml

Donald S. Huml
Chief Financial Officer
(principal financial officer’
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SCHEDULE II

GREIF BROS. CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARY COMPANIES
CONSOLIDATED VALUATION AND QUALIFYING ACCOUNTS AND RESERVES
(Dollars in millions)

Charged
to
Balance a Charged tc Other Balance a
Beginning Costs and Accounts- End of
Description of Period Expenses Describe Deductions Period
Year ended October 31, 20(
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 2t % 22 $ -0 $ 24 $ 23
Environmental reserve $ 15 % -0- $ -0 $ -0- $ 1t
Year ended October 31, 20(
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 23 $ 3E $ T7€A) $ 2¢& $ 10
Environmental reserve $ 15 % -0- $ 64A) $ o0& $ 7.1
Year ended October 31, 20(
Allowance for doubtful accoun $ 106 $ 1€ $ -0 $ 22 $ 9¢
Environmental reserve $ 71 $ 04 $ O0EA) 3 -0- $ 8¢

(A) Includes adjustments of $7.6 million for allowardoedoubtful accounts and $6.9 million for enviroemtal reserves related to the Van
Leer Industrial Packaging business acquired frorhtedinaki Van Leer Oyj on March 2, 20(
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EXHIBIT INDEX

Amended and Restated Certificate of Incorporatio@reif

Amended and Restated By-Laws of Greif Bros.

Amendment to Amended and Restated By-Laws of Greif

Indenture dated as of July 31, 2002, among Grei&Br

Corporation, as Issuer, the Subsidiary Guarantanseal
therein, and J.P. Morgan Trust Company, National

Greif Bros. Corporation 1996 Directors Stock Optitian.

Greif Bros. Corporation Incentive Stock Option Rlas

Greif Bros. Corporation Directors Deferred Comp¢iosa

Employment Agreement between Michael J. Gasser and

Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibit
3(a)
Bros. Corporation
3(b)
Corporation.
3(c)
Bros. Corporation
4(a)
Association, as Truste
4(b) Form of Exchange Note.
10(a)*
10(b)*
Amended and Restate
10(c)*
Plan.
10(d)*
Greif Bros. Corporatior
10(e)*

Employment Agreement between William B. Sparks
and Greif Bros. Corporatiol

, Jr.
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If Incorporated by Reference,
Document with which Exhibit was
Previously Filed with SEC

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1997, File No-566 (see Exhibit 3(a) thereir

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1997, File No-566 (see Exhibit 3(b) thereir

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1998 File No-566 (see Exhibit 3(c) thereir

Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 3331201 (see
Exhibit 4(a) therein).

Registration Statement on Form S-4, File No. 3331201 (see
Exhibit 4(b) therein)

Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333776(see
Exhibit 4(b) therein)

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1997, File No-566 (see Exhibit 10(b) thereir

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1998 File No-566 (see Exhibit 10(c) thereir

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1998, File No-566 (see Exhibit 10(d) thereir

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1998, File No-566 (see Exhibit 10(e) thereir



Exhibit Index (continued)

Supplemental Retirement Benefit Agreement.

Share Purchase Agreement, dated October 27, 2800, a
amended on January 5, 2001 and February 28, 2001
between Huhtamaki Van Leer Oyj, as the seller araifG

Greif Bros. Corporation Long-Term Incentive Plan.
Greif Bros. Corporation Performance-Based Incentive
Greif Bros. Corporation 2001 Management Equity frite

Greif Bros. Corporation 2000 Nonstatutory Stocki@pt

Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibit
10(f)*
10(9)
Bros. Corporation as the buy:
10(h)*
10(i)*
Compensation Plai
10(j)*
and Compensation Pla
10(k)*
Plan.
10(1) Audit Committee Charte
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If Incorporated by Reference,
Document with which Exhibit was
Previously Filed with SEC

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1999, File No-566 (see Exhibit 10(i) thereir

Current report on Form 8-K dated March 15, 200 No. 1-
566 (see Exhibit 2 therein).

Definitive Proxy Statement on Form 14A dated Jayn@4&r;, 2002
File No. 1-566 (see Exhibit A therein

Definitive Proxy Statement on Form 14A dated Jay@4&r;, 2002
File No. 1-566 (see Exhibit B therein

Definitive Proxy Statement on Form DEF 14A dateduday 26,
2001, File No. 00-00566 (see Exhibit A thereir

Registration Statement on Form S-8, File No. 333581(see
Exhibit 4(c) therein)

Contained hereir



Exhibit Index (continued)

Amended and Restated Senior Secured Credit Agrdemen

dated as of August 23, 2002, among Greif Bros.
Corporation, as U.S. Borrower, and Greif Spain liajd,
S.L., Greif Bros. Canada Inc., Van Leer (UK) Ltd.,
Koninklijke Emballage Industrie Van Leer B.V. (dBayal
Packaging Industries Van Leer B.V.), and Van Leer
Australia Pty. Limited, as non-U.S. borrowers,adigate
of financial institutions, as lenders, Salomon $n@arney
Inc., as joint lead arranger and sole book-run@aiCorp
North America, Inc., as administrative agent, Delo
Bank Trust Company Americas and KeyBank National
Bank Association, as co-syndication agents, SustTru
Bank, as documentation agent, and Deutsche Bank

Consent of Ernst & Young LL— Columbus, Ohio
Consent of Ernst & Young LL— Akron, Ohio.

Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibit
10(m)
Securities Inc, as joint lead arranc

21 Subsidiaries of the Registre
23(a)
23(b)
24(a)

Powers of Attorney for Michael J. Gasser, Charles R
Chandler, Michael H. Dempsey, Naomi C. Dempsey,
Daniel J. Gunsett, Robert C. Macauley, David Je@tfthn
and William B. Sparks, J
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If Incorporated by Reference,
Document with which Exhibit was
Previously Filed with SEC

Current report on Form 8-K dated August 28, 2002, [Ko. 1-
566 (see Exhibit 99.1 therein).

Contained hereir
Contained hereir
Contained hereir

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1997, File No. 1-566 (see Exhibit 24fa)yein).



Exhibit Index (concluded)

Power of Attorney for John C. Kane.

Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant18
U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Se8i6roi

Certification of the Chief Financial Officer Pursuido 18

Exhibit
No. Description of Exhibit
24(b)
99.1
the Sarban«Oxley Act of 2002
99.2

U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to Se8i6roi
the Sarban«Oxley Act of 2002

If Incorporated by Reference,
Document with which Exhibit was
Previously Filed with SEC

Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ethde
October 31, 1999, File No-566 (see Exhibit 24(b) thereir

Contained herein.

Contained herein.

* Executive compensation plans and arrangementsreghia be filed pursuant to Item 601(b)(10) of Ragan $-K.
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EXHIBIT 10(l)

GREIF BROS. CORPORATION
BOARD OF DIRECTORS
AUDIT COMMITTEE CHARTER

. MEMBERSHIP REQUIREMENTS

A. Number. The Audit Committee of the Board of Ri@s (the "Board") of Greif Bros. Corporation (tf@mpany") will be composed of
not less than three members of the Board and witidlected by the Board.

B. Independence. The members of the Audit Committast have no relationship with the Company that meerfere with the exercise of
their independence from management and the Compardependent"). In addition to the foregoing requient, the following restrictions

apply:
o A director who has been employed by the Corpomnadr its affiliates in the current or past threags cannot be Independent.

o A director who has a Business Relationship (asihefter defined) or is a partner, controlling réfeblder or executive officer of an
organization that has a business relationship thi#hCorporation may serve on the Audit Committely drthe Board determines that the
relationship does not interfere with that direc@xercise of independent judgment. As used helusiness Relationship” includes
commercial, industrial, banking, consulting, legalcounting or any other relationship.

o A director who is an immediate family member [inting any individual who shares a home) of anvidlial who is, or has been in the past
three years, employed by the Corporation or aritsdffiliates as an executive officer cannot baejpendent.

o A director who has been employed as an execaofie@other organization where any of the Compaexgutives serve on that entity's
compensation committee cannot be Independent.

C. Financial Expertise. All members of the Auditfraittee must be able to read and understand fundahfeancial statements, including
company's balance sheet, income statement andloasstatement, and have the ability to understesdbusiness and financial risks and
related controls and control processes. At leastdirector must have past employment experienfieamce or accounting, requisite
professional certification in accounting, or otkemparable experience or background, includingreeatior past position as a chief execu
or financial officer or other senior officer witn&ncial oversight responsibilities.



II. SCOPE OF RESPONSIBILITIES

A. Generally. The Audit Committee shall provideistnce to the Board in fulfilling its responsib#s to the shareholders, potential
shareholders and investment community relatingtparate accounting, reporting practices of the famy and the quality and integrity of
the financial reports of the Company. In so doihg the responsibility of the Audit Committeertmintain free and open means of
communication among the directors, the externaitarg] the internal auditors and the financial ngamaent of the Company. The Audit
Committee, through its Chairperson, shall reporiquécally to the Board, but at least semi-annuallje Audit Committee has the authority
to engage independent legal counsel and otherexgdwas it deems necessary to carry out its dutiéskall have access to such internal and
external resources as necessary to carry outsigonsibilities and functions. In addition to thettaes expressly described herein, the Audit
Committee will perform any other functions assighgdhe Board or required by applicable federal statle statutes, rules and regulations
and the rules of the securities exchange on whielfCompany's stock is listed (collectively, the I&&uand Regulations").

B. Specific Responsibilities. The Audit Committdel be responsible for the following:

1. Appointment (including the replacement) of indegent public accountants, approval of the comgimmsaf all independent public
accountants, and the oversight of all work by ireefent public accountants, whether for the purpbgeeparing or issuing an audit repori
for any type of non-audit work.

2. Review and approval of the scope of the annudit &y independent public accountants (the "auslijdor the Company and its
subsidiaries recommended jointly by the auditoxd the Chief Financial Officer.

3. Review and approval of the scope of the auditshfe Company's annual profit and pension trusts.
4. Review and approval of the audit plan as recontted by the Company's Director - Internal Audit.
5. Requesting the Director - Internal Audit to stadparticular area of interest or concern.

6. Discuss with the auditors their independencenfrmanagement and the Company and the matters ettindhe written disclosures
required by the Independence Standards Board.

7. Require the auditors to submit on a periodié¢sasvritten statement delineating all relationsHygtween the auditors and the Company,
and review any disclosed relationships or servicasmay impact objectivity.

8. Review and reassess on an annual basis theayegjiuthis charter, and conform this charter ®réquirements of applicable Rules and
Regulations.

9. Establish procedures for (a) the receipt, ratardand treatment of complaints received by the @amy regarding accounting, internal
accounting controls or auditing matters, and (B)dbnfidential, anonymous submission by employé#iseoCompany regarding questionable
accounting or auditing matters.



10. Review, assess and approve a code of ethinducbfor management of the Company (the "CodeaofdDct").

C. Recommendations to the Board. In addition, thdidCommittee will review the following matterscganrecommend action by the Board.
1. Review major accounting policy changes befonglé@mentation.

2. Review SEC registration statements before sigiadty other Board members.

3. Review with management and the independent@sdite financial statements to be included inGbenpany's Annual Report on Form 10-
K, including their judgment about the quality, st acceptability, of accounting principles, teasonableness of significant judgements,
the clarity of the disclosures in the financiakstaents.

4. Review annual audit reports, including auditopshions and management letter.

D. Summary Reports to the Board. The Audit Committéll review the following matters and provide smary reports to the Board when
appropriate.

1. Review trends in accounting policy changes psedor adopted by organizations such as the Fialafictounting Standards Board, the
Securities and Exchange Commission, and the Amelitstitute of Certified Public Accountants.

2. Interview independent auditors for review andlgsis of strengths and weaknesses of the Complingrgcial staff, systems, adequacy of
controls, and other factors which might be pertirterthe integrity of published financial reports.

3. Review the interim financial statements with mg@ment and the independent auditors prior toilihg bf the Company's Quarterly Rep

on Form 10-Q. The Audit Committee shall discussréseilts of the quarterly review and any other erattequired to be communicated to the
Audit Committee by the auditors under generallyepted auditing standards. The Chairperson of tr@itALommittee may represent the
entire Committee for the purposes of this review.

4. Review administration of and compliance with @@mpany's Code of Conduct.
5. Review schedule of insurance programs with tiedfor - Risk Management.

6. Review with management any significant findibgsught forward by the internal auditors or theitard, sensitive data or disclosure
requirements that are published.

7. Review compliance with legal and regulatory isems they apply to the Company by discussion wighDirector - Internal Audit, the
auditors and executive management.

Ill. MEETINGS

The Audit Committee shall meet at least quarteahd additional meetings may be scheduled as caomsidecessary by the Audit Committee
or its Chairperson. The Audit Committee may requesinbers of management, counsel, internal audittesauditors and other persons, as
applicable, to attend and participate in its megtimhe Audit Committee shall meet periodicallyiivate session with only its members, but
at least annually, and shall meet in executiveigess



separately with the Company's Director - InternatlA and the auditors at least once annually. Thdit®Committee should serve as a
communication vehicle for the Director - Internaldit and the auditors to the Board. The Audit Cotteeiwill discuss with the Director -
Internal Audit the results of the annual internlainp The Director - Internal Audit should repontetitly to the Chairperson of the Audit
Committee with the Chief Financial Officer of thei@pany having the day-to-day supervisory functionsr the Director - Internal Audit.



EXHIBIT 21

SUBSIDIARIES OF REGISTRANT

Name of Subsidiary I ncorporated or Organi zed Under Laws of
Anmerican Fl ange & Manufacturing Co., |nc. Illinois
Bar zon Cor poration Del awar e
Great Lakes Corrugated Corp. Ghi o
Geif Bros. Corp. of Chio, Inc. Del awar e
Geif Bros. Service Corp. Del awar e
Geif Containers, Inc. Del awar e
Geif Nevada Hol di ngs, Inc. Nevada
Geif US Hol dings, Inc. Nevada
Sirco Systens, LLC Del awar e
Soterra LLC Del awar e
Tai ner Transportation, Inc. Del awar e
Trend Pak, Inc. Ghi o
Lanmetal del Norte S. A Argentina
Van Leer Argentina S. A Argentina
Van Leer Administration Pty Ltd. Australia
Van Leer Australia Pty Limted Australia
Van Leer Sout heast Asia Partnership Ltd. Australia
Van Leer (SEA) Services Pty Ltd. Australia
Austro Fass Vertriebs GrbH (51% Austria
Van Leer Belize, Ltd. Bel i ze
Van Leer Coordination Center BVBA Bel gi um
Van Leer Muno BVBA Bel gi um
Geif Insurance Conpany Linmted Ber muda
Van Leer Amazonas Ltda. Brazi |
Van Leer Enbal agens Industriais do Brasil Ltda Brazil
Van Leer Hol ding Ltda Brazil
Geif Canada, Inc. Canada
Van Leer Chile SA Chile
Van Leer-Cogas SA (51% Chile
Van Leer Ni ngbo Packaging Ltd. Chi na
Van Leer Taicang Co. Ltd. Chi na
Van Leer Envases de Col ombia SA Col unbi a
Van Leer Envases de Costa Rica SA Costa Rica
Van Leer Obaly A'S. (97.1% Czech Republic
Van Leer Danmark A/ S Denmar k
Van Leer Egypt LLC (75% Egypt
Geif France Hol di ngs SAS France
Van Leer Fibre et Plastique France SNC France
Van Leer France Hol di ngs SAS France
Van Leer France SNC France
Van Leer G undstucksverwal tungs GrbH CGer many
Van Leer Verpackungen Beteil gungs GrbH CGer many
Van Leer Verpackungen GrbH & Co. KG Ger many

Van Leer El pack AEBE Greece



Narme

Van Leer
Van Leer
Bal ner L
Van Leer
Van Leer
Van Leer
Chuo- San

Ni ppon Van Leer

Tri-Sure
Van Leer
Van Leer
Van Leer
Van Leer
Conpani a
Consorci
Fibro Ta
Servicio
Van Leer
Van Leer
Van Leer

EXHIBIT 21
(continued)

of Subsidiary

Envases de CGuatemala S. A
Dunadob Kft.
awie - Van Leer
Ireland Ltd.
Italia SpA
Janai ca Ltd.
gyo Ltd.

Ltd. (40.06%

Limted

Japan, Ltd.

East Africa Ltd.

Cylinders Sdn. Bhd.

Mal aysi a Sdn. Bhd

Packagi ng Sdn Bhd

Mexi cana Tri-Sure, S.A de C V.

o Van Leer Mexicana, S.A de C V.

nmbor, S. A de C V.

s Corporativos Van Leer,
Mexi cana S. A. de C. V.
Mocanbi que Lda. (80%
Orafu S. A (60%

S.A de C V.

Docl og B. V.

Enbal | age Fabri eken Verma BV
G onystaal B.V.

Royal Packagi ng I ndustries Van Leer
Paauw Hol di ngs BV

Tri-Sure Closure Systens B. V.
Van Leer Beheer | BV

Van Leer Beheer || BV

Van Leer Beheer VI BV

Van Leer Beheer VII BV

Van Leer Beheer VIII BV

Van Leer Eurobottle B.V.

Van Leer Nederland B. V.

Van Leer Nederl and Verpakki gen BV
Van Leer Services B.V.

Van Leer Vastgoed B. V.

Van Leer New Zeal and Limted
Van Leer Containers PLC (51%
Van Leer Philippines Inc

Van Leer Silesia Sp. Z. o.o.
Van Leer AquaPack Sp. Z.o.o.
Enbal agens de Portugal Van Leer,
Socer - Enbal agens, Ltda. (25%
Van Leer Romania Ltd.

LLC Van Leer Perm

LLC Van Leer Vol ga-Don

LLC Van Leer Vol ogda

ZAO Van Leer Upakovka

ZAO Van Leer Ura

Van Leer Singapore Pte Ltd
Geif Spain Holdings, SL

Lda.

B. V.

I ncorporated or Organi zed Under Laws of

CGuat enal a
Hungary

I ndi a

Irel and
Italy

Janai ca
Japan

Japan

Japan

Kenya

Mal aysi a
Mal aysi a
Mal aysi a
Mexi co

Mexi co

Mexi co

Mexi co

Mexi co
Mozanbi que
Mor occo

Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
Net her | ands
New Zeal and
Ni geri a

Phi | i ppi nes
Pol and

Pol and
Por t ugal
Por t ugal
Romani a
Russi a
Russi a
Russi a
Russi a
Russi a

Si ngapor e
Spai n



EXHIBIT 21
(concluded)

Name of Subsidiary I ncorporated or Organi zed Under Laws of
Van Leer Espana S. A Spai n
Van Leer lberica S A Spai n
Neptune Plastics (Pty) Ltd South Africa
Van Leer AP Plastics (Pty) Ltd. South Africa
Van Leer Metal Containers South Africa (Pty) Ltd. South Africa
Van Leer South Africa (Pty) Ltd. South Africa
Van Leer Svenska AB Sweden
Van Leer Sweden Packagi ng AB Sweden
Van Leer Thailand Co., Ltd. Thai | and
Van Leer Containers Ltd Trini dad
Van Leer M maysan Anbal aj Sanayi AS (75% Tur key
Van Leer Supak Anbal aj Sanayi Ticaret Ltd. Tur key
Van Leer Ukraine LLC Ukr ai ne
Ecocont ai ner (UK) Ltd. Uni ted Ki ngdom
Met al Containers Ltd. United Ki ngdom
Van Leer (UK) Ltd. United Ki ngdom
Van Leer Uruguay S. A Ur uguay
I ndustrias Venezol ana Van Leer C. A Venezuel a
Van Leer Envases de Valencia C A Venezuel a
Van Leer Venezuela, C A Venezuel a

Van Leer Zi nbabwe Private Ltd. Zi nbabwe



EXHIBIT 23(a)
Consent of Independent Auditors

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 No. 333-2676Rpming to the Greif Bros.
Corporation 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan, (F&+8 No. 333-26977) pertaining to the Greif Brosrfibration Incentive Stock Option
Plan, (Form S-8 No. 333-35048) pertaining to theifBros. 401(k) Retirement Plan and Trust, (For® ISo. 333-46134) pertaining to the
Greif Bros. Corporation Production Associates

401(k) Retirement Plan and Trust, (Form S-8 No.-88836) pertaining to the Greif Bros. RivervilleIMEmployee Retirement Savings Plan
and Trust, (Form S-8 No. 333-61058) pertainindh® Greif Bros. Corporation 2000 Nonstatutory St@gkion Plan,(Form S-8 No. 333-
61068) pertaining to the Greif Bros. Corporatio®@2Management Equity Incentive and Compensation,Rlad (Form S-4 No. 333-100121)
pertaining to the 8 7/8% Senior Subordinated Ndtes2012, of our report dated December 10, 2002 wipect to the consolidated finan:
statements and the financial statement schedulreaf Bros. Corporation included in this Annual Rep(Form 10-K) of Greif Bros.
Corporation for the year ended October 31, 2002.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Col umbus, Ohio
January 24, 2003



EXHIBIT 23(b)
Consent of Independent Auditors

We consent to the incorporation by reference inRbgistration Statements (Form S-8 No. 333-2676Rpming to the Greif Bros.
Corporation 1996 Directors Stock Option Plan, (F&+8 No. 333-26977) pertaining to the Greif Brosrfibration Incentive Stock Option
Plan, (Form S-8 No. 333-35048) pertaining to theif®Bros. 401(k) Retirement Plan and Trust, (For® ISo. 333-46134) pertaining to the
Greif Bros. Corporation Production Associates

401(k) Retirement Plan and Trust, (Form S-8 No.-88836) pertaining to the Greif Bros. RivervilleIMEmployee Retirement Savings Plan
and Trust, (Form S-8 No. 333-61058) pertainindh® &reif Bros. Corporation 2000 Nonstatutory St@gkion Plan,(Form S-8 No. 333-
61068) pertaining to the Greif Bros. Corporatio®@2Management Equity Incentive and Compensation,Rlad (Form S-4 No. 333-100121)
pertaining to the 8 7/8% Senior Subordinated Ndtes2012, of our report dated November 25, 2008 reispect to the consolidated finan
statements of CorrChoice, Inc. and Subsidiarielsidea in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) of Greifd3r Corporation for the year ended
October 31, 2002.

/sl Ernst & Young LLP

Akron, Chio
January 24, 2003



EXHIBIT 99.1
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbamésy@.ct of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Greif Br@orporation (the "Company") on Form 10-K for thmaal period ended October 31,
2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange @@sion on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Mighh Gasser, the chief executive officer

of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Beact350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 obrbane®xley Act of 2002, that to i
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgwAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: January 24, 2003 /sl Mchael J. Gasser

M chael J. Gasser
Chai rman and Chi ef Executive
O ficer



EXHIBIT 99.2
Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350Adopted Pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbamésy@.ct of 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Greif Br@orporation (the "Company") on Form 10-K for thmaal period ended October 31,
2002, as filed with the Securities and Exchange @@sion on the date hereof (the "Report"), I, Ddral Huml, the chief financial officer of
the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Secti®b0, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of tHeaBas-Oxley Act of 2002, that to my
knowledge:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requiremeatsection 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities ExgwAct of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report faplgsents, in all material respects, the finana@aldition and results of operations of the
Company.

Date: January 24, 2003 /'s/ Donald S. Hum

Donald S. Hum
Chi ef Financial Oficer



